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Section name

To the Hon John Kobelke MLA

Minister for Consumer and Employment Protection

In accordance with Section 62 of the Financial Administration and Audit Act
1985, I hereby submit for you information and presentation to Parliament the
Annual Report of the Department of Consumer and Employment Protection for
the year ended 30 June 2004.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the
Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985.

This report also fulfils my obligations pursuant to Section 25 of the Consumer
Affairs Act 1971, Section 60 of the Credit (Administration) Act 1984, Section
10A of the Employment Agents Act 1976, Section 7(5) of the Petroleum
Products Pricing Act 1983, Section 175ZE(1) of the Electoral Act 1907 and
Section 12(1) of the Retirement Villages Act 1992.

Brian Bradley
Director General
Department of Consumer and Employment Protection

31 August 2004 

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
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From the Director General

The third year of operation of the Department of Consumer and
Employment Protection (DOCEP) has marked significant
improvement in the delivery of services to Western Australians. I
am pleased to present an annual report which shows the operations
of the department as a whole rather than by division. This ensures
we effectively respond to the Government’s Better Planning Better
Services framework, and will also go a long way towards presenting
our stakeholders with a view of DOCEP as an organisation, instead
of several divisions.

The key to this improvement has been the excellent progress made on the
development of the whole DOCEP team. We’ve established a Leadership Team
that aims to unite all staff under the DOCEP banner. Working together as a
team is essential to further effective service delivery through improved decision
making processes and information sharing. 

I am pleased to announce the appointment of the following executive directors
this year: Patrick Walker (Consumer Protection), Nina Lyhne (WorkSafe), Albert
Koenig (Energy Safety), Jeff Radisich (Labour Relations) and Brian Roche
(Corporate Services). These appointments are timely as strategic planning will
be a key focus for the coming year with our strategic plan scheduled for review.
We will focus on what our key goals will be to deliver better services in
accordance with the State Government’s high level strategic goals. 

The DOCEP compliance strategy released this year outlines our approach to
enforcing the law and will help our stakeholders understand how we encourage
compliance with consumer and employment law.

This was complemented by the introduction of a performance development
system and further development of our customer service strategy. The strategy
caters for our wide range of customers and will enhance customer focus,
develop a corporate culture committed to serving customers, and present a
single corporate identity for DOCEP in the community.

It has been a busy year as we have taken the department’s messages to our
stakeholders around the State through a variety of forums and events. This has
enhanced communication with our stakeholders through improved education
and accessibility to information. We have done this effectively, targeting a range
of groups including, employers, workers, aged, youth, disabled, and consumers
generally.

Aiding this was the appointment of two Indigenous Community Education
Officers to develop our Australian Consumers Education initiative. These
officers, with support from DOCEP staff, have commenced visits to the
regions, consultation with Indigenous stakeholders, research and
recommendations for further development of the initiative.

The most significant contribution to occupational safety and health reform this
year was the proposed changes to occupational safety and health legislation
following Mr Robert Laing’s report.  Increased penalties, provision for
enforceable undertakings including enabling prosecution to be taken when
offences relate to Government agencies and providing qualified safety and
health representatives with greater powers in their workplaces are important
improvements to the State’s occupational safety and health framework. 

Proposed amendments to gas and electricity safety legislation which were
introduced into Parliament in October 2003 will increase order-making powers
for inspectors in relation to dealing with electricity and gas network deficiencies
and increase maximum penalties under the legislation.

FROM THE DIRECTOR GENERAL
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From the Director General

As the largest employer in Western Australia, the Government plays a
significant role in maintaining sustainable wages growth and establishing
standards for best practice in employment conditions.  During the past 12
months Labour Relations has negotiated with unions for wage increases and
improvements in terms and conditions of employment across the public sector.
Western Australia also participated in collaborative Labour States submissions
on a number of issues, an example being the Australian Council Trade Unions
(ACTU) Work and Family Test Case.  

Finally, I want to thank DOCEP staff.  They have excelled in their commitment
this year, not only in their work areas, but by contributing ideas through their
directors and managers on how to enhance customer service. Without this we
cannot perform to the standards required to achieve our corporate targets, and
consequently provide a high standard of customer service. I am grateful to all
staff for this loyalty and dedication.

Brian Bradley
Director General
Department of Consumer and Employment Protection

31 August 2004 
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PROFILE OF THE DEPARTMENT     OF CONSUMER AND EMPLOYMENT PROTECTION

WHAT ARE OUR SERVICES?

Creating a trading and employment environment that protects consumers and
workers is the key objective of DOCEP.  

DOCEP operates within a challenging environment. Changes to trading and
work environments place greater demands than ever before on consumers and
workers through a range of impacting issues.

The services provided by the department cover the following areas: consumer
protection and business regulation, energy safety and supply quality, labour
relations, and occupational safety and health.

We deliver these services by:

• taking an approach which appropriately balances the interests of consumers
and traders, and employees and employers;

• developing, implementing and administering legislation and regulations
related to consumer protection, labour relations, occupational safety and
health and energy safety;

• monitoring compliance with legislation and taking appropriate action when
there is non-compliance;

• providing policy and legislative advice to the Minister and other key stakeholders;
• providing information and community education services;
• licensing and registration of entities and individuals to ensure appropriate

standards are met;
• ensuring appropriate dispute resolution procedures are in place where relevant;
• managing fidelity funds to provide compensation for people who have

suffered losses in specific areas of consumer protection; and
• participating in the State’s emergency management framework. 

DOCEP delivers these services through divisions that focus on particular areas
of the department’s responsibilities.  These divisions are:

1) Consumer Protection Division, which:
• provides information and advice to consumers and traders about their

rights and responsibilities; 
• helps consumers resolve disputes with traders; 
• investigates complaints about unfair trading practices; 
• prosecutes unscrupulous traders; 
• regulates and licenses some business activities; and 
• develops, reviews and amends legislation that protects consumers. 

2) Energy Safety Division, which:
• administers electricity and gas technical and safety legislation and

provides policy and legislative advice to Government;
• sets and enforces safety standards for electricity and gas networks;
• monitors reliability and quality of energy supplies, investigates

consumers’ related complaints;
• sets and enforces safety standards for consumers’ electrical and gas

installations;
• sets and enforces safety and energy efficiency standards for consumers’

electrical and gas appliances;

PROFILE OF THE DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AND EMPLOYMENT PROTECTION
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PROFILE OF THE DEPARTMENT     OF CONSUMER AND EMPLOYMENT PROTECTION

• licences electrical contractors, workers and gas fitters and carries out
accident investigations; and

• manages liquid fuel and gas supply emergencies, and promotes energy
infrastructure security and resilience.

3) Labour Relations Division, which:
• provides policy and legislative advice to Government;
• provides information and education services to employees and employers

on their employment  rights and obligations;
• investigates complaints from employees  about breaches of awards,

agreements and industrial laws;
• provides labour relations services to and on behalf of Government; and
• coordinates public sector labour relations. 

4) WorkSafe Division, which:
• administers occupational safety and health legislation and provides policy

and legislative advice to Government;
• provides education and information to employees and employers to assist

in preventing work-related injury and disease and improving work safety
and health performance; and

• enforces occupational safety and health law and assists with the
resolution of issues in workplaces.

5) Office of the Director General, which is responsible for:
• strategic policy development and coordination;
• corporate development;
• the delivery of print and online information;
• education and communication services; and
• integration and coordination of regional services.

6) Corporate Services Division, which provides DOCEP with services in the
following areas:
• financial and administration services;
• information technology support services;
• human resource management; and
• corporate information services.

DOCEP provides a range of services to regional areas with offices in Albany,
Bunbury, Geraldton, Kalgoorlie and Karratha.

The department employs 707 full time equivalents (FTEs), with a corporate
culture focused on providing high quality services to customers and
stakeholders through standards, policies, practices and procedures. To achieve
this we seek industry funding where necessary to supplement our resource
base, and integrate corporate functions, systems and services.

This is the third full year since the Ministry of Fair Trading, the Department of
Productivity and Labour Relations, WorkSafe Western Australia and the
Technical and Safety Division of the Office of Energy merged to form DOCEP.
We are continuing to identify the advantages offered by the diversity of DOCEP
and maximise economies of scale. Structural changes to DOCEP that took
effect from January 1 2004 included Energy Safety becoming a division and the
Strategy Division becoming the Office of the Director General. 

PROFILE OF THE DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AND EMPLOYMENT PROTECTION
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PROFILE OF THE DEPARTMENT     OF CONSUMER AND EMPLOYMENT PROTECTION

OUR STAKEHOLDERS

DOCEP’s stakeholders are wide-ranging and include:

• the Western Australian public;
• employees;
• employers;
• consumers;
• traders;
• business entities;
• public sector organisations;
• employee and employer organisations;
• academic institutions;
• Minister for Consumer and Employment Protection; and
• Minister for Energy.

For these stakeholders, DOCEP manages and implements 67 Acts of
Parliament. Review of legislation, regulations and codes of practice ensures the
changing needs and expectations of the community are met, and that the
regulatory framework is relevant to the needs of the community.

ACHIEVEMENTS AND CHALLENGES 

Achievements 2003-04

• As a result of recommendations made in a report by Mr Robert Laing,
changes to key aspects of the occupational safety and health legislation
were introduced into Parliament. These included increased penalties and
empowering qualified safety and health representatives to issue provisional
improvement notices.  

• Two Bills, the Motor Vehicle Licensing Amendment Bill and the Motor
Vehicle Repairers Bill, were passed through Parliament in December 2003.
DOCEP is currently establishing the supporting procedures, regulations,
licensing programs and education campaigns to support the introduction of
the legislation, which will provide for improved regulation of the motor
vehicle repairer industry.

• DOCEP made a significant contribution to economic growth through
submissions to the Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission
regarding minimum weekly rates of pay under the Minimum Conditions of
Employment Act 1993, and to the National and State Wage Cases.  

• The Government commissioned two independent reviews during the year, a
review of the operation, impact and effectiveness of the Labour Relations
Reform Act 2002 and a review of the gender pay gap in Western Australia.  

• The department negotiated with unions for improvements in terms and
conditions of employment for across public sector awards and agreements
covering public servants, government officers, and a range of occupational
groups.  

• Energy Safety has been consulting with industry on proposed general
changes to the Electricity (Licensing) Regulations 1991. The regulations
cover the licensing of electricians, restricted electrical workers and electrical
contractors, the regulation of standards of electrical work and the
establishment of the Electrical Licensing Board.

• There were 27 major events organised by the Communications Promotions
team staff throughout the year. These included ten metropolitan expos, eight
regional expos, five forums, three launches and one awards dinner.

PROFILE OF THE DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AND EMPLOYMENT PROTECTION
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PROFILE OF THE DEPARTMENT     OF CONSUMER AND EMPLOYMENT PROTECTION

• DOCEP continued the highly successful ThinkSafe campaign and revised the
WorkSafe Plan assessment tool to complement ThinkSafe strategies.

• Two Indigenous Community Education Officers joined Consumer Protection
as part of a new initiative addressing the capability of Indigenous consumers.
The initiative focuses on providing accurate and effective information to
Indigenous people, promotion and education of consumer rights and
responsibilities and building working partnerships with advocacy groups.

• Community awareness of consumer protection services and issues among
consumers from non-English speaking backgrounds was bolstered by the
publication of Consumer Protection’s What We Do booklet in ten languages.

• Consumer Protection held an “Alternative Property Investment Seminar” in
October 2003, which was designed to provide reliable and factual
information to 600 current and prospective property investors. The seminar
was organised following a proliferation of property investment spruikers in
Western Australia charging people up to $16,000 for seminars and
encouraging them to borrow excessively to fund property investment.

• The Family Farm Safety Kit was released for use by teachers of Year 2 and 3
classes at Western Australia’s 390 regional primary schools to teach children
about safety on farms. The kit contains a pamphlet for children to take home
to parents to explain what they have been taught at school.

• Information and education campaigns targeted youth, migrants, disabled and
Indigenous workers to increase awareness of employment rights and
obligations.  

• WorkSafe improved support for safety and health representatives through
the introduction of a dedicated online information service, the review of
introductory training arrangements, better access to codes and guidance
material, and a CD which was provided to elected representatives and
supervisors. 

• DOCEP has embarked on a major series of projects to enhance DOCEP’s
website.  A new content management system will enable selected DOCEP
staff to revise and directly update their content. This process of devolved
online content management will empower the operating divisions to manage
their own online content.

• The revamped FuelWatch website launched in April provided exciting new
features including a holiday trip planner and the ability to personalise price
search results. The growing popularity of the site combined with increased
media demand for FuelWatch information has resulted in an average saving
of $2.50 per week on fuel bills for private vehicle users who utilise the
FuelWatch services - an annual saving to the community of $85 million a year.

• DOCEP achieved successful prosecution for breaches of freedom of
association and right of entry of authorised representative provisions of the
Industrial Relations Act 1979.

• Energy Safety investigated several major wildfires suspected of being
caused by power line failures and released  reports on its findings. Western
Power is now undertaking an urgent remedial action program in the Great
Southern and South Coastal Regions to prevent a reoccurrence of the
disastrous Tenterden fire of December 2003.

• The Director of Energy Safety was appointed the Western Australian
representative on the national Energy Infrastructure Assurance Advisory
Group, which is responsible for coordinating the activities of the various
States and developing strategies to improve the resilience of critical energy
infrastructure to withstand generic risks and threats.

PROFILE OF THE DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AND EMPLOYMENT PROTECTION
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PROFILE OF THE DEPARTMENT     OF CONSUMER AND EMPLOYMENT PROTECTION

• The first eight of a total of 20 new WorkSafe inspectors to be recruited over
the three years to 2005-06 have completed their initial training, with
arrangements in hand for a further six inspectors to commence in mid-2004.

• Human Resources successfully implemented a new information system
which enables staff to access their own data via the intranet.  

• DOCEP’s new Performance Development System was implemented during
2003-04. 

• Mandatory Prevention of Workplace Bullying workshops were implemented
with almost every employee in DOCEP attending the sessions.  Sessions
are being conducted quarterly to ensure new employees receive this training. 

Challenges 2003-04

• An application by UnionsWA to the Western Australian Industrial Relations
Commission for a General Order for the establishment of a termination
change and redundancy standard to be established for employees could
have significant implications for both employees and employers.

• The latest statistics for Western Australian workplaces show, on average,
one person is killed every 16 days, and every 25 minutes one person suffers
from an injury or disease resulting in one or more shifts off work.  While the
rate of workplace injury and disease has continued to fall, there is concern
the rate of improvement could plateau.  In addition the rate of improvement
is less for severe injuries and diseases.  

• The number of electrical and gas accidents and fatalities is still unacceptably
high. Energy Safety intends to alert the community to this fact through an
electrical and gas safety awareness program, provided adequate funding is
made available.

• The State Administrative Tribunal (SAT) will be a single independent body
that will replace nearly 50 separate industry and public tribunals and boards.
When the SAT becomes operational, the role of some consumer protection
and energy safety boards in dealing with disciplinary matters will change,
and some 8,000 to 10,000 matters are expected to be heard by the SAT
annually. 

• The Functional Review Implementation Team has made significant progress
with its whole of government shared corporate services program. This
program will see the introduction of shared service centres in 2005.  

OUR OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

There are significant issues outside DOCEP’s control that impact on the
operating environment, offering a challenge to identify new and improved
methods to deliver our services. Some of these external issues include:

• rapidly changing technological advancements;
• growth in the small business sector;
• globalisation and the power of big business;
• the State’s ageing population;
• the changing nature of the workforce;
• better educated and more informed employees, employers and consumers;
• the increasing complexity of consumer transactions;
• a growing emphasis on information access; 
• ever-increasing customer expectations;
• ageing energy infrastructure; and
• changes in the energy market with the introduction of competition.

PROFILE OF THE DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AND EMPLOYMENT PROTECTION
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Report on Operations

This section of the annual report is built around the five strategic goals of the
Western Australian State Government that contribute to achieving the vision of
a sustainable Western Australia: 

GOAL 1: PEOPLE AND COMMUNITIES 

To enhance the quality of life and wellbeing of all people throughout
Western Australia

GOAL 2: THE ECONOMY

To develop a strong economy that delivers more jobs, more opportunities
and greater wealth to Western Australians by creating the conditions
required for investment and growth

GOAL 3: THE ENVIRONMENT

To ensure that Western Australia has an environment in which resources
are managed, developed and used sustainably, biological diversity is
preserved and habitats protected

GOAL 4: THE REGIONS

To ensure that regional Western Australia is strong and vibrant

GOAL 5: GOVERNANCE

To govern for all Western Australians in an open, effective and efficient
manner that also ensures a sustainable future

Throughout this report we have provided tables that demonstrate the linkages
between DOCEP’s services to the community and the most appropriate State
Strategic Goals. Additionally we have provided an overview of our performance
through the provision of results against Output Based Management
performance measures of quantity, quality, timeliness and cost. Such
performance information has been included in appropriate sections of this
annual report.

REPORT ON OPERATIONS 

“It’s good to be part of an
organisation that promotes
and secures the safety and
health of employees across

Western Australia, while
being both firm and fair.” 

Craig Cullen, WorkSafe Inspector
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State Goal 1:                                      People and Communities

STATE GOAL 1: PEOPLE AND COMMUNITIES

Enhance quality of life and wellbeing

REPORT ON OPERATIONS 

Direction

Enhancing the  
capability of the 
community

Enhancing the 
regulatory
environment

Enforcing the
law

Output

Community
information and
assistance

Regulatory
framework

Regulation
enforcement

Contribution

Providing access to knowledge,
information and support so that consumers
and employees can:
• exercise their rights;
• meet their obligations; and
• make better informed decisions in the

consumer and employment
marketplaces.

Developing and maintaining policy and
legislation appropriate for a contemporary
trading and employment marketplace,
including:
• reviewing and amending legislation to

reflect government priorities and
community needs; and

• developing appropriate regulatory
responses to emerging issues within
the consumer and employment
marketplaces.

Enforcing regulations governing consumer
protection, labour relations, occupational
safety and health, and energy safety to:
• protect consumers, traders, employees

and employers; 
• increase levels of occupational and

energy safety within the community;
and

• respond appropriately to emerging
issues.
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State Goal 1:                                      People and Communities

WHAT WE PLANNED TO ACHIEVE

• Review extended working hours in Western Australia to focus on identifying
appropriate policy responses based on available evidence about the impact
of extended working hours.

• Address social and economic disadvantage by making submissions to
increase the minimum weekly rates of pay by undertaking a review of the
gender pay gap in Western Australia, and through the promotion of
initiatives to improve work and family balance and to assist employees with
family and caring responsibilities.

• Provide consumers with more comprehensive information regarding scams
such as pyramid schemes through expanding the functionality of the WA
ScamNet.

• Raise awareness of award and employment entitlements for disadvantaged
groups such as youth, migrants, Indigenous workers and workers with
disabilities. 

• Increase awareness of consumer protection issues and services among a
range of target groups including seniors, young people, Indigenous
Australians and consumers from non-English speaking backgrounds.

• Collate and publish statistical information on work-related injury and disease
to guide preventative occupational safety and health strategies and provide
high quality, reliable information to stakeholders. 

• Continue to focus occupational safety health and education and enforcement
activity on identified priority areas and industries.

• Effect coverage of Police Officers under the Occupational Safety and Health
Act 1984 and finalise a co-agency agreement on dangerous and covert
operations.

• Establish partnerships with building companies to demonstrate safety
features to the community via home display centres.

• Enhance education and awareness initiatives, and online products, to
enhance services to the public and industry.

WHAT WE ACHIEVED

Extended working hours review 

The Minister for Consumer and Employment Protection, Mr John Kobelke,
established the Extended Working Hours Review Panel to receive and consider
public comment on extended working hours.  The review focused on the health
and safety implications of extended working hours and more general impacts
on the health of individual workers, their families and the community.

Government has accepted the recommendations of the Review Panel and
asked the Commission for Occupational Safety and Health to develop a
Working Hours Code of Practice under the Occupational Safety and Health Act
1984, as recommended by the Review Panel.  The Panel’s report is available
online at the Minister’s web site at: www.ministers.wa.gov.au/kobelke

Addressing social and economic disadvantage

An independent review of the gender pay gap in Western Australia was
commissioned by the Government to address unfair pay discrimination in the
workplace. The review considered strategies and training to address the gender
pay gap. 

REPORT ON OPERATIONS 
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State Goal 1:                                      People and Communities

A submission was made to the Work and Family Test Case in the Federal
jurisdiction, which is listed for hearing in August to October 2004.  The State
Governments are supporting a wide range of unpaid leave entitlements and
flexible working arrangements to help employees balance work and family
commitments.  

Consumer information about scams

DOCEP expanded the functionality of WA ScamNet to enable consumers to be
further informed about scams. The additions to WA ScamNet included
information about pyramid schemes as well as a newsletter and feedback
system for contributors. The expansion of WA ScamNet was further promoted
through the Department’s lead role in community events to coincide with World
Consumer Rights Day in March 2004 and the development of a promotional CD.

Employment rights - information and education 

Labour Relations provided information seminars and presentations in both
metropolitan and regional areas, along with random site visits and inspections,
and targeted industry campaigns.  

Programs that specifically targeted youth, migrants, disabled and Indigenous
workers regarding employment rights included the following activities: 

• updating online information;
• attending university orientation days;
• a radio advertising campaign on youth oriented radio stations dealing with

exploitative employment practices;
• developing a radio advertising campaign and brochure to increase the

awareness of Indigenous workers regarding employment rights and DOCEP
services; 

• a joint seminar program with Department of Immigration and Multicultural
and Indigenous Affairs (DIMIA) for migrants entering Australia on a business
visa;

• entered into Memoranda of Understanding with DIMIA to assist with the
protection of employment entitlements for migrant workers in Western
Australia on working visas; and

• presentations to peak organisations on developing Employer Employee
Agreements for disabled workers. 

Senior consumers education initiatives

As part of the Government’s commitment to developing an innovative and
relevant policy framework for seniors, Consumer Protection developed a Senior
Consumers Education Plan 2002-05. The plan aims to educate seniors about
basic consumer protection issues, changes to laws and issues of special
concern to seniors. The plan was developed in consultation with the Active
Ageing Taskforce and the Department of Community Development’s Office of
Seniors Interests and will be implemented in 2004-05.

Output One : Community Information and Assistance

Number of % meeting % meeting Average Cost
units of service quality timeliness per unit

standards standards
Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

Information and 
Education services 2,250,000 4,186,063 80% 86% 80% 93% $1.94 $1.74

REPORT ON OPERATIONS 
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State Goal 1:                                      People and Communities

Young consumer education initiatives 

DOCEP has improved its information for young people by placing a prominent
link on its homepage. This link takes children and teenagers directly to
information tailored especially to them, including:

• Energy Safety’s Living Safely with Electricity information for primary children; 
• WorkSafe’s ThinkSafe Club for primary children; 
• the WorkSafe SmartMove resource for teenagers;
• information from Labour Relations on young people’s job rights; and 
• Consumer Protection’s full package of youth information on consumer rights. 

To increase community awareness of consumer protection issues among young
consumers, DOCEP commenced implementation of a targeted education
program. This included drafting a Youth consumers guide, updating and
distributing a publication for Boarders and Lodgers to young consumers and
overseas students, and participating in youth events such as the Cosmonautical
Youth Festival and University Orientation days.

Indigenous Australian consumers education initiatives 

A new initiative focusing on increasing the capability of Indigenous consumers,
providing accurate and effective consumer information to Indigenous people,
promoting education about consumer rights and responsibilities and building
working partnerships with advocacy groups was commenced through the
employment of two Indigenous Community Education Officers with Consumer
Protection in February.

Considerations for the education program include: ongoing employment of
Indigenous staff to implement the program; a dedicated website for Indigenous
people to access information; targeted publications and promotional materials;
regular travel to regional areas; development of a database of Indigenous
clients; use of media; and training DOCEP staff in Indigenous cultural
awareness.

Cultural diversity and language services 

DOCEP is committed to having an equitable and diverse workforce at all levels
of employment that is representative of the Western Australian community.

The department continues to ensure that it advertises as widely as possible to
attract a diverse field of applicants.  In addition, DOCEP is circulating a Diversity
Survey to all staff to ensure the capture of accurate data in this area.

Consumer Protection Division’s What We Do booklet was published in 10
languages to increase awareness of the division’s services among consumers
from non-English speaking backgrounds. This publication was launched in 
June 2004. 

The client thanks Jeff Chan from Labour Relations division for his
excellent assistance in helping him understand the employment
obligations.  The client said he found this most helpful and felt that the
Chinese business community would greatly benefit if government
departments hired more bilingual staff.

REPORT ON OPERATIONS 

Consumer Protections’

Indigenous officers 

Wayne Binder and Tammy

Solonec with David Brown

(centre) Senior Regional

Officer, Geraldton.
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State Goal 1:                                      People and Communities

Disability service plan 

DOCEP has made positive achievements to meet the needs of
people with disabilities through a range of strategies and initiatives.
The department’s Disability Service Plan (DSP) is currently being
developed by a DSP Reference Group.  

The department was nominated for a Prime Minister’s award in
2003-04 for its achievements in employing people with disabilities.

DOCEP continued its excellent working relationship with Edge
Employment Solutions, a non-profit employment agency for people

with disabilities.  This year, the department worked with Edge to place a
student for initial assessment as part of the Government’s School Based
Traineeship program.

Occupational safety and health statistics for stakeholders

WorkSafe collates and publishes statistical information on work-related fatality,
injury and disease to guide preventative occupational safety and health
strategies and provide quality reliable information to stakeholders.  

Work related injury or disease outcomes in Western Australia continue to
improve with a downward trend in workers’ compensation claims.  There has
been a reduction in the lost time, injury and disease frequency rate of over 
60 per cent since the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 (OSH Act) came
into effect during 1988-89.  

The number of work-related fatalities remains unacceptably high with a total of
20 in Western Australia during 2003-04.  Four occurred on mine sites covered
by the Mines Safety and Inspection Act 1994, administered by the Department
of Industry and Resources.  The remaining 16 were under the jurisdiction of the
OSH Act administered by WorkSafe.  The average annual work-related fatality
incidence rate for the five-year period from 1999-00 to 2003-04 was 21.1
fatalities per million workers, compared to 37.5 from 1988-89 to 1992-93.

Access to the full range of available statistical information, as well as case
summaries of all recent work-related fatalities, are available via the Internet on
WorkSafe’s SafetyLine: www.safetyline.wa.gov.au/sub10.htm

Occupational safety and health priorities

Working towards achieving the national targets set in the National Occupational
Health and Safety Strategy 2002-12 saw WorkSafe focus on six national priority
industries and seven state priority areas for enforcement and proactive
educational programs.  The six national priority industries are health and
community services, manufacturing, construction, transport and storage,
agriculture/forestry/fishing and wholesale/retail.  The seven state priority areas
for 2003-04 were working at heights, new and young workers, manual handling
(lifting), hazardous substances, electricity, slips and trips, and forklifts.  

We continue to work towards targets set in the National Occupational Health
and Safety Strategy 2002-12, which include:

• reducing the incidence of workplace injury by at least 40 per cent by 30 June
2012, with a reduction of 20 per cent being achieved by 30 June 2007; and

• sustaining a significant, continual reduction in the incidence of work-related
fatalities with a reduction of at least 20 per cent by 30 June 2012, with a
reduction of 10 per cent being achieved by 30 June 2007.
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2004 ThinkSafe campaign

The ThinkSafe community education campaign supports WorkSafe’s priority areas
for the reduction of workplace fatalities, injuries and disease.  The campaign
encourages employers and safety and health decision-makers to actively integrate
safety and health systems as part of good management practice.

WorkSafe’s annual ThinkSafe campaign was launched in May 2004, targeting
the five high risk industries of aged care, agriculture, construction, retail and
transport, with a focus on the seven state priority areas.  In the 2004 campaign,
employers, managers and supervisors are encouraged to consult and work with

employees and safety and health representatives to actively manage
hazards in their workplaces.  New high impact television and radio
commercials and a new poster are included in the campaign, which runs
until August 2004.

Farm safety 

Around 40 people attended a Farm Safety is Your Business forum for
peak agricultural organisations in April. The forum focused on helping
agricultural industry representatives empower farmers to improve farm
safety management. 

Electrical and gas safety messages 

Energy Safety developed several electrical and gas safety messages that were
advertised on community radio stations. The safety messages alerted the general
public to their personal safety responsibilities when using electricity or gas.

Safety of electricity network 

The safety of Western Power’s 800,000 wood poles has been under scrutiny by
Energy Safety during the year. Tenders were called for a consulting engineering
company to assist Energy Safety with its planned compliance audit of Western
Power’s wood pole management systems. 

Both the public and Energy Safety are concerned that Western Power meets its
obligations in respect of the structural safety of these wood poles, as an
increasing incidence of pole failures has been recorded, especially in country
areas.  Pole failures carry great risks for the community, through possible fatal
electric shock from live, low wires, and the risk of wildfires from wires clashing
or touching the ground, trees or shrubs. 

South-west electricity network improvements

In June 2003, Energy Safety released a report on its investigations of more
than 270 complaints about frequent or extended power outages from electricity
consumers in the Toodyay, Bremer Bay, Koorda, Narembeen and Corrigin areas
of the rural south-west of Western Australia.

Energy Safety provided a further report in September 2003 setting out
recommendations to Western Power for dealing with the problems, together
with related comments to help put the recommendations into an appropriate
context.

In May 2004, the Government announced a major increase in Western Power’s
network expenditure during the coming years, to deal with the types of
problems that had been identified.  Additionally, a special Rural Power
Improvement Program was established, with special funding of $49m over four
years, to combat country area reliability concerns.
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Safety of gas installations

Energy Safety commenced a major audit of the consumer installation safety
inspection practices of Alinta Gas in October 2003. Like other gas suppliers,
Alinta Gas is required to monitor the standards of work of gas fitters through
inspections and these provide assurance of safety for consumers. The audit
was completed in June 2004 and covered metropolitan and country operations
on a sample basis. A number of improvements that need to be undertaken
were identified, including the need for Alinta Gas inspectors to be better
supervised, to ensure effective inspection practices.

Gas and electricity safety legislation amendment bill

Amendments to gas and electricity safety legislation were introduced into
Parliament in October 2003. The proposals had been the subject of two years
of consultation and development.  The key improvements proposed are
increased order-making powers for Energy Safety inspectors in relation to
dealing with electricity and gas network deficiencies, and an increase in
maximum penalties under the Gas Standards Act 1972 from $2,000 to $20,000
for individuals and $100,000 for corporations.

Police officers now covered by Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984

WorkSafe effected coverage of Police Officers under the Occupational Safety
and Health Act 1984 with effect from January 2004, and finalised a co-agency
agreement on dangerous and covert operations.  In June 2004, the Commission
for Occupational Safety and Health published a guidance note for Covert
Operations and Dangerous Operations in the Western Australian Police Service.  

Home safety initiatives

In conjunction with Kidsafe, DOCEP approached building companies to
establish partnerships to demonstrate safety features to the community in
home display centres. As a result, a partnership with Landcorp was agreed and
BGC has been selected to provide the house. The display home is expected to
be completed by January 2005. 

WorkSafe 2004 forum  

Some 500 elected safety and health representatives and supervisors attended
the Strengthening the role of Safety and Health Representatives forum in May.
The forum was a joint initiative of DOCEP, the Commission for Occupational
Safety and Health, the Department of Industry and Resources and WorkCover
Western Australia. Workshops and concurrent sessions included speakers from
WorkSafe Victoria and safety experts and managers.  A CD offering better
access to information for safety and health representatives was launched. 

Amended retirement villages code of conduct

A community education plan was developed and implemented to accompany
the introduction of the amended Retirement Villages Code of Conduct. A new
publication entitled Changes to the Code of Fair Practice for Retirement Villages
was also developed, and the existing publication So you’re thinking of moving
into a retirement village? was revised and also made available via the DOCEP
website. The changes were promoted extensively throughout events during
Seniors’ Week.

REPORT ON OPERATIONS 
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Aged care industry Occupational Safety and Health summit 

Eighty registered participants and 18 speakers and DOCEP staff attended a
successful half day Aged Care Industry Occupational Safety and Health Summit
in March 2004. Information sheets, guidance notes and a CD of relevant
Commission for Occupational Safety and Health Codes of Practice were launched.

Active ageing employment strategy

Labour Relations made a commitment in the Active Ageing Strategy to
research, develop and promote phased retirement strategies and flexible work
practices to enable and encourage mature employees to remain in
employment.  A promotional campaign will be conducted in 2004-05 to ensure
employers are aware of the issues and benefits of mature  worker employment
strategies.

External events 

DOCEP was represented at a wide range of external events this year, including:

• National Aboriginal Islander Day Observance Committee Week;
• Business Opportunities Expo;
• Transport Expo;
• Partnerships in Injury Management Conference;
• Parents, Babies and Childrens Expo;
• Livestock Transporters Association Conference;
• IFAP Safety WA 2003 Conference and Exhibition;
• Perth Money Show;
• Karragullen Horticultural Field Day;
• Seniors Lifestyle Expo (Kalamunda);
• Perth Woman Expo;
• Orientation Days - Notre Dame, Murdoch, Edith Cowan, Curtin Universities

and the University of Western Australia; 
• Ideal Home Show;
• National Consumers Day;
• Cosmonautical City of Stirling Youth Festival;
• Seniors Expo;
• Hospitality on Show;
• Law Week 2004; and
• Safety In Schools Week.

Provision of work safety information

While WorkSafe has a major regulatory role, it also provides information to
industry and the community to assist in the prevention of work-related injury
and disease.  Many of the information products are in a traditional printed form,
but the Internet is used increasingly as a cost-effective way to deliver work
safety and health information.  

WorkSafe’s Internet service, www.safetyline.wa.gov.au, is one of the leading
services of its kind in the world and provides ready access to high quality
information on occupational safety and health.  WorkSafe’s service is unique in
providing interactive training and education programs in occupational safety and
health for primary (the ThinkSafe Club), secondary (WorkSafe SmartMove), and
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tertiary (the SafetyLine Institute) level students.  In the 2003-04 financial year
there were more than 78,000 SmartMove graduates, making the resource the
most popular service on the department’s website.  

Greater support and training for safety and health representatives 

Recognising the great contribution that safety and health representatives make
in workplaces throughout the state was the impetus for improving services to
them. This year, better communication channels were developed for safety and
health representatives, with a dedicated on-line information service and better
access to codes and guidance material being introduced.  These initiatives were
in response to a consultative review, which highlighted the need for more
frequent communication with representatives.

International Labour Organisation - Convention 155 Occupational Health
and Safety 1981

This Convention provides for the tripartite formulation, implementation and
periodic review of policies associated with occupational safety and health and
the working environment.

The principles of this Convention are consistent with the modern OSH
principles of duty of care, and are all met by Western Australia’s current law
and practice.  Western Australia indicated compliance with this Convention on
28 August 1989 and since then all States/Territories indicated compliance with
the Convention.

Western Australia was the lead jurisdiction in arguing that Convention 155 was
a fundamental occupational safety and health standard, highly consistent with
the Robens principles which all Australian jurisdictions recognise.  The Federal
Government accepted the approval and agreed to ratify the Convention on 
26 March 2004. 

Consumer credit community grants

In April 2003, the Western Australian Commercial Tribunal ordered the ANZ
Bank to pay a penalty of $496,000 to DOCEP, relating to its operation of a
number of personal loan contracts issued between 1985 and 1996. 

The Tribunal’s order required that the penalty be applied by the Commissioner
for Fair Trading for the purposes of: 

• providing financial counselling services to consumers;
• giving legal advice to consumers about consumer credit; and
• providing information about consumer credit.

Subsequently, DOCEP established the ANZ Credit Code Management
Committee, which sought submissions for grant funding.  Following a
comprehensive assessment process, the Committee recommended to the
Minister that funding be provided to seven not-for-profit, community-based
organisations. This recommendation was consistent with the Government’s
Consumer Justice Strategy, which prioritises supporting non-government
consumer services.

REPORT ON OPERATIONS 
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Sponsorships

DOCEP sponsored the following awards and events in 2003-04:

• the Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry and Business Council of
Australia National Awards;

• the Master Builders’ Association Awards;
• the Housing Industry Association Awards; 
• the Western Australian Work and Family Award as part of the National

Corporate Work and Family Award; and
• IFAP Safety WA 2003 Conference and Exhibition.

WorkSafe Plan / Safety Achievers Dinner

WorkSafe Plan is an assessment process that rates safety management systems
and directs attention to areas that can be improved. WorkSafe promotes
occupational safety and health management practices required to establish and
maintain systems of work to ensure employees are not exposed to hazards.

WorkSafe Plan certificates of achievement are presented at three levels,
Platinum (highest standards), Gold (good progress towards a best practice
approach to safety and health management) and Silver (organisation meets
minimum standards). Eight Platinum, 14 Gold and 10 Silver were awarded in
2003-04.  

Three new products designed to motivate employers and decision makers to
manage priority hazards were launched in October 2003. These were: 

• a revised WorkSafe Plan Workbook, which introduced a Platinum level of
certification to recognise excellence in safety management systems and
provided examples of evidence for 50 performance indicators;

• The Next Step, which references the ThinkSafe campaign publication The
First Step and the revised WorkSafe Plan. It provides guidance on the three
‘steps’ for occupational safety and health management; and

• a WorkSafe Plan Assessors Tool, a compact disc for assessors, which
includes software to process an organisation’s scores for each WorkSafe
Plan element and injury and disease data.

A networking and information session was held in April 2004 for Accredited
WorkSafe Plan Assessors to discuss processing submissions, lost time injury
and disease data and auditing of assessors.

DOCEP organises the Safety Achievers Dinner each year, which was held in
May 2004. The Minister for Consumer and Employment Protection, John
Kobelke, presented four WorkSafe Awards and 17 WorkSafe Plan certificates to
various companies. 

Electricity Safety Awards 2003

Energy Safety, in conjunction with the Electrical Contractors Association and
Siemens, conducted its annual Electrical Safety Awards.  The awards recognise
electrical contracting companies that have excellent safety management
processes that deliver very good safe work outcomes.

Gas safety awards 2003

Energy Safety presented its annual Gasfitting Awards for the most outstanding
apprentice in gasfitting. This award is held in conjunction with the Master
Plumbers and Gasfitters Association’s plumbing industry awards. The winner
was Alan Hall who went on to win the WA Apprentice of the Year award. 
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Awards 

ScamNet: finalist in the StateWest Achievement Awards; ‘highly commended’
in the 2003 Premier’s Awards for Excellence.

Energy Safety’s Gas and Electrical Inspectorates were recognised at the Fire
and Emergency Services Authority of WA Community Safety Awards in 2003.
Community Safety Meritorious Certificates were presented for “outstanding
efforts in supporting and promoting community safety in Western Australia”.

REPORT ON OPERATIONS 
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Direction

Enhancing the
capability of the
community

Enhancing the
regulatory 
environment

Enforcing the
law

Output

Community
information and
assistance

Regulatory
framework

Regulation
enforcement

Contribution

Providing access to information and
promoting fair practices so that consumers
and traders:
• exercise their rights;
• meet their obligations; and
• increase their confidence in the

Western Australian trading and
employment marketplaces.

Developing and maintaining policy and
legislation appropriate for a contemporary
trading and employment marketplace to:
• enhance consumer and employee

confidence;
• enable increases in business

productivity fairly and safely; and
• develop regulatory responses to

changes within industry and the effects
of globalisation.

The investigation of consumer protection,
labour relations, occupational safety and
health, and energy safety matters and the
application of a range of sanctions to:
• protect consumers and employees;
• enforce relevant legal obligations; and
• appropriately respond to emerging

issues.
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WHAT WE PLANNED TO ACHIEVE

• Enhance the consumer protection regulatory framework, including:
• reviewing the Consumer Affairs Act 1971 and the Fair Trading Act 1987;
• drafting new legislation for uniform trade measurement;  
• further regulating motor vehicle repairers by introducing the Motor

Vehicle Licensing Amendment Bill and the Motor Vehicle Repairers Bill; 
• finalising a new Associations Incorporation Bill, Limited Partnerships Bill,

Public Collections Bill, Finance Brokers Amendment Bill and legislation for
caravan park homes; 

• finalising the Retail Shops and Fair Trading Legislation Amendment Bill;
and

• finalising a Code of Practice for licensed charities.
• Initiate changes arising from the review of the Occupational Safety and

Health Act 1984.
• Initiate education and enforcement activity to support new regulatory

requirements in the commercial vehicle, crane and construction sectors. 
• Enhance the labour relations regulatory environment, including providing

strategic, policy and legislative advice to Government, contributing to state
and national labour relations issues, educating the community, conducting
labour market analysis, coordinating public sector employment conditions,
and monitoring, investigating and resolving non compliance within the labour
relations policy framework.

• Increase community awareness and knowledge about buying property, both
for homeowners and investors.

• Evaluate the effectiveness of the FuelWatch service provided by DOCEP and
increase community awareness of fuel pricing issues.

• Secure increased inspectorate resources and focus WorkSafe enforcement
activity throughout the state on identified priority areas and industries, and
take strong action against those people who choose not to take their
occupational safety and health responsibilities seriously.  

• Improve and regulate compliance with relevant legislation administered by
Consumer Protection.

REPORT ON OPERATIONS 

Output Two: Regulatory Framework

Number of % meeting % meeting Average Cost
units of service quality timeliness per unit

standards standards
Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

Major Policy Projects 12 11 80% 96% 80% 100% $293,958 $229,652

Policy Projects 35 99 80% 100% 80% 100% $86,297 $40,941

Policy Tasks 2,700 2,556 80% 93% 80% 86% $985 $1,121
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WHAT WE ACHIEVED

Consumer protection policy and legislation development

DOCEP continued to develop and implement a broad range of policy initiatives
in line with the Consumer Justice Strategy. These initiatives included the
following:

• the department has facilitated establishment of appropriate home indemnity
insurance in the marketplace through assessing three mutual fund proposals
for approval under the Home Building Contracts Act 1991. The Minister has
also approved the regulatory regime for supervision of mutual funds
approved to provide home indemnity insurance;

• regulations to define a compliance and inspection framework for licensed
plumbers were established, to allow for the Plumbers Licensing Board to
take on the inspection responsibility previously undertaken by the Water
Corporation. Supporting infrastructure, including trained compliance
inspectors has also been established. The new plumbing inspection regime
will commence on July 1, 2004;

• the Retail Shops and Fair Trading Legislation Amendment Bill 2003 was
prepared and introduced into Parliament. The Bill addresses areas such as
protection for small business against unconscionable conduct,
implementation of changes identified through the Ministerial review of the
Retail Trading Hours Act 1987 in accordance with the National Competition
Policy principles, and amendments to the Commercial Tenancy (Retail
Shops) Agreements Act 1985;

• two draft papers, outlining policy issues and options for possible further
regulation of LPG prices were prepared. The final report is due to be
completed in 2004-05;

• a report on public consultations undertaken on the draft Public Collections
Bill was finalised. Drafting of legislation is expected to commence in early
2004-05. A code of practice for licensed charities will be developed after the
Public Collections Bill has been assented to;

• drafting of the Trade Measurement Bill, Trade Measurement Administration
Bill and Limited Partnerships Bill was commenced;

• commenced drafting of new legislation for caravan park homes in order to
provide greater protection for caravan park home owners; and

• the Finance Brokers Amendment Bill was introduced into Parliament in
December 2003, with enactment expected in late 2004.

In addition to enhancing the consumer protection regulatory framework, the
Consumer Protection Division continued to enforce compliance with legislation
through the following activities:

• the development and implementation of weights and measures compliance
and education strategies in the mining industry. Activities included
presentations, meetings, site visits and verification of equipment owned by
mining companies;

• implementation of a quarterly reconciliation process between banks and the
Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory Board and the Settlement
Agents Supervisory Board’s financial records to ensure tighter trust account
monitoring processes;

• business processes related to licensing and compliance have been
reviewed, to coincide with the development of the Compliance and
Licensing System, which will be completed by December 2004.  This
included developing a real estate licensing procedure handbook which will
provide a template for other areas;
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• an awareness campaign to advise consumers about misleading and
deceptive advertising and promotions commenced. The first area of the
campaign was the retail sale of rugs and carpets. This initiative has involved
liaison with other regulatory agencies, industry participants and experts; and

• a number of infringements were issued to oil companies for breaches of
wholesale price transparency requirements.

Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 (OSH Act) Review

Mr Robert Laing’s statutory review of the OSH Act was tabled in Parliament on
November 27, 2003.  In April 2004, the Minister for Consumer and Employment
Protection introduced proposed changes to legislation into Parliament. The
Legislative Council Second Reading of the Bill occurred on 2 July 2004. The Bill
amends the Act by: 

• expanding the general duties of care, largely to close the gaps, particularly in
the labour hire industry;

• increasing penalties, particularly for corporations, including provision for
imprisonment in cases involving serious harm or death when the breach
constitutes gross negligence;

• allowing more flexible processes for the election of safety and health
representatives and the establishment of safety and health committees; and

• introducing the right of appropriately trained safety and health
representatives to issue provisional improvement notices, which will be
commonly known as PINs.

National ban on asbestos

Regulations were introduced to give effect to the national ban on chrysotile
asbestos as from 1 January 2004.   WorkSafe also carried out promotional
activities aimed at increasing the awareness of the national ban on chrysotile
and other forms of asbestos.

Managing fatigue for commercial vehicle drivers 

DOCEP conducted education campaigns in regional centres to explain new
laws relating to managing fatigue in commercial drivers.  Commercial vehicle
drivers who drive long distances or for long periods of time must be certified as
medically fit and have adequate rest breaks, with employers and self-employed
drivers developing and maintaining a fatigue management plan. These new
laws apply to all commercial vehicles, such as trucks and buses, with a gross
vehicle mass over 4.5 tonnes.  Forums were held in July and August 2003, in
Perth, Albany, Bunbury, Esperance, Geraldton, Kalgoorlie and Port Hedland to
explain the new laws. Further forums were conducted in March 2004 in the
Kimberley towns of Broome, Derby and Kununurra. All forums were well attended.

Construction safety

There were regulatory reforms in relation to elevating work platforms and crane
safety.  The changes included those related to the fitting of load indicators to
certain types of cranes, additional requirements for cranes involved in multi-lifts,
hoists and building maintenance units and introducing new minimum
requirements for crews to work with crane operators.  To further enhance
safety in construction, WorkSafe has planned a range of legislative and policy
changes to improve compliance with occupational safety and health in the
construction sector including mandatory safety induction training and more
rigorous safety requirements for tilt-up construction.
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Productivity Commission Inquiry

WorkSafe provided a response to the Interim Productivity Commission Inquiry
Report on National Workers’ Compensation and Occupational Health and Safety
Frameworks (Report No. 27) in October 2003.  While broadly supporting greater
national consistency of occupational safety and health legislation, WorkSafe
argued that the direction being proposed might not be the best means of
achieving such consistency.

Labour relations reforms

Labour relations reforms introduced through the Labour Relations Reform Act
2002 (LRRA) continued to be implemented this year. The Government
considered submissions in response to the Cawley Report, which was primarily
concerned with the operation of the Western Australian Industrial Relations
Commission (WAIRC). 

The Government commissioned an independent review of the Labour Relations
Reform Act 2002 to consider the operation, impact and effectiveness of the
reforms contained in the LRRA.  

An independent review of the gender pay gap in Western Australia was
commissioned to address unfair pay discrimination in the workplace.

Labour Relations prepared the drafting instructions for the Industrial Relations
(General) Amendment Regulations 2004 (the Regulations).  The Regulations
support the new good faith bargaining provisions in the Industrial Relations Act
1979 by providing a process for parties to formally initiate and respond to
bargaining. 

Contribution to economic growth

Submissions were made to the WAIRC regarding increases to the minimum
weekly rates of pay under the Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993,
and to the National and State Wage Cases. The adult minimum wage under the
Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993 has increased to $467.40 for a
38 hour week.  The Australian Industrial Relations Commission granted a
$19.00 a week increase to all federal award rates of pay in May 2004, and this
flowed on to WA State Awards through the WAIRC in June 2004.  

As the largest Western Australian employer, the Government provides for wage
increases that are economically sustainable for the public sector. During the
past 12 months, negotiations have occurred with unions for improvements in
wages and conditions of employment for across sector awards and agreements
covering public servants, government officers, and a range of occupational
groups.  

Contribution to national labour relations issues

DOCEP made a submission on behalf of the Government, and jointly with other
Labor States and Territories, to the ACTU Work and Family Test Case in the
federal jurisdiction.  Another submission was made to the Senate Committee
inquiry into the Termination of Employment Bill, opposing the expansion of the
scope of the federal unfair dismissal provisions.  

The Workplace Relations Amendment (Termination of Employment) Bill 2002
[No.2] was re-introduced into the Federal Parliament after being initially rejected
by the Senate on 11 August 2003.   The department identified a number of
potential breaches in the Labour Chapter of the Australia - USA Free Trade
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Agreement (AUSFTA), largely related to the operation of the Workplace
Relations Act 1996, and contributed to a Western Australian Government
submission to the Joint Standing Committee on Treaties and Senate Select
Committee inquiries into the AUSFTA.  

Labour Relations education and compliance campaigns  

Educating the community on labour relations issues is an important role for
DOCEP. Understanding the labour relations environment and the rights and
obligations within the system is enhanced through Wageline services (state and
federal awards and agreements), one-on-one advisory services, publications,
seminars, site visits, issues papers, bulletins, meetings and visiting the labour
relations website.  The investigation of industrial complaints and resolution of
issues, including prosecutions, have continued to be a major service provided
by the Labour Relations Division.

DOCEP monitors labour market trends and produces a quarterly Labour Market
Bulletin containing information relating to wages, employment growth, inflation,
unemployment, labour market participation, industrial disputation and
agreement making.  

Labour Relations conducted a number of education and compliance campaigns
to raise employer awareness of their obligations.  A campaign conducted in the
restaurant and café industry in 2001-02 identified high levels of underpayment
of employee wages and non-compliance with award entitlements.  A follow-up
campaign was undertaken in October 2003. The campaign revealed continuing
monetary and non-monetary breaches by employers, with approximately
$175,000 recovered from employers in unpaid wages to employees.  

ODCO style service contracts 

ODCO style contracts involve workers having a tripartite working arrangement
between themselves, a business they provide labour for and a third party that
hires their labour exclusively to the other business. This arrangement renders
the worker to be a contractor, instead of an employee of either of the other
parties.  These arrangements are common in the building industry, and are
recent additions to industries such as retail and hospitality.  

Following concerns from workers operating under these arrangements, a
DOCEP project team was established in January 2004 to investigate matters
relating to ODCO contracts.  The ODCO project team will determine whether
employment arrangements made under these contracts are legally sound, or
whether they are in breach of the state’s current labour relations laws, in which
case compliance and possibly prosecution action will be pursued.

Homebuyers Survival Guide 

Homebuyers needing assistance in buying or building a home received a boost
with the release of the Homebuyers’ Survival Guide for WA in April 2004. With
real estate matters prompting more than 16,000 calls a year to DOCEP and two
Government boards, the guide is designed to offer consumers detailed advice
and educate them before they sign any contracts. Written in plain English, the
guide also includes information on easier living options for over 55s and home
safety information. 
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Alternative property investment seminars 

A community seminar was held in October 2003, which was designed to
provide reliable and factual information to 600 current and prospective property
investors. DOCEP’s Consumer Protection Division organised the seminar
following a proliferation of property investment seminars in Western Australia
charging people up to $16,000,  encouraging them to borrow excessively to
fund property investment. The department’s seminar offered low cost
information on how to evaluate investment proposals, and how to seek reliable
information and advice. 

FuelWatch

The revamped FuelWatch website launched in April provided new features,
including a holiday trip planner, driveway service searches for the aged and
disabled and the ability to personalise the FuelWatch home page to users’
favourite price search results. Custom-made mapping features were developed
in partnership with the Department of Land Information. The use of the site
grew during the year to 205,206 individual visitors in June 2004 compared with
89,586 for the same time last year. The growing popularity of the FuelWatch
website has been matched with increased demand from the media for fuel
pricing information.

In January 2004 the national fuel standards became more closely aligned to the
Western Australian Fuel Specifications, while the national implementation of
supermarket fuel retailers was completed in March. These two changes
contributed to Perth metropolitan motorists benefiting from the lowest
unleaded petroleum (ULP) capital city prices in mainland Australia for the last
four months of the year (allowing for rebates in Brisbane and Melbourne).

Additional WorkSafe inspectors

WorkSafe commenced a program of employing additional inspectors so as to
enforce occupational safety and health law more effectively and continue the
focus on agreed state and national priority areas.  The first eight of a total of 20
new occupational safety and health inspectors to be recruited over the three
years to 2005-06 completed their initial training during the year.  

Motor vehicle repairers’ legislation

Two Bills, the Motor Vehicle Licensing Amendment Bill and the Motor Vehicle
Repairers Bill were passed by Parliament in December 2003. This legislation
provides for improved regulation of the motor vehicle repairer industry.
DOCEP’s Consumer Protection Division is currently establishing the supporting
procedures, education campaign, regulations and licensing programs, which will
be implemented with the introduction of the legislation in 2004-05. 

Saturday trading for banks

Labour Relations prepared drafting instructions for the Public and Bank Holidays
Amendment Bill 2004. The bill was introduced into Parliament in April 2004.  If
passed, the legislation will allow banks to trade on Saturdays, bringing Western
Australia into line with other states.

Reviewing and updating private sector awards

Labour Relations facilitated a major review and updating of 41 private sector
awards by providing cash grants to key award parties, and made a submission
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An independent survey
in February 2004 found

that 72 per cent of
Western Australia’s

private vehicle users
were using FuelWatch,
and saving an average

of $2.50 per week on
their fuel bills. That’s

around $85 million per
year the community
saves on fuel bills!
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to the WAIRC for the establishment of guidelines for updating of all state
awards.  A total of $258,000 was originally provided for cash grants over two
years, of which $105,500 was paid in 2002-03 and $107,750 for 2003-04.
Many of the grants have been paid and the relevant awards have been lodged
in the WAIRC for updating.  

Product safety orders

Consistent with the provisions of the Consumer Affairs Act 1971, DOCEP
introduced product safety orders on the following items: 

• children’s spring loaded umbrellas, children’s toy umbrellas and yoyo balls -
all gazetted 1 July 2003;

• cot for household use (children’s) amendment - gazetted 1 July 2003;
• curtain and blind cords - gazetted 23 January 2004;
• curtain and blind cord amendment - gazetted 16 April 2004; and
• projectile toys - gazetted 17 February 2004.
Further product safety orders for sunglasses and fashion spectacles, toys for
children under three years and frames to support infants in baths are expected
to be introduced early 2004-05.

Regulations under the Fair Trading Act 1987 were also introduced for cigarette
lighters (disposable gas) and gazetted on 10 October 2003.

Fitness Industry Code of Conduct

Fitness WA, the industry peak body, has endorsed the Fitness Industry Code of
Practice developed by Consumer Protection and agreed that its members will
abide by the terms of the Code, consistent with the Fair Trading Act 1987. The
Code is expected to take effect from January 1, 2005 and Consumer Protection
is promoting the Code through relevant awareness programs and publications.

Building industry

The Western Australian Government, along with the Governments of the States
and Territories participated in a working party of State and Territory Senior
Officials to develop a strategy for negotiating changes to the Commonwealth’s
policy of requiring compliance with the National Code as a condition for the
receipt of Commonwealth construction funding

The Government made a submission on the Commonwealth’s Building and
Construction Industry Improvement Bill 2003 (BCIIB) in November 2003
opposing the provisions and framework associated with it. The BCIIB is now
subject to an inquiry by the Senate’s Employment, Workplace Relations and
Education References Committee.

Energy supply security

Energy Safety continued its work at national level to improve capabilities
including representation on National Oil Supplies Emergency Committee and
the Energy Infrastructure Assurance Advisory Committee. These committees
deal with measures to safeguard the operation of key services (liquid fuel, gas,
electricity) in the face of threats and shortages (eg terrorism).

REPORT ON OPERATIONS 
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National uniformity committees

Energy Safety participates in the Electricity Regulatory Authorities Council and
the Gas Technical Regulators Committee, which comprise technical and safety
regulators from all States and Territories of Australia and from New Zealand.
These bodies seek to ensure uniformity in regulatory measures covering
electricity or gas networks, consumers’ installations, appliances and the
licensing of industry personnel.

Association issues

Consumer Protection presented a range of seminars in the Christmas and
Cocos Islands and several Western Australian regions, at which written material
on good governance in the not for profit sector was distributed. An awareness
project aimed at updating the association database was also commenced, and
due to be completed in 2004-05.

Small business and the labour relations system

Helping small business employers understand how to operate within the labour
relations system was the focus of 43 seminars held this year (five of which
were held in regional areas). Topics covered included employment options
available to employers, current provisions relating to termination and
redundancy and differentiation between employees and subcontractors.   

Register of encumbered vehicles

Development of online access to the Register of Encumbered Vehicles (REVS)
database was completed, with DOCEP working with the Department for
Planning and Infrastructure to link to its system to allow the launch of REVS
online in September 2004. 

Promotion of consumer protection 

DOCEP’s Consumer Protection Division participated in a wide range of national
initiatives to promote consumer protection. These included National
Consumer’s Day (March 15, 2004), and the World Internet Sweep, which was
coordinated by the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission.
Consumer Protection used these key events to promote its WA ScamNet
program by distributing information about scams, pyramid schemes, miracle
cures and “get rich quick” schemes.

Consumer Protection prosecutions 

Consumer Protection continued to prosecute people and businesses on
consumer protection matters, such as pyramid scheme promoters, false and
misleading advertising, failing to register a business name and breaches of the
Petroleum Products Pricing Act 1983. The Consumer Protection Division Legal
Unit achieved outcomes in 37 criminal and civil proceedings in Courts and
Tribunals during 2003/04. Details of successful consumer protection
prosecutions are included in Table 33 in Appendix Five.

Energy Safety prosecutions

Table 34 in Appendix Five provides details of prosecution action for breaches of
the Electricity Act 1945 and Electricity (Licensing) Regulations 1991.  Table 35 in
Appendix Five provides details of prosecution action for breaches of the Gas
Standards Act 1972 and Gas Standards (Gasfitting and Consumer Gas
Installations) Regulations 1999.  Appendix Five also provides details of
electricity and gas related accidents and disciplinary activities during 2003-04.
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Labour Relations prosecutions 

Labour Relations carried out a number of successful prosecutions for breaches
of the Industrial Relations Act 1979 and awards under the Act.  For award
breaches, seven prosecutions were finalised. Of these, three were settled prior
to hearing, one was not pursued as the company was insolvent and one claim
was withdrawn.  The matters which proceeded to hearing are outlined in Table
36 in Appendix Five.  

The Building Industry and Special Projects Inspectorate carried out successful
prosecutions for breaches of freedom of association and right of entry of
authorised representatives provisions.   

In addition, two actions were taken to WAIRC against representatives of the
Construction, Forestry, Mining and Energy Union (CFMEU) for revocation or
suspension of their right of entry permits.  The decision of these matters was
handed down on 26 July 2004 with the union officials having their right of entry
permits suspended for a three month period.  

WorkSafe prosecutions

The WorkSafe Reviews and Legal Services unit coordinates the authorisation
and conduct of prosecutions for alleged breaches of the Occupational Safety
and Health Act 1984 and Occupational Safety and Health Regulations 1996.

In 2003-04, complaints were signed for 65 new prosecutions.  Proactive
investigations by WorkSafe (not as a result of an injury or fatality) accounted for
approximately one third of these prosecutions, with the remaining two thirds
arising from work-related incidents. Prosecution action included the areas of
potential falls from height; plants; demolition; and electricity. Fifty-two
prosecutions were finalised, of which forty-three resulted in a conviction, two
were dismissed and seven were withdrawn.  The successful 2003-04
prosecutions are detailed in Table 37 in Appendix Five.   Appendix Five also
contains details of improvement and prohibition notices issued by WorkSafe in
2003-04. 

REPORT ON OPERATIONS 
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STATE GOAL 3: THE ENVIRONMENT

An environment in which resources are managed, developed and used
sustainably

WHAT WE PLANNED TO ACHIEVE

• Improve our recovery rates with wastepaper recycling.
• Monitor and report on the performance of our energy saving initiatives.
• Energy Safety initiatives.
• Using LPG vehicles where practicable.
• Lower vehicle emissions in the State Government vehicle fleet.

REPORT ON OPERATIONS 

Direction

Enhancing the 
capability of the
community

Enhancing the
regulatory 
environment

Enforcing the
law

DOCEP as an 
organisation

Output

Community
information and
assistance

Regulatory
framework

Regulation
enforcement

Contribution

Providing access to knowledge and
information so that consumers can:
• make better informed decisions

regarding the energy efficiency of
appliances.

Developing and maintaining policy and
legislation appropriate for a contemporary
energy marketplace, including:
• reviewing and amending legislation to

reflect government priorities; and
• developing appropriate regulatory

responses to emerging issues.

Enforcing regulations governing the energy
efficiency of appliances to:
• protect consumers; and
• improve the efficiency of how our

natural resources are used.

Effectively managing our physical
resources in order to avoid waste and
reduce emissions, including:
• recycling waste paper; and 
• using gas powered vehicles where

practicable.
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WHAT WE ACHIEVED

Energy saving initiatives

In accordance with the Energy Smart Government policy we have committed to
achieving a 12 per cent reduction in non-transport related energy use by
2006/07.  The Energy Smart program requires a reduction in energy use of 
six per cent between the baseline figures established for 2001-02 and 2003-04.

TABLE 1: ENERGY SAVING INITIATIVES

Energy Smart  2001-02 2003-04 Variation
Government program Baseline
Energy Consumption (MJ) 2,385,048 2,420,974 1.5%
Energy Cost ($) 392,732 394,523
Greenhouse Gas Emissions
(tonnes of CO2) 2,194 2,300
Performance indicators
MJ/sqm 153 149
MJ/FTE 4,169 3,616

Note: DOCEP’s baseline data for 2001/02 has been adjusted from 2,261,398 Kwh to 2,385,048 Kwh to
enable a better comparison with the current structure of the agency.  DOCEP has experienced a
significant increase in staff numbers since 2001/02. While energy consumption in 2003/04 shows a 1.5
per cent increase over the baseline, energy consumption per staff member has declined by over 
13 per cent, well in excess of the Energy Smart program target of 6% for this period.  

DOCEP is committed to achieving Energy Smart targets to reduce its energy
costs to government and its impact on the environment.

During the year, an energy assessment was conducted of DOCEP’s largest
building, the Forrest Centre, as well as 321 Selby Street, Osborne Park.  These
two premises combined account for approximately half of DOCEP’s energy
consumption.  DOCEP has taken steps during the 2003/04 financial year to
implement recommended changes arising out of the assessment.  The full
impact of these changes will become apparent in 2004/05.

In 2003/04, a system of monthly monitoring of DOCEP’s energy consumption
across all twelve DOCEP sites was implemented to gauge its performance
against Energy Smart targets. DOCEP also examined opportunities for improving
energy efficiency at these sites, including the installation of more efficient
lighting and re-configuring switches.  DOCEP’s Energy Executive also continued
to raise staff awareness of energy issues. 

Wastepaper recycling

Within the department, a culture of recycling and reducing waste paper is
encouraged through posters and recycling bins. The department also utilises
the Department of Treasury and Finance common-use contract for paper
recycling. Where possible, technology such as email is utilised to ensure the
amount of waste paper is minimised.

Use of LPG vehicles

In 2001, the State Government announced a LPG Vehicle Policy, which requires
all agencies to substitute at least 25 per cent of their six-cylinder vehicles due
for replacement in a calendar year with LPG fuelled vehicles.  DOCEP met the
25 per cent target in the 2003 calendar year and is committed to ensure
compliance in 2004 and subsequent years. 

REPORT ON OPERATIONS 
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Energy Safety initiatives

The Energy Safety Division develops regulatory processes in line with advances
in technology. The growing popularity of hydrocarbon as a refrigerant is one
such new area of progress. Other areas of progress include the use of
Liquefied Natural Gas and hydrogen to fuel vehicles and large isolated fixed
installations. Gas fitters working on any of these systems need to do so in
compliance with agreed codes and standards under a specific licence from
Energy Safety.

Energy Safety is actively involved in developing and enforcing legislation for
Electrical Appliance Energy Efficiency Labelling and Minimum Energy
Performance Standards and strengthening existing legislation. These activities
are aligned with those of other states and Territories to capture the advantage
of national uniformity in reducing greenhouse gas emissions from the use of
electrical appliances and equipment.

State Government vehicle fleet

As part of WorkSafe’s fleet safety initiative, with significant support from the
Office of Road Safety, which has provided funding for a project officer, vehicle
emission considerations are being included in the criteria for the replacement of
vehicles.  

REPORT ON OPERATIONS 
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STATE GOAL 4: THE REGIONS

Strong and vibrant regional Western Australia

REPORT ON OPERATIONS 

Direction

Enhancing the
capability of the
community

Enhancing the
regulatory
environment

Enforcing the
law

Output

Community
information and
assistance

Regulatory
framework

Regulation
enforcement

Contribution

Providing access to knowledge,
information and support so that regional
consumers and employees can:
• exercise their rights;
• meet their obligations; and
• make better informed decisions in the

consumer and employment
marketplaces.

Developing and maintaining policy and
legislation appropriate for a contemporary
trading and employment marketplace,
including:
• developing regional specific policy

frameworks such as safety on farms;
and 

• enhancing decision making through
gaining a better understanding of
regional issues.

Through offices located at Albany, Bunbury,
Geraldton, Karratha and Kalgoorlie,
enforcing regulations governing:

• consumer protection;
• labour relations;
• occupational safety and health; and
• energy safety;
in regional Western Australia.
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WHAT WE PLANNED TO ACHIEVE

• Provide services to the regions, including advice, assistance and information
to consumers, traders, employers and employees in the regional areas of
Albany, Bunbury, Geraldton, Karratha and Kalgoorlie.

• Raise awareness in rural communities of farm safety hazards and risks, by
producing a Farm Safety Kit for use by lower primary school teachers in rural
schools.

• Trial the use of a regional telecentre as a means to improve access to
consumer protection services in remote communities and conduct regional
community surveys to determine the level of awareness of DOCEP and its
Consumer Protection Division.

• Increase community awareness and education of safe products through
conducting a product safety awareness campaign.

• Add value to DOCEP’s services to the regions according to the State
Government’s Regional Development Policy. 

• Review terms and conditions of employment for public sector employees in
remote locations, in particular attraction and retention benefits and district
allowance.

WHAT WE ACHIEVED

Services to the regions

DOCEP seeks to continually improve service delivery to regional Western
Australia, through its regional offices in Albany, Bunbury, Geraldton, Kalgoorlie
and Karratha. Regional Western Australia also has internet access to
information and services through the DOCEP website. 

The Bunbury office is the location for the trial of a new structure for effective
customer service delivery. The trial commenced in June 2004 and will run for
12 months. Bunbury office will become the leader in the development of new
and improved services and procedures for Customer Service Officer (CSO)
business processes. The senior CSO will provide mentoring and support to all
CSOs in the regions, with backup from the Regional Services Coordinator, who
will work part-time in the regions.  

The trial also provides an improved career path, which should encourage the
attraction and retention of quality CSOs for DOCEP. 

The Annual Regional Conference for senior divisional officers was held in June
2004. This event provides regional staff with a forum to access corporate
training, network with colleagues and address regional issues facing DOCEP
staff.    
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Output One: Community Information and Assistance

Number of % meeting % meeting Average Cost
units of service quality timeliness per unit

standards standards
Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

Advice and Assistance services 16,500 35,531 80% 98% 80% 94% $269.02 $70.08
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New Kalgoorlie office

DOCEP strengthened its commitment to the delivery of services to regional
communities throughout the state with the opening of the new Kalgoorlie office
in September 2003. Kalgoorlie is the final office to be co-located, that is, all the
services of Consumer Protection, Energy Safety and Labour Relations located in
one office. Spare office facilities are included for staff visiting the region.

The amalgamation of regional offices allows better and more extensive use of
resources based in the regions to enhance service delivery outside the
metropolitan area.  

TABLE 2: REGIONAL OFFICES KEY SERVICES

Location No of staff Key services

Albany 4 Consumer Protection
Labour Relations

Bunbury 14 Consumer Protection
Labour Relations
Electrical and gas safety 
Occupational safety and health (OSH)
(Some OSH services, eg. those
covering the forestry, fishing and
agriculture industries, are delivered to
the whole of WA from the office
located in Bunbury)

Geraldton 4 Consumer Protection
Labour Relations
WorkSafe
Energy Safety

Kalgoorlie 5 Consumer Protection
Labour Relations
Energy Safety

Karratha 5 Consumer Protection
WorkSafe
Energy Safety
Labour Relations

Family farm safety kit 

Improving safety on farming properties was the aim behind the development of
a new ‘Family Farm Safety Kit’ to help educate rural children about some of the
most common hazards on farms. Released in February 2004, the kit was
developed by WorkSafe in conjunction with Farmsafe WA. Designed for use by
year 2 and 3 teachers at the 390 regional primary schools around the state, the
kit includes a teacher’s introduction, fact sheets, teacher’s notes information
notes for parents and activity worksheets. The kit was designed to involve
parents and make them more aware of hazards on the farm by helping children
complete the worksheets.
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Regional availability and awareness of consumer protection information

Consumer Protection piloted the use of a regional telecentre for the
distribution of consumer protection information, designed to increase
regional awareness of Consumer Protection services. An agreement
with the Kununurra telecentre was finalised and implemented this year. 

Community telephone surveys of six regional towns were also
undertaken to determine the level of awareness of Consumer
Protection services to provide information on future regional education
initiatives. These surveys were conducted in Kununurra, Geraldton,
Kalgoorlie, Bunbury, Narrogin and Esperance.

Product safety awareness 

DOCEP’s product safety awareness campaign included product safety
promotion in regional centres through agricultural shows and regional events,
such as the Kalgoorlie-Boulder Community Fair, the Kununurra Regional Show
and the Dowerin Field Day. The aim of these events was to increase
community awareness of safe products and associated inspection and
compliance processes.

Regional Western Australia - A Better Place to Live

The State Government’s Regional Development Policy Regional Western
Australia - A Better Place to Live was released by the Premier in November 2003. 

DOCEP has responsibilities for achieving two of the outcomes of the strategy:

• effective government service delivery to regions; and
• safe regional communities.
A summary of DOCEP’s achievements is included in the table below, and
specific details are included in the relevant sections of this report.  

TABLE 3: DOCEP’S REGIONAL ACHIEVEMENTS

Outcome Priorities Achievements

Effective government Improved government
service delivery to regions. regional service delivery Goal 4

Effective government Regional outcomes Goal 4
service delivery to regions. incorporated in all state 

government agency reporting

Effective government Demonstrated substantial Goal 1 & 4
service delivery to regions. improvement in the availability 

of essential services and 
facilities for townsite and 
remote Indigenous communities

Effective government Equitable access to services Goal 1 & 4
service delivery to regions. irrespective of socio-cultural 

status

Effective government Greater numbers of public Goal 4
service delivery to regions. sector employees attracted to 

and retained in regional areas

Safe regional communities Promote workplace safety and Goal 1
safe work practices
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Public sector attraction and retention benefits 

Policy guidelines allowing public sector employing authorities to introduce
attraction and retention benefits to secure suitably skilled and experienced
personnel for specialist positions and remote locations were developed this
year.  The Guidelines and Approved Procedures were developed in consultation
with the Department of Premier and Cabinet. 

Review of district allowance

A major review of district allowance payable to public sector employees based
in remote regional locations was conducted. The allowance compensates
employees for the additional cost of living, the climate and isolation associated
with living in these areas, and is adjusted annually based on the Consumer
Price Index for Perth.  The findings will be referred to Government for
consideration.

Plumbers Licensing Board

Relevant legislation and processing systems have been developed to provide
new services on behalf of the Plumbers Licensing Board from 1 July 2004. This
will provide plumbers in regional Western Australia with the option to purchase
plumbing trade documentation and lodge these forms at regional DOCEP
offices.

Regional community events 

In addition to participating in events in the metropolitan area, DOCEP had a
presence at a number of regional events.  The department’s booths featured
Consumer Protection, Labour Relations and WorkSafe, with a range of
publications from all divisions on display considered most appropriate for the
rural audience.  The department participated in the following regional
community events:

• Kununurra Agricultural Show;
• Dowerin Field Days;
• Mingenew Lions Expo;
• Peel Region Seniors Expo (Mandurah);
• Albany Agricultural Show;
• Donnybrook Apple Festival;
• Orientation Days - Bunbury TAFE;
• Wagin Woolarama;
• Kalgoorlie Fair;
• Margaret River Wine Industry Field Day 2004; and
• Gascoyne Business Expo.
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STATE GOAL 5: GOVERNANCE

Open and effective governance

REPORT ON OPERATIONS 

Direction

Enhancing the
capability of the
community

Enhancing the
regulatory 
environment

Enforcing the
law

DOCEP as an
organisation

Output

Community
information and
assistance

Regulatory
framework

Regulation
enforcement

Contribution

Developing and maintaining effective
partnerships with relevant:
• government;
• non-government; and
• stakeholder groups;
within the community.

Assisting the Government with the
development of policy regarding the public
sector as an employer, including:
• contributing to reviews of relevant

legislation; and
• providing advice concerning labour

relations issues.

Enhancing service delivery through:
• the development of appropriate

regulation enforcement strategies; and
• training staff to meet the needs of the

community.

Developing DOCEP as an organisation 
that has:
• skilled staff;
• resources; and
• commitment;
to deliver consumer and employment
protection outcomes that meet
government expectations.
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WHAT WE PLANNED TO ACHIEVE

• Undertake a number of ‘Government Leading the Way’ strategies including a
focus on fleet safety across the State Government vehicle fleet ensuring
occupational safety and health considerations are included in State
Government tender and contract processes. 

• Assisting the Government as an employer by:
• providing policy and legislative advice, representing the Minister in labour

relations forums, and continuing to implement the labour relations policy
framework;

• negotiating public sector collective agreements, coordinating the
negotiation of agency specific agreements, updating public sector
awards, and providing advisory services to public sector agencies; and

• amending legislation and regulations to implement the recommendations
of the review of Consumer Protection boards and committees and
accommodate the impact of establishment of the SAT.

• Provide full industry funding for technical and safety regulation of the energy
industry as a result of the Functional Review Taskforce.  

• Aggregate complaints and call centre data to Consumer Protection Divisional
level, to facilitate trend analysis and enable quality assessment tools and
measures to be developed and implemented.

• Develop and test a complaints and occupational licensing system that
enables DOCEP to efficiently and effectively administer relevant regulatory
requirements.

• Develop an online business names renewals system.

WHAT WE ACHIEVED

Occupational safety and health in the Western Australian public sector

Throughout 2003-04, the Office of the Director General (ODG) within DOCEP
has been progressing the Occupational Safety and Health in the WA Public
Sector project, which seeks to promote the public sector as a leader in
occupational safety and health (OSH) outcomes. 

Since taking responsibility for the project, two major initiatives and several
smaller contributory sub-projects have been progressed. 

Policies have been developed to increase the integration of OSH as a core
component of State Government tender and contract processes (with an initial
focus on building and construction processes). Good OSH performance must
be demonstrated during the tender/contract process. An expert consultant
panel, established by the Department of Housing and Works, oversees the
tender/contract process to ensure OSH pre-qualifications are being met.

WorkSafe, with assistance from RiskCover and significant support from the
Office of Road Safety, which has provided funding for a project officer, is
progressing the development and implementation of a fleet safety program, for
the purposes of improving fleet safety outcomes for government vehicles.
Work is being carried out that will target a small number of agencies, who
contribute almost 50 per cent of the costs of operating the government fleet
system, to gain management support to develop improved policies and outcomes.

The first of several planned OSH practitioner workshops was held in April 2004,
attended by representatives of each agency identified as having specialist OSH
staff. The workshop was the first step towards meeting the Government’s
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objective of a coordinated and consistent approach to OSH across government
agencies. Based on information gathered from workshop participants and other
approaches to agencies, the ODG has conducted an assessment of the types
of OSH services currently offered by agencies. 

Additionally, the annual reports of public sector agencies have been assessed
with the objective of developing common reporting requirements to ensure that
all government agencies report comparable performance indicators to enable
meaningful comparisons in performance over time. Work is continuing into
quantifying OSH performance in order to establish performance targets.

Government as employer  

The Government commissioned Mr Noel Whitehead to conduct a review of
specific aspects of the Public Sector Management Act 1994.  The review was
completed in January 2004, and recommendations are being considered by the
Government.

The Commissioner of Public Sector Standards commissioned a review of the
Public Sector Management (Examination and Review) Procedures Regulations
2001 in December 2003. DOCEP provided a submission outlining how the
Regulations could be improved.  The Commissioner is currently considering the
review.  

DOCEP coordinates public sector labour relations and consistent management
of across-agency labour relations issues to contribute to an efficient
Government sector.  The review and update of the Public Service Award has
been a major project, and will be used, where appropriate, as a benchmark for
all public sector awards.  

Family friendly initiatives and flexible working arrangements, such as common
flexible working arrangements, personal leave, paid parental leave, and the
option to purchase leave have been included in a number of public sector
agreements. 

Proactive initiatives include providing policy and legislative advice, representing
the Minister in labour relations forums, and making submissions to Federal and
State enquiries on labour relations issues, emerging trends and case law, and
options for further legislative reforms. 

Industry funding for Energy Safety Division

Energy Safety was restructured to a Division of DOCEP on 1 January 2004.
This included an internal restructure to provide better integration of its policy
and operational roles for more effective delivery of services to industry and the
wider community. Following Machinery of Government Review
recommendations, Energy Safety obtained Cabinet approval in principle to
commence the process to seek industry funding for its activities.  

Consumer complaints and compliancy

DOCEP’s Consumer Protection Division developed a comprehensive
Compliance Manual for use by its investigators. This manual standardises
procedures for all Consumer Protection staff, and training and implementation
will occur from July 2004.

Consumer Protection also completed a project to aggregate complaints and call
centre data to facilitate trend analysis and support the implementation of a
human resources performance management system. An aggregated reporting
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mechanism has been established, along with relevant quality assessment tools
and measures for all operational areas. 

Progress was also made towards implementing a new complaints and
occupational licensing system. The Functional Requirements Specification for
the system has been finalised, and design and implementation will occur in
2004-05. This system will enable DOCEP to efficiently and effectively
administer relevant regulatory requirements.

Online business names renewals

Consumer Protection progressed the development of online business name
renewals, which provides a convenient renewal facility for businesses.  The
system is expected to go live in July 2004.

Effective partnerships 

DOCEP continued to provide funding to the Consumer Credit Legal Service
during 2003-04 for the thirteenth year. This commitment will be taken over and
administered by the Department of Justice in 2004-05.

WA Council of Social Services secondment

The department funded an officer’s secondment to the WA Council of Social
Services from May 2003 to February 2004 to assist in the development of
consumer related policy initiatives. Following the success of this program, the
Minister has endorsed a proposal to continue to support non-Government
consumer organisations through officer secondment.

Consumer Advisory Council 

A new Consumer Advisory Council was established in October 2003 to allow
consumers to have direct input into Government decisions relating to consumer
affairs issues and legislation. The nine inaugural members come from both
metropolitan and regional areas, and are supported by an Executive Officer
employed by DOCEP. The Commissioner for Fair Trading, Patrick Walker, is an
ex-officio member.

Establishment of State Administrative Tribunal (SAT)

The amendment of legislation and regulations to implement the
recommendations of the review of Consumer Protection boards and
committees and accommodate the impact of establishment of the SAT was
deferred. Ultimately, it will ensure the development of an approved model for
the future role and functions of the Consumer Protection boards and charges
associated with the establishment of SAT. 
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Output Three: Regulation Enforcement

Number of % meeting % meeting Average Cost
units of service quality timeliness per unit

standards standards
Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

Compliance Actions 60,000 68,915 80% 72% 80% 83% $478.02 $468.46
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DOCEP’s Compliance strategy launched 

In 2003 DOCEP launched its compliance strategy, which establishes the
department’s  approach to enforcing the law. The compliance strategy and its
associated enforcement policies enable consumers, traders, employees and
employers to understand DOCEP’s approach to achieving compliance with
relevant legislation.

DOCEP recognises the way in which it responds can influence the behaviour of
individuals and organisations. DOCEP’s aim is to encourage compliance. The
model identifies the environment that influences compliance, along with a
range of approaches that can be used for ensuring compliance.

Energy Safety examples:

• 17 electrical contractor/worker licences cancelled or suspended
• One gas operatives permits cancelled or suspended
• Ten electrical operatives required to undertake a competency assessment

WorkSafe examples:

• nearly 25,000 investigations (including investigations in priority areas)
• over 12,500 enforcement notices issued
• 65 prosecutions

Labour Relations examples:

• Five Labour Relations prosecutions
• A Restaurant and café compliance campaign
• A Time and wages records campaign

REPORT ON OPERATIONS 
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Consumer Protection examples:

• Traders named: rogue traders who have been found to be non-compliant,
and are considered high risk to consumers, are named in the public arena.
This then improves consumer awareness of the traders, and decreases the
likelihood of consumers being ‘bitten’ by the named trader.

• Prosecutions. 
• Inspections: traders in specific industries are inspected (either in response to

a complaint or proactively) for their compliance with legislation. Focus areas
include trading standards, vehicle dealers, real estate agents, petroleum
pricing and retail traders.

Customer Service Strategy

A new Customer Service Strategy was implemented this year to cater for
DOCEP’s wide range of customers. The strategy evolved from the
department’s corporate plan, Future Directions 2002-2005, which has key
principles of customer focus and a corporate culture committed to serving
customers. 

The Customer Service Strategy provides guidance to management and staff on:

• customer service standards and how to put those standards into action at
DOCEP;

• linking customer service with human resource practices;
• ensuring that processes and systems are customer-focussed;
• communicating with customers; and 
• how best to measure progress in improving service delivery and customer

service outcomes.
Customer satisfaction should be tested against a number of measures, as
reliance upon a single measure including “customer satisfaction” may not be
representative of all factors contributing to customer service excellence.

The current major source of performance results across DOCEP is Output
Based Management (OBM) reporting against performance measures.  The
OBM results for functions that relate to “customer demand driven
transactions” will be a primary indicator of our customer service performance
for 2003-04.

During 2003-04, we focussed on increasing staff awareness of customer
service standards and issues across DOCEP, ensuring our human resource
processes reflect the department’s commitment to customer service and
improved recording and use of customer feedback.

REPORT ON OPERATIONS 

Output One: Community Information and Assistance

Number of % meeting % meeting Average Cost
units of service quality timeliness per unit

standards standards
Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

Reponses to 
customer enquiries 770,000 955,575 80% 93% 80% 82% $6.67 $5.22

“Our staff are committed
to understanding and
striving to exceed our

customer service
standards and to

encouraging customer
feedback to improve our

services. We want our
customers to be able to

access consistent,
accurate, timely and

relevant services and
information.”
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In 2004-05, we will use the following performance measures, in addition to our
OBM measures, to assess our progress in implementing and improving our
level of service to customers.

TABLE 4: PERFORMANCE MEASURES AND TARGETS FOR 2004-05

Performance measure 2004-05
Target

Extent to which frontline areas meet customer service standards 80%

Extent to which internal support service areas meet customer 80%
service standards

Extent to which staff believe DOCEP has adopted the principles 80%
and practices of a customer-focused organisation.

Extent to which actions in DOCEP Customer Service Strategy 
have been implemented 80%

Average time taken to finalise customer complaint 10 working
days

Extent to which customer feedback being considered to initiate 
improvements to services 80%

REPORT ON OPERATIONS 



Enabling legislation ............................................................52

Legislation administered....................................................52

Responsible ministers .......................................................54

Statement of compliance with public sector 
standards in human resource management......................55

Pricing policies...................................................................56

Freedom of information (FOI)............................................56

Evaluations.........................................................................56

Record keeping plan (RKP) ................................................57

Public interest disclosures.................................................57

Advertising.........................................................................58

Corporate Compliance Statements

Department of Consumer and Employment Protection  •  Annual Report 2003-04        PAGE 51

Corporate Compliance Statements

4S E C T I O N



Department of Consumer and Employment Protection  •  Annual Report 2003-04        PAGE 52

Corporate Compliance Statements

ENABLING LEGISLATION

The Department of Consumer and Employment Protection was established as a
department under Section 21 of the Public Sector Management Act 1994.

LEGISLATION ADMINISTERED

DOCEP assists the Minister with the administration of legislation listed in
Appendix 1.

LEGISLATION AFFECTING DEPARTMENTAL ACTIVITIES 

In the performance of its functions, DOCEP complies with the following
relevant written laws:
• A New Tax System (Fringe Benefits Reporting) Act 1999;
• A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999;
• Appropriation (Consolidated Fund) Act 1999;
• Disability Services Act 1993;
• Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003;
• Electoral Act 1907;
• Equal Opportunity Act 1984;
• Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985;
• Freedom of Information Act 1992;
• Government Employees’ Housing Act 1964;
• Government Employees’ Superannuation Act 1987;
• Industrial Relations Act 1979;
• Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951;
• Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993;
• Mutual Recognition (Western Australia) Act 1995;
• Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984;
• Occupational Safety and Health Regulations 1996;
• Occupiers’ Liability Act 1985;
• Public and Bank Holidays Act 1972;
• Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003;
• Public Sector Management Act 1994;
• Public Sector Management (Redeployment and Redundancy) Regulations 1994;
• Salaries and Allowances Act 1975;
• Spam Act 2003;
• State Supply Commission Act 1991;
• State Records Act 2000;
• Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981; and
• Workplace Agreements Act 1993.

CORPORATE COMPLIANCE STATEMENTS
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The following written laws also impact on DOCEP’s activities:
• Competition Policy Reform (WA) Act 1996;
• Constitution Act 1889;
• Constitution Acts Amendment Act 1899;
• Coroners Act 1996;
• Criminal Code Act Compilation Act 1913;
• Defence Act 1903;
• Evidence Act 1906; 
• Financial Agreements Acts;
• Interpretation Act 1984;
• Interpretation Act 1984;
• Trade Practices Act 1974; and
• Treasurer’s Advance Authorisation Supply, Loan and Appropriation.

In the financial administration of DOCEP we have, to the best of our
knowledge, complied with the requirements of the Financial Administration and
Audit Act 1985 and every other relevant law and exercised controls which
provide reasonable assurance that the receipt and expenditure of moneys and
acquisition and disposal of public property and incurring liabilities have been in
accordance with legislative provisions. At the date of signing, I am not aware of
any circumstances that would render the particulars included in this statement
misleading or inaccurate.

Accountable Officer

Principal Accounting Officer

CORPORATE COMPLIANCE STATEMENTS
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RESPONSIBLE MINISTERS

The Department of Consumer and Employment Protection is responsible to the
Hon John Kobelke MLA, Minister for Consumer and Employment Protection,
for the administration of consumer protection, labour relations, and occupational
safety and health legislation.

The Director of Energy Safety and staff of Energy Safety are responsible to the
Hon Eric Ripper MLA, Deputy Premier, Treasurer and Minister for Energy, for
administration of legislation dealing with the technical and safety regulation of
all electricity and most gas activities in Western Australia. 

CORPORATE COMPLIANCE STATEMENTS
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH PUBLIC SECTOR STANDARDS
IN HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

In the administration of the Department of Consumer and Employment
Protection, I have complied with the Public Sector Standards in Human
Resource Management, the Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics
and our Code of Conduct.

I have put in place procedures designed to ensure such compliance and have
undertaken appropriate internal processes to satisfy myself the statement
made above is correct.

Such processes include:

• conducting regular reviews of human resource policies and procedures to
ensure consistency with public sector standards, and to promote best
practice and quality assurance;

• incorporating broad employee consultation and input into policy
development, and ensuring these policies are widely communicated and
accessible via DOCEP’s Intranet. A Consultation Draft of new/reviewed HR
Policies is placed on the Intranet and the opportunity to provide feedback
promoted to all staff.   This process provides all employees with an
awareness and ownership of human resource policies;

• providing a comprehensive induction program that raises staff awareness of
the Code of Ethics, the Code of Conduct and other relevant human resource
policies and practices;

• providing relevant training programs to managers and employees to ensure
those in attendance have a knowledge and understanding of human
resource policies, processes and compliance requirements. For example,
this year DOCEP conducted mandatory training for all staff in anti bullying;
and

• providing human resource staff - through their attendance at appropriate
training workshops and seminars - with skills enabling them to provide
accurate advice and support to managers and employees in all areas of
human resource management.

Applications for breach of standards review and investigations/audits for the
period up to 30 June 2004 are:

Of the four breach claims against the Public Sector Standards in Human
Resource Management lodged under the Public Sector Management
(Examination and review Regulations) Procedures 2001, one was withdrawn
and three were resolved within our department.

DIRECTOR GENERAL
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AND EMPLOYMENT PROTECTION

August 2004

CORPORATE COMPLIANCE STATEMENTS

Number of breach claims against the Public Sector Standards 4
in Human Resource Management lodged under the Public Sector 
Management (Examination and Review Regulations) Procedures 2001.

Investigations undertaken by OPSSC where there was an Nil
adverse opinion.

Compliance Audit. Nil
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PRICING POLICIES 

Statutory fees are charged for various licensing and other services provided by
DOCEP. Details are contained on DOCEP’s website at www.docep.wa.gov.au
Fees are increased in line with Government policy and DOCEP is currently
consolidating the process to enable all price changes to be included in a single
gazettal. 

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION (FOI)

The Manager of Corporate Information oversees the management of FOI
records and is the nominated DOCEP contact for the Information Commission.

Each division has a nominated FOI officer that coordinates the FOI requests
and ensures the integrity of its records management. The administration of FOI
requests may vary to meet the particular needs of each division. At Consumer
Protection, Corporate Information is the first point of contact for FOI requests.
At WorkSafe, the Manager of the Customer Services Centre is the first point of
contact. At Energy Safety, Corporate Information is first point of contact. 

TABLE 5: FREEDOM OF INFORMATION STATISTICS 2003-04

Division Personal Non Withdrawn Total 
Info Personal dealt with 

2003-04

Labour Relations 1 Nil Nil 1

Energy Safety Nil 20 Nil 20

Consumer Protection 2 27 4 33

WorkSafe 1 89 Nil 90

TOTAL 4 136 4 144

Information Statement 

DOCEP’s Freedom of Information Statement has been prepared in accordance
with Section 96 of the Freedom of Information Act 1992. The full document is
available on the department’s website at www.docep.wa.gov.au

EVALUATIONS

DOCEP undertook a number of evaluations during the past year. A summary of
the evaluations is included in the table below, and specific details are included
in the relevant sections of this report.  

TABLE 6: EVALUATIONS SUMMARY

Area Type of Evaluation Further information

CP FuelWatch survey Goal 2

CP Regional telephone survey of 
consumer awareness Goal 4

CP KPI study of consumer market For KPI purposes

CP Customer satisfaction surveys For OBM purposes

ES Customer satisfaction survey For KPI and OBM purposes

LR Wageline and Compliance 
customer surveys For KPI and OBM purposes

CORPORATE COMPLIANCE STATEMENTS
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RECORD KEEPING PLAN (RKP)

The past year has seen the Corporate Information Branch transform itself into
an integrated function with a driving strategic focus that sets the pace in
meeting the contemporary needs of document management. 

DOCEP’s Corporate Information Branch worked on the RKP, a compliance
requirement of the State Records Act 2000, for the first half of this financial
year. The plan was required by March 2004, and DOCEP completed and
submitted it to the State Records Office in December 2003.  

The second half of the year focused on the process of developing an innovative
Integrated Document Management System (IDMS) Project, designed to meet
the needs of eGovernment and an eCommerce environment.   The IDMS
project is a business service and an enterprise component within the Online
Strategic Services Plan, that defines DOCEP’s vision to transform the delivery
of its services online.

The Cabinet Steering Committee approved funding for the IDMS project in
October 2003, and tenders closed in June 2004. A Steering Committee,
consisting of three Executive Directors and Directors from the divisions, the
Project Director (Director of Information Systems), and the Project Manager
(Manager of Corporate Information Branch), is progressing the project.  

The implementation of the RKP has made a major contribution in the
preparation of the environment for the IDMS project.  

Activities include the:

• ongoing standardisation of policy, process and procedures, introduction of a
quality and compliance function to meet the requirement of the RKP;

• re-alignment of the structure of the Corporate Information Branch to reflect
the appropriate competencies and skills levels required for a more complex
operating environment;

• training of both Corporate Information and all DOCEP staff as required; and
• successful implementation of pilots to test the current environment for the

IDMS.

PUBLIC INTEREST DISCLOSURES 

Corporate Executive appointed the Director Human Resources as the Public
Interest Disclosure (PID) officer in 2003. Following that appointment, all staff
were advised of the legislation and their rights and responsibilities in relation to
the Public Interest Disclosure Act. To enhance communication of this initiative,
the agency established a link on both its intranet and Internet for individuals
considering a PID action. Internal procedures have been put in place to ensure
confidentiality, and to date, no public interest disclosures have been made.

CORPORATE COMPLIANCE STATEMENTS
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Advertising and sponsorship 

In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, DOCEP incurred
the following expenditure in advertising, market research, polling, direct mail
and media advertising.

Total expenditure for 2003-04 was $863,727.41. Expenditure was incurred in
the areas outlined in Table 7 below. 

TABLE 7: ADVERTISING AND SPONSORSHIP EXPENDITURE FOR 2003-04

Advertising agencies
• JDA $101,858.14
• MJB&B
• Vinten Browning

Market research organisations $163,399.10
• Market Equity
• Patterson Market Research
• Colmar Brunton
• Advantage

Polling organisations Nil

Direct mail organisations $4,731.69
• Lasermail

Media advertising $593,738.48
• Brainstorm
• Media Decisions
• Marketforce Productions

CORPORATE COMPLIANCE STATEMENTS
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DEPARTMENT OPERATING STRUCTURE / CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

DOCEP operates under a governance structure, with authority and
accountability shared between the Director General and the divisions. The
Director General is ultimately accountable for the full range of DOCEP’s
activities. However, each division, through its relevant Executive Director, has
considerable autonomy in day-to-day decision-making, allocation of resources
and determination of priorities in their domains.  

The divisions operate within the broad parameters of DOCEP’s strategic and
corporate plans that are agreed collectively through the Corporate Executive
and apply across the department. Corporate Executive includes the Director
General and Executive Directors from all divisions, and meets fortnightly. Each
division has an Executive Management Committee chaired by the relevant
Executive Director.

Corporate and support services are provided centrally by the Corporate Services
Division and the Office of the Director General.

DOCEP’s Corporate Charter sets out its corporate governance principles, which
include:

• accountability and decision-making;
• role and operation of Corporate Executive;
• strategic planning and reporting;
• financial and human resource management; and
• ministerial communications and correspondence.

The Corporate Charter was adopted in November 2003 and is reviewed and
updated regularly.

OUR OFFICE

L-R: Nina Lyhne, Jeff Radisich, Brian Roche, Albert Koenig, Brian Bradley

and Patrick Walker (Chris White was unavailable for this photo).
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Corporate Executive 

Brian Bradley PSM  
Director General 

Brian Bradley has 39 years experience in the state public sector, having been
involved principally in safety and health since 1983. He also has experience in
labour relations and consumer protection and is the current Chairperson of the
Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation Commission. Brian is also a member
of the National Occupational Health and Safety Commission (NOHSC), chair of
the NOHSC Prevention Committee and deputy chair of the WorkSafe Western
Australia Commission. 

Patrick Walker
Executive Director, Consumer Protection
Commissioner of Fair Trading and Prices Commissioner

Patrick Walker commenced his current position as Commissioner for Fair
Trading and Prices Commissioner in June 1998. Prior to this, he had extensive
management experience in local government, with most recent positions as
Chief Executive Officer at the City of Subiaco (1993 to 1998) and Chief
Executive Officer at the Town of Narrogin (1986 to 1993). In addition to
performing the role of Executive Director, Consumer Protection, Patrick is also a
member of the Legal Aid Commission of Western Australia and a member of
the Medical Board of Western Australia.

Jeff Radisich
Executive Director, Labour Relations

Jeff Radisich was appointed as Acting Executive Director Labour Relations in
July 2001. Prior to this appointment, he was Acting Chief Executive Officer,
Department of Productivity and Labour Relations from February 2001. Jeff has
extensive experience in public sector labour relations since 1982. His
experience and expertise covers the provision of services to the Government,
public and private sectors on labour relations legislation, policy and practice.

Nina Lyhne
Executive Director, WorkSafe
Commissioner of WorkSafe Western Australia 

Nina Lyhne was appointed as Executive Director and Commissioner of
WorkSafe Division in April 2004. Prior to this appointment she was Acting
Executive Director of the WorkSafe Division. Previously, Nina was the
Executive Director of DOCEP’s Strategy Division, a member of the WorkSafe
Western Australia Corporate Executive, and Executive Director of the Office of
Road Safety (1998 to 2000). Nina has extensive experience in the State
Government where she has worked for five different agencies in sectors
ranging from commerce and trade, to community development, to occupational
safety and health. She has been a member of the Corporate Executive of the
last three agencies in which she has worked.

Albert Koenig
Executive Director, Energy Safety

Albert Koenig also holds the statutory position of Director of Energy Safety,
which is responsible for all electricity and most gas related technical and safety
regulation in the state.  He is an engineer with wide experience in energy
industry regulation. He was instrumental in the planning and establishment of
his organisation as an independent regulatory unit from 1 January 1995, when
the State Energy Commission of WA ceased as part of the restructuring of the

OUR OFFICE
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energy industry.  Prior to this, he worked in the utility industry, consulting
engineering, heavy industry and in the Public Works Department of WA.  He is
currently a member of various national and state level boards and committees
dealing with technical standardisation, emergency management and critical
infrastructure security and resilience.

Brian Roche 
Executive Director, Corporate Services

Brian Roche was appointed Executive Director, Corporate Services in June
2004. Prior to this appointment he was Acting Executive Director, Corporate
Services. Previously Brian was the Assistant Commissioner, Corporate Services
at the Office of the Commissioner of Workplace Agreements. Brian has
extensive experience in corporate services and management at executive levels
in state and local government, as well as in large private organisations.

Chris White
A/Executive Director, Office of the Director General

Chris White was appointed Acting Executive Director, Office of the Director
General in November 2002. Prior to this, he held the position of Assistant
Director Strategy at WorkCover Western Australia. Chris has extensive
experience within WorkSafe, where he held the positions of Director of Policy
and Director of Information. He has experience in policy development and
implementation, as well as strategic planning.

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
The Corporate Executive Team of DOCEP acknowledges the requirement to
declare any existing or proposed contract between DOCEP and a senior officer
and reports that during this financial year there were no conflicts of this nature
to declare.

OUR OFFICE
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CORPORATE ORGANISATIONAL CHART 
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INFORMATION RESOURCES 

DOCEP now has enhanced information management systems to better track
offenders across consumer protection industry areas, integrate business and
company registers and improve the management of investigation caseloads.

Compliance systems and standards for Consumer Protection have been
rationalised, with all details input into one system that produces a single set of
reports.  Aggregated data across all Consumer Protection compliance areas is
now produced monthly.

A new Compliance and Licensing system (CALS) designed to integrate
Consumer Protection licensing and compliance systems is expected to be
operational by December 2004. CALS will also provide template letters and
caseload management tools. Features include automated links to Business
Names and Australian Securities and Investment Commission  companies
databases to ensure ongoing alignment with the correct entities  (currently
done through manual cross-matches).

A new compliance case management system is being developed for Labour
Relations and is expected to be implemented in mid 2005.  The system will be
integrated with the Consumer Protection CALS system and will include
features designed to enhance workflow and automate manual processes.
Features include validation and searching against Business Names WA,
increased reporting on performance indicators and reminders of overdue and
near due tasks.

DOCEP is also contributing to an initiative to establish a national database by
2005 that will exchange consumer protection enforcement information.  Known
as Auzshare, the system will alert jurisdictions of illegal activities that may be
taken across borders, and result in uniform coding of complaint data across all
Australian jurisdictions.

CAPITAL WORKS PROGRAM 

The 2003-04 Capital Works Program amounted to $2.1 million and includes a
range of projects that provide the necessary infrastructure support to enable
DOCEP to deliver services against the budgeted outputs.

DOCEP continued with ongoing replacement of computer equipment and
programs commenced in 2002/03 included the enhancement of the Online
Services and Business Systems.  New capital projects included upgrading
corporate technology, and accommodation and computing equipment for the
additional WorkSafe inspectors.  A summary is outlined in Table 8.

OUR RESOURCES

Output Three: Regulation Enforcement

Number of % meeting % meeting Average Cost
units of service quality timeliness per unit

standards standards
Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

Registration Services 690,000 821,693 80% 95% 80% 86% $5.75 $4.02

Licensing Services 31,500 38,629 80% 91% 80% 92% $123.69 $84.53
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TABLE 8: CAPITAL WORKS PROJECTS

Project Title Estimated Estimated Planned Explanation
Total Cost Cost to Year of of Variation

Complete Completion to Planned 
Cost

Computer Completed
Replacement $ 1,621,000 $ 0 2004 No variation

WorkSafe Scientific 
and Office Equipment Completed 
2002-03 $ 10,000 $ 0 2004 No variation

Corporate Technology Completed 
Program 2003-04 $ 164,000 $ 0 2004 No variation

Office Furniture and Completed 
Equipment $ 20,000 $ 0 2004 No variation

WorkSafe Scientific  
and Office Equipment Completed 
2003-04 $ 10,000 $ 0 2004 No variation

Infrastructure for No variation
Additional Staff $ 386,000 $ 8,000 2004-2005 expected

Business Systems No variation
Development $ 2,070,000 $ 1,473,767 2004-2005 expected

Corporate Technology No variation
Infrastructure $ 648,000 $ 261,734 2004-2005 expected

DOCEP eBiz $ 1,540,000 $ 1,165,970 2004-2005 No variation
expected

Computer and 
Software Program No variation
2002-03 $ 493,000 $ 83,192 2004-2005 expected

Computer and 
Software Program No variation
2003-04 $ 791,000 $ 595,420 2004-2005 expected

Additional WorkSafe 
Inspectors No variation
Infrastructure $ 381,000 $ 301,009 2004-2005 expected

Computer and No variation
Software 2004-2005 $127,000 $ 127,000 2005-2006 expected

Minor Equipment No variation
Purchases $ 952,000 $ 532,769 2004-2005 expected

OUR RESOURCES
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OUR PEOPLE

The wide variety of services provided by DOCEP demands expertise of staff
from a diverse range of backgrounds. At 30 June 2004, the workforce
comprised 770 employees (707 FTEs), plus 71 members of boards who were
paid through the payroll system. This compared with 762 staff last year.

DOCEP recognises staff members as key internal customers, and to maximise
the efficiency and effectiveness of staff performance, the department manages
its people through a range of policies, procedures and feedback mechanisms.

Building a team environment following the amalgamation continues to be a key
focus. This was enhanced this year with the development of the Leadership
Team. The theme of the team’s inaugural meeting was “Pathways for People”,
and focused on uniting all staff under the DOCEP banner. This is essential for
DOCEP staff to provide support for one another and develop and work as a
team to meet the needs of its customers.

POLICIES

DOCEP is developing new human resource policies and procedures based on
“best practice principles” to replace those currently in use.  The Human
Resources Advisory Committee completed its work in early 2004 and new
systems have now been put in place to ensure that all staff are consulted (a
Consultation Draft of new/reviewed HR Policies is placed on the Intranet and
the opportunity to provide feedback promoted to all staff).

A key achievement for the Human Resource Directorate this year was the
implementation of the “Prevention of Workplace Bullying Among DOCEP
Employees” policy, which involved organising mandatory sessions for all staff
on this serious occupational safety and health issue. Employees are now highly
aware of the fact that all staff have the right to enjoy a safe working
environment, and that DOCEP is committed to protecting employees from
bullying behaviour. Sessions will continue to be conducted quarterly to train
new employees, and current staff who have not yet attended.

Another significant achievement was the introduction of a new Performance
Development System. The Learning and Development Team worked with
managers and staff to help build a Performance Development System for
DOCEP, which will give managers and staff the chance to agree on
expectations of their roles. Staff will be equipped with the skills to contribute to
their own professional development and help decide how they want to be
assessed and reviewed. Management attended workshops to prepare them for
the first review cycle that will be completed by August 2004.

The following policies have been endorsed and implemented:

• Prevention of Violence by Clients Against DOCEP Employees policy and
guidelines; 

• Prevention of Bullying Among DOCEP Employees policy and guidelines; 
• Performance Development System;
• Family Room Guidelines - Forrest Centre;
• Family Room Guidelines - Dumas House; and
• Job Description Form Template.

OUR PEOPLE
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RECRUITMENT, SELECTION AND REDEPLOYMENT

The Inspector Development System introduced this year helped new WorkSafe
inspectors gain the required skills, knowledge and competencies to do their
jobs well and be considered for advancement in their employment. The
inspectors play a key role in keeping the state’s workplaces safer. 

Statewide, there has been progression towards adoption of the Recruitment
Advertising Management System (RAMS).  RAMS fully integrates systems for
managing redeployment and advertising public service positions.  In addition, it
will streamline redeployment, severance and entry-level recruitment systems
and also allow for the management of candidates for advertised positions.  For
instance, job seekers can now download information about job vacancies from
the Western Australian government internet job board www.jobs.wa.gov.au

The total number of redeployees has decreased from five at 30 June 2003, to
four as at June 30, 2004. DOCEP continues to provide encouragement, support
and opportunities to redeployees, so they can find alternative employment. 

DOCEP continues its commitment to providing employment for people with
disabilities, in conjunction with Bizlink WA and Edge Employment Solutions.
DOCEP’s latest venture with Edge is to place a student for initial assessment
as part of the Government’s School Based Traineeship program.

DOCEP’s Employee Assistance providers continue to offer an independent,
confidential and professional counselling service to all employees and their
immediate families. All counsellors are registered psychologists or social
workers and have extensive experience in dealing with a wide range of
problems. 

LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT

In late 2003 to March 2004, DOCEP’s Human Resources Directorate conducted
mandatory training for all staff as part of the implementation of DOCEP’s
“Prevention of Workplace Bullying Among DOCEP Employees” policy.  The
training continues to be delivered on a quarterly basis to all new employees.

New employees now have easy access to a user-friendly online induction
package.  Information on human resources services is available as well as links
to policies, awards and agreements.

The Learning and Development branch has either coordinated or provided a
number of additional training courses including: 

• Conflict Management;
• Government Employee Superannuation Board seminars;
• Certificate IV Workplace Training and Assessment;
• Certificate IV Government Statutory Investigations (Enforcement); and
• Application and Interview Techniques.

In addition, the branch facilitated Strategic Planning workshops for the
Plumbers Licensing Board, Communications Team and the Finance Division, as
well as DOCEP Leadership Forums designed to generate commitment to the
organisational leadership needs. 

OUR PEOPLE
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OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH COMMITTEE

The department seeks to achieve positive OSH outcomes and has an
Occupational Safety and Health Committee.

Since 30 June 2003 the Occupational Safety and Health Committee has met
nine times.  DOCEP’s OSH Committee met throughout 2003-04 to discuss a
range of issues and initiatives including:

• accidents and incidents investigations;
• wellness programs such as the development of a Find 30 Minutes

Pedometer Program;
• investigation of the First Responder System (provides early access to

defibrillation);
• provision of fire extinguisher training for all Fire Wardens;
• employee safety awareness sessions;
• safety devices for the use of laptops in motor vehicles;
• workplace inspections;
• duress alarms;
• access to buildings;
• safety glasses; and
• review of OSH policies.

OSH PERFORMANCE STATISTICS

In accordance with the Human Resource Minimum Obligatory Information
Requirements (HR MOIR) of the Department of Premier and Cabinet, DOCEP
provides the following summary statistics. 

TABLE 9: HR MOIR FIGURES 2003-04

HR MOIR INDICATOR DOCEP RESULT

Rehabilitation success rate 100%

Lost time injury/disease frequency rate 2.78

Cost of claims incurred per $100 wageroll 0.03

Contribution rate 0.69

WORKERS’ COMPENSATION AND REHABILITATION STATISTICS

TABLE 10: WORKERS’ COMPENSATION FIGURES 2003-04

WORKERS’ COMPENSATION MEASURE DOCEP RESULT

Total number of active claims during 2003-04 20

Total number of new workers’ compensation claims received 
during the year 2003-04 6

Total cost of all claims $197,302

OUR PEOPLE
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HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

The cessation of the Government contract for computerised personnel and
payroll services with Fujitsu Australia made it imperative for DOCEP to
implement a single cohesive personnel and payroll system.  CONCEPT Alesco
was selected and implemented as the new Personnel and Payroll System.

EQUAL OPPORTUNITY OUTCOMES 

TABLE 11:  EMPLOYEES BY SALARY LEVEL AND GENDER (EXCLUDING
MEMBERS OF BOARDS)

Salary levels 2003 2004

Women Men Women Men

$0 to $35,951 105 56 64 17

$35,951 to $41,420 111 39 107 47

$41,421 to $46,640 54 33 72 37

$46,641 to $51,883 30 62 46 58

$51,884 to $60,377 44 93 52 95

$60,378 to $70,355 15 42 25 48

$70,356 to $79,686 16 32 19 39

$79,687 to $91,298 2 16 6 20

$91,299 to $103,693 4 3 3 5

Greater than $103,693 1 4 2 8

Totals 382 380 396 374

NOTE:  The above figures for 2004 do not include the 71 board members.

Achieving more equitable gender balance

DOCEP recognises that achieving an equitable gender balance is closely linked
to the achievement of the Equal Opportunity Management Plan.  DOCEP’s
strategies to achieve a more equitable gender balance include:

• continual monitoring and reporting on Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO)
Groups;

• all job descriptions are reviewed as they are advertised.  Levels 4 and above
have a criterion on EEO and Diversity;

• all selection panel members are advised of their responsibilities under the
Public Sector Standards and EO Act;

• mandatory training was provided to all staff in EEO, with new staff provided
with this information at induction; and

• regular articles are submitted for placement in HR News in respect to EEO,
bullying, harassment and Grievance Resolution Procedures.

OUR PEOPLE
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Balancing work and family

DOCEP has family-friendly work practices available to help employees balance
their work and family responsibilities.

DOCEP’s Forrest Centre, Westcentre and Dumas House offices have family
rooms where staff can work and oversee the care of family members when
normal day care arrangements are unavailable.

Employees also have access to flexible working hours and flexible leave
arrangements, and are able to work from home or on a part-time basis where
practicable. Employees are updated regarding their work options through
DOCEP News staff newsletter.

DOCEP EMPLOYEE ACHIEVEMENTS AND COMMUNITY
COMMITMENTS

Director General Brian Bradley was presented with a Public Service Medal for
outstanding public service in September 2003. Brian has played a pivotal role in
the development of modern occupational safety and health framework in
Western Australia. In a public sector career spanning more than 35 years, his
contribution was described as being unsurpassed.

FuelWatch’s Assistant Prices Commissioner, Barbara Macnish won the Western
Australian division of the Telstra Business Women’s Award in the TMP/Hudson
Community and Government Award category. Barbara was nominated by a
colleague for her work on the FuelWatch program. 

DOCEP entered a team in the Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation’s Annual
Walk to Cure Diabetes in October 2003, contributing to researching diabetes in
children.

Energy Safety Division staff and their families again participated in Western
Power’s Greening Challenge tree planting campaign in July 2003. 

OUR PEOPLE
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BOARDS, COMMITTEES AND TRIBUNALS

REGULATORY BOARDS AND COMMITTEES / TRIBUNALS

The boards in the Consumer and Employment Protection portfolio have a range
of functions including licensing of participants in relevant industries,
investigating complaints about the conduct of industry participants and taking
disciplinary action where appropriate.  A brief summary of the functions of each
board is outlined on the following pages in Table 12.

BOARDS, COMMITTEES AND TRIBUNALS
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BOARDS, COMMITTEES AND TRIBUNALS

* Signifies self funded Board or Committee

TABLE 12: REGULATORY BOARDS AND COMMITTEES / TRIBUNALS
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COMMITTEES AND BUILDING DISPUTES TRIBUNAL

Table 13 below is a brief summary of the functions of each committee and the
Building Disputes Tribunal, which fall within DOCEP’s portfolio.

TABLE 13: COMMITTEES AND BUILDING DISPUTES TRIBUNAL

BOARDS, COMMITTEES AND TRIBUNALS

BOARD /
COMMITTEE

LEGISLATION

PRINCIPAL
FUNCTIONS

SOURCE OF
FUNDING

BUILDING
DISPUTES
TRIBUNAL

Builders
Registration 
Act 1939

To hear and
settle 
contractual and
workmanship
disputes
between
consumers 
and builders. 

Builders
Registration
Board.

PETROLEUM
PRODUCTS
PRICES
ADVISORY
COMMITTEE

Petroleum
Products Pricing
Act 1983 (WA)

To advise the
Minister or
Commissioner
whether or not
petroleum
products or
services should
be declared; To
advise the
Minister or
Commissioner
whether or not
maximum prices
should be fixed
in relation to
declared
petroleum
products or
services.

Consumer
Protection
(Consolidated
Fund).

HOME BUYERS
ASSISTANCE
ADVISORY
COMMITTEE

Real Estate and
Business Agents
Act 1978 (WA)

To consider
applications for
financial
assistance from
first home
buyers and 
make
recommend-
ations to REBA.

Real Estate and
Business Agents
Supervisory
Board (REBA)

RETAIL SHOPS
ADVISORY
COMMITTEE

Retail Trading
Hours Act 1987
(WA)

To investigate
and make
recommend-
ations to the
Minister relating
to the operation
and admi-
nistration of the
Act; Make
recommend-
ations to the
Commissioner 
of Fair Trading 
on the issue of
permits to
remain open or
to provide goods
or services 
that are not
prescribed.

Consumer
Protection
(Consolidated
Fund).

CONSUMER
PRODUCT
SAFETY
COMMITTEE

Consumer
Affairs Act 1971
(WA)

Make
recommend-
ations to the
Commissioner
for Fair Trading
that prohibit or
restrict the
supply of goods.

Consumer
Protection
(Consolidated
Fund)

CHARITABLE
COLLECTIONS
ADVISORY
COMMITTEE

Charitable
Collections Act
1946 (WA)

To advise the
Minister in
relation to
applications for
licences; To
conduct inquiries
and make
recommend-
ations to the
Minister in
respect of the
revocation of
licenses.

Consumer
Protection
(Consolidated
Fund).
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The Department of Consumer and Employment Protection (DOCEP)
implemented a new performance framework commencing 2003-04.  The
framework reflects the Purpose Statement and the Corporate Directions
contained within the DOCEP Corporate Plan, Future Directions 2002-05. 

The department’s purpose is to create a trading and employment environment
that protects consumers and workers.  This purpose is underpinned by the four
directions included in the Corporate Plan:

• Direction 1 – enhancing the capability of the community;
• Direction 2 – enhancing the regulatory environment;
• Direction 3 – enforcing the law; and 
• Direction 4 – building DOCEP as an organisation.

Additionally, the department’s outcome is aligned to the State Strategic
Planning Framework, Better Planning: Better Services.  Table 14 demonstrates
the linkage between DOCEP’s services to the community and the State
Strategic Goals to which the department makes its most significant
contribution. 

TABLE 14: DOCEP’S RELATIONSHIP WITH THE STATE STRATEGIC GOALS

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

State Strategic Goal People and Communities The Economy

Enhance quality of life and well-being Develop a strong economy

Agency Level Outcome A community in which members meet their responsibilities and where the
rights of all parties are protected in relation to the various areas of DOCEP’s
responsibility: 
• consumer protection;
• labour relations;
• occupational safety and health; and
• energy safety.

Agency Output(s)

1. Community Information Access to knowledge, information and support so that members of the 
and Assistance community can exercise their rights and meet their obligations in the various

areas of DOCEP’s responsibility.  

2. Regulatory Framework Development and maintenance of policy and legislation which reflect
community expectations in relation to the various areas of DOCEP’s
responsibility.

3. Regulation Enforcement Enforcement of regulation governing the various areas of DOCEP’s
responsibility.
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PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

EFFECTIVENESS PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The department has adopted two key performance indicators of effectiveness
to measure the extent to which DOCEP achieves the outcome of:

A community in which members meet their responsibilities and where the
rights of all parties are protected in relation to the various areas of DOCEP’s
responsibility: consumer protection; labour relations; occupational safety and
health; and energy safety.

These two high-level indicators endeavour to provide an avenue to present
information across the breadth of the department’s areas of responsibility.
These two effectiveness indicators are:

1. the extent to which members of the community comply with the
requirements of regulation in the various areas of DOCEP’s responsibility;
and

2. the proportion of key measures exhibiting desirable trends in the various
areas of DOCEP’s responsibility.

Each of the operational divisions of DOCEP has underpinning measures that
contribute to the results reported for these effectiveness indicators.  These
indicators and underpinning measures are explained in the following sections. 

Effectiveness Key Performance Indicator 1: 

The extent to which members of the community comply with the
requirements of regulation in the various areas of DOCEP’s responsibility.

TABLE 15: EFFECTIVENESS KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR 1 RESULT

2003-04 2003-04
Target Actual

The extent to which members of the 70% 85%
community comply with the requirements 
of regulation in the various areas of 
DOCEP’s responsibility.

The key performance indicator in Table 15 aims to provide information regarding
DOCEP’s effectiveness concerning the achievement of a community in which
its members meet their responsibilities.  The number of compliant employers
or traders reported through the conduct of the proactive compliance activities is
aggregated to provide a single result for DOCEP.  The department has five
measures that contribute to this effectiveness indicator. 

Table 16 provides an overview of these underpinning measures and the
department’s level of performance for each measure.
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TABLE 16: UNDERPINNING MEASURES: EFFECTIVENESS KEY
PERFORMANCE INDICATOR 1

Underpinning Measure 2003-04

The extent to which traders comply No. inspections 17,936
with regulatory requirements No. compliant 16,783
(as demonstrated by the incidence of 
serious breaches identified during 
routine and proactive inspections).

The extent to which employers No. elements 1840
comply with the requirements of No. compliant 1446
labour relations laws.

The extent to which workplaces No. elements 52,558
meet occupational safety and No. compliant 43,567
health criteria in priority areas 
(to indicate that workplaces are 
operated in a safe and healthy manner).

The extent to which electricity No. benchmarks 12
supply meets quality benchmarks.  No. achieved 8

The extent to which gas supply No. samples tested 219
meets quality benchmarks.  No. samples compliant 212

Total assessments contributing to result 72,565

Total occasions compliance found 62,016

Result 85%

Target 70%

The extent to which traders comply with regulatory requirements (as
demonstrated by the incidence of serious breaches identified during
routine and proactive inspections).

TABLE 17: CONSUMER PROTECTION PROACTIVE INSPECTIONS

2003-04

The extent to which traders comply No. inspections 17,936
with regulatory requirements (as No. compliant 16,783
demonstrated by the incidence of 
serious breaches identified during 
routine and proactive inspections).

Result 94%

Target 70%

Performance 

As indicated in Table 17, during 2003-04, 17,936 consumer protection routine
and proactive inspections were undertaken to provide the result reported.  Of
these inspections, 94% of traders were found to be compliant with the
regulatory requirements.  This result surpasses the target of 70%.  As this
performance measure was only implemented in 2003-04, no comparable data is
available. 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
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Approach 

The department’s effectiveness regarding the extent to which consumers are
protected and that businesses operate fairly is assessed in terms of the degree
to which traders comply with regulatory requirements.

In accordance with DOCEP’s Compliance Strategy, the assumption is that most
individuals and organisations will comply, or try to comply with their obligations.
Therefore, although there is a vast array of breaches of consumer protection
legislation that can occur within the community, it was determined that the
extent to which breaches of a significant nature were prevalent within the
community should be the basis for monitoring and reporting compliance.  

Not all compliance activities undertaken by Consumer Protection are the direct
responsibility of the department or the Commissioner for Fair Trading.  Some
compliance activities undertaken by Consumer Protection are the responsibility
of various regulatory boards.  It was resolved that only those areas for which
Consumer Protection is directly responsible would be monitored and reported
regarding the extent of compliance within the community.

The result for this underpinning measure is obtained by assessing businesses
against criteria established by the department in particular priority areas
regarding compliance with consumer protection legislation.  During the course
of inspections, inspectors verify traders’ compliance against a list of regulatory
requirements.

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
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PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

Extent to which employers comply with the requirements of labour
relations laws.

TABLE 18: LABOUR RELATIONS TARGETED INDUSTRY INSPECTION
CAMPAIGNS

2003-04

The extent to which employers No. elements 1,840
comply with the requirements of No. compliant 1,446
labour relations laws.   

Result 79%

Target 70%

Performance 

During 2003-04, a total 368 workplaces were inspected as part of targeted
labour relations compliance campaigns.  At these workplaces, 5 key elements
were assessed, resulting in a total of 1,840 elements being checked.  Of these
1,840 elements, 1,446 or 79% were found to be compliant.  As this
performance measure was only implemented during 2003-04, no comparable
data is available.

Approach 

The department’s effectiveness regarding the extent to which employers
comply with the requirements of the labour relations legislation, is assessed in
terms of the degree to which workplaces meet set criteria for labour relations
priority areas.  

During 2003-04, the Education Services and Industrial Inspectors of the Labour
Relations division carried out a series of planned compliance checks and
collected data regarding the extent of compliance with industrial relations
legislation in workplaces.  Inspections were conducted in Malaga, Canning Vale
and Rockingham and within the café and restaurants industry.  Inspections
examined time and wage records and determined compliance with set criteria.  

To assess the level of compliance in the selected suburbs, a mailing list of
businesses was obtained and a letter explaining the campaign along with
educational material on time and wages record keeping was posted to 2,000 to
2,500 businesses.  From each suburb a sample of 150 businesses were chosen
based on street clusters.  Within this sample, businesses that were not
employers were not visited and therefore the total sample size was reduced.  

To assess the level of compliance in the café and restaurant industry, in excess
of 1,300 information packages were dispatched to establishments covered by
the Restaurant, Tearoom and Catering Workers Award.  These information
packages advised of the department’s intention to conduct an education and
compliance campaign.  

Labour Relations Inspectors met with employers and examined the time and
wages records for the most recent pay record for all employees within the
business and recorded information on data collection sheets. 
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PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

The extent to which workplaces meet occupational safety and health
criteria in priority areas (to indicate that workplaces are operated in a safe
and healthy manner).  

TABLE 19: OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH PRIORITY
INVESTIGATION REPORTS

2000-01 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04  

The extent to No. elements 11,497 28,307 32,432 52,558
which workplaces No. compliant 9,208 22,959 26,389 43,567
meet occupational 
safety and health 
criteria in priority 
areas (to indicate 
that workplaces 
operate in a safe 
and healthy manner).

Result 80% 81% 81% 83%

Target 100% 100% 80% 80%

Performance 

As indicated in Table 19, during 2003-04 the level to which workplaces met
occupational safety and health criteria in priority areas increased to 83%.  There
has been a steady rise in the number of workplaces complying with occupational
safety and health legislation during the past four years.  The extent of
compliance increased by 2% for 2003-04 compared to 2002-03.  

Approach 

The department’s effectiveness in bringing about workplaces that operate in a
safe and healthy manner is assessed in terms of the extent to which
workplaces meet set criteria for work safety and health in priority areas.  

The result for this underpinning measure is obtained by assessing workplaces
against the criteria established by the department in particular priority areas.
During the course of investigations, inspectors complete Priority Investigation
Reports (PIRs).  During 2003-04 a total of 14,855 PIRs were completed.  PIRs
contain a checklist of elements that constitute the minimum requirements for
inspectors to assess when the workplace being visited falls within one of the
priority areas.  All investigations for PIRs are conducted using a standard format
introduced during 2000-01.  The checklist of elements, used as the assessment
tool, is not a full compliance check, but represents the key elements
established for the relevant priority area.  

It is important to note that improved compliance in the priority areas and for
individual elements may not be reflected from one year to the next.  Inspectors
visit a range of workplaces and do not necessarily return to the same
workplace each year.  A pattern of continuous improvement may not be evident
in the short term.  However, the approach of identifying and assessing priority
areas is a useful one, enabling longer term trends in the level of compliance to
be identified.  
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PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

The extent to which electricity supply meets quality benchmarks.  

TABLE 20: QUALITY OF ELECTRICITY SUPPLY 

2002-03 2003-04

The extent to No. benchmarks 12 12
which electricity No. achieved 9 8
supply meets 
quality benchmarks.

Result 75% 67%

Target 95% 95%

Performance 

During 2003-04, 8 out of 12, equally weighted quality benchmarks for the
supply of electricity were achieved.  This indicates that 67% of the electricity
supply met the quality benchmarks, a decrease of 8% as reported for 2002-03. 

Approach 

The department’s effectiveness in ensuring a safe and reliable electricity supply
is assessed in terms of the extent to which the electricity supply meets set
benchmarks.

The department’s effectiveness in ensuring a safe and reliable electricity supply
is assessed in terms of the extent to which the electricity supply meets set
benchmarks.  

The department administers the Electricity (Supply Standards and System
Safety) Regulations (2001), which set benchmarks regarding the quality and
reliability of electricity supplies within Western Australia.  These regulations
also include provisions for consumers to complain regarding the quality and
reliability of electricity supplied.  As the technical regulator of suppliers of
electricity within the State, the department aims to influence the quality of
supply to consumers.  The results for the effectiveness indicators are obtained
by collecting information regarding the quality (including reliability, or continuity)
of electricity supplied to consumers.  

During 2003-04, Energy Safety received 212 complaints regarding the quality or
reliability of electricity supply. Based on a population of approximately 764,675
customers of electricity supplied through the Western Power electricity supply
system, the 212 complaints received in total represent less than 0.1% of all
electricity customers.
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The extent to which gas supply meets quality benchmarks.  

TABLE 21: QUALITY OF GAS SUPPLY 

2003-04

The extent to which gas No. Samples Tested 219
supply meets quality No. Samples Compliant 212
benchmarks.

Result 97%

Target 100%

Performance 

During 2003-04, a total of 219 samples of Liquid Petroleum Gas (LP Gas) and
natural gas were tested.  Of these 219 samples, 212 were found to comply
with the gas quality specifications.  During 2002-03, 43 samples of LP Gas
were tested for both odorant and composition and 93% of these samples were
found to be compliant.  As natural gas was not sampled during 2002-03,
comparable results with 2003-04 are not available.  Significantly more samples
were taken during 2003-04 and a result of 97% of samples meeting quality
benchmarks was achieved.  

Approach 

The results are obtained by collecting information regarding the technical quality
of natural gas.

The quality of natural gas entering reticulation systems is monitored for quality
against specifications contained within the Gas Standards (Gas Supply and
System Safety) Regulations (2000). Monitoring programs include gas within the
Dampier to Bunbury Gas Pipeline and Parmelia Pipeline, which both supply gas
to the south west of the State, and the Goldfield Pipeline, which supplies
Kalgoorlie. Insufficient natural gas odorant levels were found in 4 out of 139
samples.

A result for the quality of Autogas and Heating Grade LP Gas was obtained by
taking 40 samples from service stations and LP Gas reticulation systems.
Samples were assessed for compliance of the gas composition and odorant
level requirements contained within the Gas Standards (Gas Supply and System
Safety) Regulations (2000). Of the 40 samples taken, all were found to comply
with the quality specifications and only 3 were found to contain insufficient
levels of odorant.

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
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PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

Effectiveness Key Performance Indicator 2: 

The proportion of key measures exhibiting desirable trends in the various
areas of DOCEP’s responsibility.   

TABLE 22: EFFECTIVENESS KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR 2 RESULT

2003-04 2003-04
Target Actual

The proportion of key measures exhibiting 70% 100%
desirable trends in the various areas of 
DOCEP’s responsibility.

This key performance indicator aims to provide information regarding DOCEP’s
effectiveness concerning the achievement of a community in which members
meet their responsibilities and their rights are protected. 

Key areas that indicate the combined effectiveness of public policy and compliance
activities in DOCEP’s areas of responsibility are identified and relevant trends
monitored.  The proportion, or percentage, of key areas exhibiting the desired
trend provides the reported result.  Table 23 outlines the underpinning
measures from each division that contribute to this effectiveness indicator. 

This key performance indicator was introduced for 2003-04 and a target of 70%
was established.  Each measure accounts for approximately 14% of the overall
result and therefore information underpinning this KPI could be susceptible to
large swings.  It was not anticipated that a result of 100% would be achieved.  

TABLE 23: UNDERPINNING MEASURE: EFFECTIVENESS KEY
PERFORMANCE INDICATOR 2

Desired
Trend

Achieved
Underpinning Measure 2003-04

The extent to which consumers believe businesses generally Yes
act fairly towards consumers 

The extent to which consumers believe they are well informed Yes
about their rights and responsibilities

The extent to which the information provided to employees, Yes
employers and public sector agencies has increased their 
understanding of their rights and obligations and the flexibilities 
under the labour relations framework

The frequency of work-related injury and disease Yes
per million population

The incidence of work-related deaths per million population Yes

The number of electricity caused injuries per million people Yes

The number of gas caused injuries per million people Yes

Total 7 / 7

Result 100%

Target 70%
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The extent to which consumers believe businesses generally act fairly to
consumers .

Performance 

A slight increase in the extent to which the community believes that
businesses generally act fairly towards consumers has been seen during 2003-
04.  As indicated in Figure 1, during 2003-04 73.9% of the community believed
that businesses act fairly, as compared to 73.10% during 2002-03.
Performance levels for 2003-04 have been maintained and the slight upward
trend that has been seen over the last six years has continued.  

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
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PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

The extent to which consumers believe they are well informed about 
their rights and responsibilities.

Performance 

As Figure 2 demonstrates, an increase of less than 1% in the number of
consumers who believed they were well informed about their rights and
responsibilities has been recorded for 2003-04.  Whilst the trend line is flat, the
2003-04 result is slightly above the 1997-04 average of 67.14%

Approach 

Results reported in Figures 1 and 2 were both determined by an independent
survey.  For the past six years the Consumer Protection Division has engaged
an independent market research agency to evaluate perceptions of consumers
toward the Western Australian marketplace.  The division’s indicators relate to
the extent to which consumers believe businesses generally act fairly to
consumers and the extent to which consumers believe they are well informed
about their rights and responsibilities. 

Between 22 January and 1 February 2004, a random telephone survey of 402
Western Australians was undertaken.  A sample size of 402 enables a
maximum sampling error of ±5% at a 95% confidence level. All respondents
were aged 18 years or over and interviews were conducted in both the Perth
metropolitan area and regional Western Australia.  A proportionate sample was
drawn so that the number of interviews conducted in regional Western
Australia and the Perth metropolitan area reflected true population proportions.
No sampling was undertaken in relation to age or gender.

The survey sample was generated from Australia on Disc, a CD ROM database
that is derived from the White Pages telephone directories.  To randomise the
sample, the person in the household next in line for a birthday was requested
to participate in the survey.  Overall, a total of 5,012 calls were made. The
overall response rate was 24%, with 402 of those contacted agreeing to
participate in the survey and 1,296 refusing.  Of the total number of calls made,
3,314 were excluded from the response rate calculations because they were
engaged, wrong or disconnected numbers, call backs, the respondent was not
home, the respondent was not a resident of the household, the respondent
spoke a foreign language, or the call was answered by an answering machine
or fax.  
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PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

The extent to which the information provided to employees, employers
and public sector agencies has increased their understanding of their
rights and obligations and the flexibilities under the labour relations
framework.  

Performance 

During 2003-04, 87% of employees, employers and public sector agencies
believed information provided to them by the Labour Relations division,
increased their understanding of their rights, obligations and the flexibilities
under the labour relations framework.  As this performance measure was only
implemented during 2003-04, no trend data is available, but the result has
surpassed the 70% target.  

Approach 

A key role of the Labour Relations division is to provide information to key
clients including employees, employers and public sector agencies.  In order to
determine the effectiveness of the labour relations information provided,
surveys are conducted to determine the extent to which this information has
increased the key clients’ understanding of their rights and obligations and the
flexibilities under the labour relations framework.  

During 2003-04 data was collected from a total of 767 employers and
employees via two telephone surveys.  These surveys of private sector clients
were undertaken by an independent research firm and included clients
throughout the State.  The sample of 767 was made up of 389 employers and
378 employees who were selected at random from clients who contacted
either Wageline or whose cases were investigated and finalised by the Labour
Relations Compliance section during 2003-04.  The sample size of 767 enables
a maximum sampling error of ±5% at the 95% confidence level.  Clients who
contacted Wageline or were involved in an investigation process were asked
whether they would be willing to participate in a survey and only these names
were provided to the market research firm.  A response rate of 100% was
achieved for this survey.  

Of the 389 employers surveyed, 210 were sourced through Wageline and 179
were surveyed at the completion of an investigation process.  Of the 378
employees surveyed, 201 were sourced through Wageline, and 177 employees
were surveyed at the completion of an investigation process. 
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For the respondents sourced via Wageline, approximately 1000 contact details
were provided to the research firm each quarter.  The research firm then
randomly contacted 50 employers and 50 employees each quarter.  A total of
411 employers and employees completed this survey.  Similarly, for the survey
conducted after an investigation, contact details were provided to the market
research company at the end of each quarter once a complaint file was
finalised.  The research firm contacted approximately 50 employees and 50
employers each quarter.  A combined total of 356 employers and employees
completed the survey.  

Labour Relations, in its role as coordinator of public sector relations, conducts a
survey of it’s client agencies.  For 2003-04, a client survey was sent out on 6th
May 2004 to 102 public sector agencies.  Of the 102 surveys sent out, 51
responses were received, resulting in a response rate of 50%.  The survey is
conducted confidentially and all responses are compiled and reported in an
anonymous, aggregated format. 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 



Department of Consumer and Employment Protection  •  Annual Report 2003-04        PAGE 90

Performance Indicators

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

Frequency of work-related injury and disease

(LTI/Ds per million hours worked).

Performance

The downward trend in the frequency of lost time injury and diseases (LTI/D)
per million hours worked continued during 2002-03.  During 2002-03 there was
an overall 4% reduction in work-related injury and disease since 2001-02,
continuing the long-term downward trend. The total rate of improvement since
the Occupational Safety and Health Act (1984) came into effect in 1988-89 is
61%, and the rate of improvement from July 1998 to June 2003 is 42%. 

Approach 

The WorkSafe division’s primary objective is that Western Australian
workplaces are free of work-related injuries and diseases.  To gauge our
progress towards achieving this objective, the extent to which there is a
reduction in the rate of lost time injuries and disease is monitored.  This
performance measure encompasses national targets.

During April of each year, WorkCover WA send the WorkSafe division updated
workers’ compensation claims data.  This data contains records of injuries or
diseases with one or more days or shifts lost. The number of millions of hours
worked by employees in Western Australia for the most recent year are
obtained by WorkCover WA from the Australian Bureau of Statistics Labour
Force Survey. 

It should be noted that the workers’ compensation data from which frequency
rates are derived are dynamic, and subject to ongoing revision.  Claims are
counted by the year of lodgement and therefore, the number of claims may be
adjusted for earlier years if pending claims are accepted or rejected. 
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PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

Incidence of work-related fatalities (fatalities per million workers). 

Performance 

During 2003-04 the number of work-related fatalities per million workers
decreased to 20.5, from 22.4 in 2002-03.  There has been a continuing
downward trend in fatality rates since the Occupational Health and Safety Act
(1984) came into effect in 1988-89.  The average traumatic work-related fatality
incidence rate for the five-year period from 1999-00 to 2003-04 is 21.1,
compared to an average fatality incidence rate for the five-year period from
1988-89 to 1992-93 of 37.5.

Approach 

The WorkSafe division collects and maintains a list of known traumatic work-
related fatalities falling under the legislative jurisdiction of the Occupational
Health and Safety Act (1984) and for completeness includes in its statistics
those work-related fatalities covered by the Mines Safety and Inspection
Act (1994) under the jurisdiction of the Department of Industry and Resources.
The data includes all categories of workers and self-employed persons,
irrespective of whether they are covered by the state’ workers’ compensation
system. Not included are the deaths attributed to occupational disease, natural
causes and journey claims that may result in an accepted workers’
compensation claim.  Deaths resulting from on-duty road traffic accidents are
only included where there is a clear relationship between the accident and the
work being performed and there is an occupational safety and health hazard
identified in the causal factors of the accident.

WorkSafe records work related fatalities in a spreadsheet according to the
guidelines set out in an information paper, Recording of Traumatic Work Related
Fatalities by WorkSafe Western Australia.  At the end of each financial year, the
number of workers in Western Australia is obtained from the Australian Bureau
of Statistics Labour Force Survey data.  The incidence rate is then calculated
using the formula, number of fatalities/number of workers * 1,000,000.
Fatalities are counted according to the year the incident or event that caused
the death took place, rather than when the death actually occurred.  Reported
data is subject to revision from year to year as coronial findings and other
information may not be available at the time of producing annual statistical
reports.
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PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

The number of electricity caused serious injuries per million people  

Performance 

The downward trend continued during 2003-04, with 15 serious electricity
related injuries per million population occurring.  It is assumed that if all energy
related safety standards are met a result of nil would be achieved.  However, it
is recognised that an expectation of no accidents is idealistic, therefore the
department endeavours to achieve a downward trend, which shows the 5 year
average at 14.  During 2003-04, the total number of electricity related accidents
when injury has been sustained requiring hospital treatment, was 29, including
3 fatalities.  

Approach 

The Energy Safety division obtains results by monitoring the number of
reported accidents involving electricity within Western Australia.  Under
Regulation 63 (1) of the Electricity (Licensing) Regulations (1991) every member
of the community, consumer or industry, is required to report electricity caused
accidents that has resulted or is likely to cause danger to life or property to the
Director of Energy Safety and the relevant supply authority.  The incidents
reported to the Executive Director of Energy Safety are recorded and the
performance result is calculated as a number of reported incidents per million
population.  The Western Australian population, as reported by the Australia
Bureau of Statistics for the December 2003 quarter was 1,969,000 and it is this
value that was used as the 2003-04 mean.  



Department of Consumer and Employment Protection  •  Annual Report 2003-04        PAGE 93

Performance Indicators

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

The number of gas caused injuries per million people.

Performance 

The long term downward trend continued during 2003-04, with 7 gas injuries
per million population occurring.  It should be noted however, that as illustrated
in Figure 7, the short term trend is upward.  Whilst the department endeavours
to achieve a result of nil, this expectation of no accidents is idealistic.
Performance during 2003-04 has resulted in a 5 year average of 7 injuries per
million.  During 2003-04, a total of 17 gas related accidents, where injury has
been sustained requiring hospital treatment occurred, including 1 fatality.  

Approach 

Under Regulation 42 (1) of the Gas Standards (Gasfitting and Consumer Gas
Installations) Regulations (1999) any incident involving gas that causes or is
likely to cause injury to a person or damage to property must be reported to the
Director of Energy Safety or gas supplier.  Such accidents are defined as those
resulting in injury and assessed as having gas as the primary cause.  The
incidents reported to the Director of Energy Safety are recorded and the
performance result is calculated as a number of reported incidents per million
population.  The Western Australian population, as reported by the Australia
Bureau of Statistics for the December 2003 quarter was 1,969,000, and it is
this value that was used as the 2003-04.
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PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

EFFICIENCY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Efficiency Performance Indicators have been calculated for each of the output
areas of the department.  The new performance framework that was adopted
by the Department of Consumer and Employment Protection commencing
2003-04, aims to provide the general community with a clearer understanding
of the activities of the department.  

Efficiency performance indicators have been calculated for each of the outputs
and the indicators are based on cost measures for each output.  

The cost performance measure for services provided by DOCEP reflects the full
cost, including overheads, of providing the service. The amount of DOCEP’s
expenditure attributed to the provision of each service is determined by the
amount of staff time allocated to undertaking projects and tasks associated
with the service.  The total cost of the service is then divided by the quantity of
services provided.  Comparisons with previous years are not available due to
the implementation of the new performance framework.

Output 1: Community Information and Assistance.

Average cost per response to customer enquiry.

The Department of Consumer and Employment
provides responses to enquiries from members
of the public and provides them with customised
information or education.  Responses are usually
on a one to one basis and of a short duration.
The response can be a result of telephone, front
counter, email or letter enquiry or through a
request for an encumbrance check, a REVS
certificate issued, or an enquiry for FuelWatch
price information. 

Figure 8 demonstrates the average cost per
response to customer enquiries.  During 2003-04
the department responded to a total of 955,575
customer enquiries.   

Average cost per information and education service.

The department provides non-customised and
mass-produced services that provide members of
the public with information and raise awareness
within the community.  Many of these activities
are automated.  These activities include online
visitors and the delivery of mass-produced
services, such as the distribution of publications,
or visitors attending shows, expos, or seminars.  

Figure 9 demonstrates the average cost per
information and education service.  During 
2003-04 the department provided 4,186,063
information and education services.
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Average cost per advice or assistance service.

A key element of the department’s role is to
provide advice and assistance to the community.
The department provides customers with advice
or assistance in relation to specific matters and
usually this is on a one to one basis. The
provision of assistance may require several
occasions of contact or additional tasks, such as
a conciliation process between a consumer and
trader.

Figure 10 demonstrates the average cost of
providing advice and assistance to the
community.  During 2003-04 the department
provided 35,531 advice and assistance services.

Output 2: Regulatory Framework.

Average cost per major policy project.

Major policy projects are aimed at enhancing the
regulatory environment and are usually of
significant duration and complexity and often
require public consultation.  

Major policy projects produce include:

• Cabinet Submissions to print a new Bill;
• new mandatory code;
• amendments to an existing Act or mandatory

code to implement a Government policy
change which requires consultation with
parties external to the agency; and 

• new Government policy that requires
extensive consultation with parties external to
the agency.

Figure 11 demonstrates the average cost of completing major policy projects.
During 2003-04 the department completed 11 major policy projects.  
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Average cost per policy project.  

Policy projects of notable duration and moderate
complexity aimed at enhancing the regulatory
environment or developing a new policy position.
This includes projects to produce: 

• new or amended subsidiary legislation (such
as a regulation or Order);

• voluntary code, guidance note or equivalent;
• briefing notes or policy submissions to a

Minister or other external bodies;
• requiring development of new material or

policy position;
• Cabinet submissions; and 
• new, or significant amendments to

Government policy.
Figure 12 demonstrates the average cost of completing standard policy
projects. During 2003-04 the department completed 99 policy projects.  

Average cost per policy task.  

Policy Tasks are generally of shorter duration and
are routine in nature compared to major policy
projects and standard policy projects.  These
tasks are usually in response to a request, or
proactively provide information regarding the
regulatory framework and related issues.  Policy
Tasks can include:

• briefing notes which are provided to the
Minister’s Office;

• draft responses to Parliamentary Questions
prepared;

• replies to Ministerial correspondence prepared
for the Minister’s Office;

• routine minor amendments to regulations; and
• circulars, briefing notes or policy submissions

to a party external to the agency, using
existing material or policy.

Figure 13 demonstrates the average cost of completing policy tasks. During
2003-04 the department completed 2,556 policy tasks.  
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Output 3: Regulatory Enforcement.

Average cost per registration service.

As required under the laws administered by the
department, the Consumer Protection division
maintains public registers which record specific
information and other necessary details regarding
REVS, business names, incorporated
associations, tenancy bonds, cooperative
companies, limited partnerships and fuel price
changes from retailers.  

Figure 14 shows the average cost of providing
registration services to the community.  During
2003-04 the department provided 821,693
registration services.  

Average cost per licensing service.

The Department administers and processes
applications, which authorise individuals,
employers or traders for occupations, certain
purposes or conditions.  Generally, the
processing of the application for an occupational
licence results in the customer being provided
with or refused a licence, being issued with a
renewed licence, or having their licence cancelled
or details updated.  

Figure 15 illustrates the average cost of providing
licensing service to the community. During
2003-04 the department provided 38,629
licensing services.   

Average cost per inspection and audit.

An important role of the department is
undertaking inspections and audits.  Inspections
and audits compare a current state or situation to
acceptable standards, measures or practices.
Compliance inspections and audit reports assess
an employers or traders level of compliance with
a set standard and usually involve a one to one
transaction such as an inspector undertaking an
assessment regarding a trader or employer
meeting specified criteria.

Data shown in Figure 16 illustrates the average
cost of inspections and audits.   During 2003-04
the department completed a total of 37,104
inspections and audits.   
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Average cost investigation and compliance conciliation.

A key element of the department’s regulatory
enforcement regime is investigations and
compliance conciliation activities.  The aim of
departmental staff is to determine if a breach of
the law has occurred or is occurring, and facilitate
a settlement of a dispute.  Usually the provision
of this service requires a visit by a DOCEP
investigator to the premises of the trader or
employer.  Compliance Conciliations are
undertaken by the Labour Relations division to
resolve issues between employees and traders,
such as underpayment, without referral to formal
redress procedures.

Figure 17 demonstrates the average cost of
investigations and compliance conciliations.  During 2003-04 the department
completed 31,583 investigations and compliance conciliations. 

Average cost per prosecution, legal action and proceeding.

Prosecutions, legal actions and proceedings are
undertaken in response to the department’s
determination that a breach of the law has
occurred.  Actions include prosecutions seeking
the imposition of penalties, court action seeking
injunctions, representations to Boards with
disciplinary powers, the development and
progression of matters for adjudication and the
implementation of outcomes such as sanctions.  

Figure 18 illustrates the average cost of
completing prosecutions, legal actions and
proceedings. During 2003-04 the department
completed 228 legal proceedings.  
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OVERVIEW OF CHANGES TO DOCEP OUTPUT STRUCTURE 

Output based management performance framework

The performance framework, used to monitor and report the activities of the
organisation, was identified as an issue that impacts upon DOCEP’s ability to
mature as an integrated organisation.  As such, a new performance framework
has been implemented which reflects the Corporate Plan Future Directions
2002-05 and moves away from the silo structure based on the former individual
agencies.

The new Output Based Management (OBM) performance framework for 2003-04
parallels the three externally focussed Directions in the DOCEP Corporate Plan.
The links are illustrated below.

Direction 1 - DOCEP Corporate Plan:  ‘enhancing the capabilities of the
community’

OUTPUT 1: COMMUNITY INFORMATION AND ASSISTANCE
Access to knowledge, information and support so that consumers and traders,
and employers and employees can exercise their rights and meet their obligations.

Direction 2 - DOCEP Corporate Plan:  ‘enhancing the regulatory environment’

OUTPUT 2: REGULATORY FRAMEWORK
Development and maintenance of policy and legislation appropriate to the
contemporary employment and trading marketplace.

Direction 3 - DOCEP Corporate Plan:  ‘enforcing the law’

OUTPUT 3: REGULATION ENFORCEMENT 
Enforcement of regulation governing consumer protection, labour relations, and
occupational health and safety.

The 2003-04 performance framework not only brings to an end the representation of
the former agencies in the Outputs, it endeavours to establish consistency
across DOCEP in the units of measure employed by each of the Divisions.

Output based management information for the annual report

DOCEP’s performance framework contains agency wide performance
measures each of which represents a group of related activities that are
provided by various areas across the department.  Comparisons with previous
years are not available due to the implementation of the new performance
framework.  

The Output measures of quantity, quality, timeliness and cost are found at
relevant sections throughout the report.

QUANTITY
Each service program represents several activities that are of a similar nature
and require comparative levels of resources to deliver.  

QUALITY AND TIMELINESS
The new performance measures required standardised targets that can be
applied to all the component activities in the group, instead of reporting
performance measures for each component activity.
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Each established quality and timeliness measure has a target of 80 per cent.
These targets were established by reviewing previous targets for quality and
timeliness standards throughout DOCEP and considering the department’s level
of influence over the potential results.

Each quality and timeliness measure presented is underpinned by activity
specific standards.  The method of evaluation used for each activity specific
standard varies according to what is determined to be the most practicable for
the particular activity.  

COST
The cost performance measures for services provided by DOCEP reflects the
full cost, including overheads, of providing the service.  Figures for 2003-04
Targets were developed by estimating the staff time that would be allocated to
each service during the year.  

Results for 2003-04 were calculated by determining the actual amount of
DOCEP’s expenditure attributed to the provision of each service.  This was
established by recording the amount of staff time allocated to undertaking
projects and tasks associated with each service.  The total cost of the service is
then divided by the quantity of services provided.
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Statement of  F inancial  Performance for the year ended 30 June 2004

Note 2004 2003
$’000 $’000

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses from ordinary activities

Employee expenses 4 42,804 39,769
Supplies and services 5 7,827 7,459
Depreciation expense 6 1,754 2,054
Administration expenses 7 4,603 4,631
Accommodation expenses 8 4,928 4,703
Grants and subsidies 9 522 460
Capital user charge 10 625 405
Costs of disposal of non-current assets 15 0 1
Other expense from ordinary activities 11 23 66

Total cost of services 63,086 59,548

Revenues from ordinary activities

Revenue from operating activities
User charges and fees 12 15,852 13,971
Commonwealth grants and contributions 13 384 365
Revenue from non-operating activities
Other revenues from ordinary activities 14 1,570 639
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets 15 13 8

Total revenues from ordinary activities 17,819 14,983

NET COST OF SERVICES 45,267 44,565

REVENUES FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Output Appropriation 16 45,298 42,775
Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 551 794
Resources received free of charge 516 721

Total revenues from State Government 46,365 44,290

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 1,098 (275)

The Statement of Financial Performance should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note 2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Current Assets

Cash assets 26 (a) 9,892 2,719
Restricted cash assets 17 2,577 2,938
Receivables 18 2,640 4,227
Amounts receivable for outputs 19 2,799 1,944
Other assets 20 690 651

Total Current Assets 18,598 12,479

Non-Current Assets

Restricted cash assets 17 0 1,263
Property, plant, equipment and vehicles 21 4,938 4,875
Other assets 20 8 8

Total Non-Current Assets 4,946 6,146

TOTAL ASSETS 23,544 18,625

Current Liabilities

Payables 22 1,507 1,108
Unearned revenues 24 350 247
Provisions 23 6,167 5,432
Other liabilities 24 1,906 1,004

Total Current Liabilities 9,930 7,791

Non-Current Liabilities

Payables 22 791 684
Provisions 23 3,798 3,595

Total Non-Current Liabilities 4,589 4,279

Total Liabilities 14,519 12,070

Equity 25
Contributed equity 5,792 4,420
Accumulated surplus/(deficiency) 3,233 2,135

Total Equity 9,025 6,555

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 23,544 18,625

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of  F inancial  Posit ion as at  30 June 2004
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Note 2004 2003
$’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Output appropriations 43,146 40,831
Capital contributions 1,372 2,156
Holding account drawdowns 1,297 1,543
Cash from other Govt dept re leave transferred 0 53

Net cash provided by State Government 45,815 44,583

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Employee costs (37,379) (33,789)
Superannuation (3,936) (3,862)
Supplies and services (15,995) (17,734)
Capital User Charge (625) (405)
GST payments on purchases (2,002) (2,024)
Other payments (23) (66)

Receipts

User charges and fees 17,899 13,275
Commonwealth grants and contributions 384 365
GST receipts on sales 225 192
GST receipts from taxation authority 1,420 2,196
Other receipts 1,570 639

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 26 (b) (38,462) (41,213)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of non-current assets 13 8
Purchase of non-current assets (1,817) (3,169)

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (1,804) (3,161)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 5,549 209
Cash assets at the beginning of the financial year 6,920 6,711

CASH ASSETS AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 26 (a) 12,469 6,920

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of  Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2004
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Output Schedule of Expenses and Revenues for the year ended 30 June 2004

Community  Regulatory Regulatory 
Information Framework Enforcement Total

& Assistance

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses from ordinary activities

Employee expenses 10,008 0 6,432 0 26,364 0 42,804 0
Supplies and services 1,830 0 1,176 0 4,821 0 7,827 0
Depreciation expense 410 0 264 0 1,080 0 1,754 0
Administration expenses 1,076 0 692 0 2,835 0 4,603 0
Accommodation expenses 1,152 0 741 0 3,035 0 4,928 0
Grants and subsidies 122 0 78 0 322 0 522 0
Capital User Charge 146 0 94 0 385 0 625 0
Cost of disposal of 
non-current assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other expenses from 
ordinary activities 5 0 3 0 14 0 23 0

Total cost of services 14,750 0 9,480 0 38,856 0 63,086 0

Revenues from ordinary activities

User Charges and Fees 3,706 0 2,382 0 9,764 0 15,852 0
Commonwealth grants 
and contributions 90 0 58 0 237 0 384 0
Other revenues from 
ordinary activities 367 0 236 0 967 0 1,570 0
Proceeds from disposal 
of non-current assets 3 0 2 0 8 0 13 0

Total revenues from 
ordinary activities 4,166 0 2,678 0 10,975 0 17,819 0

NET COST OF SERVICES 10,584 0 6,802 0 27,881 0 45,267 0

REVENUES FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Output appropriation 10,591 0 6,807 0 27,900 0 45,298 0
Liabilities assumed by 
the Treasurer 129 0 83 0 339 0 551 0
Resources received 
free of charge 121 0 78 0 318 0 516 0

Total revenues from 
State Government 10,841 0 6,967 0 28,557 0 46,365 0

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 257 0 165 0 676 0 1,098 0

The Output Schedule of Expenses and Revenues should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
notes.
Refer to note 3.
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Output Schedule of Expenses and Revenues for the year ended 30 June 2004

Consumer  Occupational Energy Safety Labour Total
Protection and Safety and and Quality Relations

Business Health Services Services
Regulation Services

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses from ordinary activities

Employee expenses 0 20,435 0 10,330 0 3,330 0 5,674 0 39,769
Supplies and services 0 3,833 0 1,937 0 625 0 1,064 0 7,459
Depreciation expense 0 1,055 0 534 0 172 0 293 0 2,054
Administration expenses 0 2,380 0 1,203 0 388 0 661 0 4,631
Accommodation expenses 0 2,417 0 1,222 0 394 0 671 0 4,703
Grants and subsidies 0 236 0 119 0 39 0 66 0 460
Capital User Charge 0 208 0 105 0 34 0 58 0 405
Cost of disposal of 
non-current assets 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Other expenses from 
ordinary activities 0 34 0 17 0 6 0 9 0 66

Total cost of services 0 30,598 0 15,467 0 4,987 0 8,497 0 59,549

Revenues from ordinary activities

User Charges and Fees 0 7,179 0 3,629 0 1,170 0 1,993 0 13,971
Commonwealth grants and 
contributions 0 188 0 95 0 31 0 52 0 365
Other revenues 0 328 0 166 0 54 0 91 0 639
Proceeds from disposal of 
non-current assets 0 4 0 2 0 1 0 1 0 8

Total revenues from ordinary 

activities 0 7,699 0 3,892 0 1,255 0 2,138 0 14,983

NET COST OF SERVICES 0 22,899 0 11,575 0 3,732 0 6,359 0 44,565

REVENUES FROM 

STATE GOVERNMENT

Output appropriation 0 21,980 0 11,110 0 3,582 0 6,103 0 42,775
Liabilities assumed
by the Treasurer 0 408 0 206 0 66 0 113 0 794
Resources received free 
of charge 0 370 0 187 0 60 0 103 0 721

Total revenues from 

State Government 0 22,758 0 11,504 0 3,709 0 6,319 0 44,290

Change in net assets before 

restructuring 0 (141) 0 (71) 0 (23) 0 (39) 0 (275)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 

AFTER RESTRUCTURING 0 (141) 0 (71) 0 (23) 0 (39) 0 (275)

The Output Schedule of Expenses and Revenues should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations and Revenue Estimates
for the year ended 30 June 2004

2004 2004 2004 2003
Estimate Actual Variance Actual Actual Variance

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
PURCHASE OF OUTPUTS

Item 59 Net amount 
appropriated to deliver outputs 42,522 45,150 2,628 45,150 42,657 2,493
Section 25 transfer of 
appropriation 30 30 30 30
Amount Authorised by 
Other Statutes
-Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 118 118 0 118 118 0

Total appropriations provided 
to deliver outputs 42,640 45,298 2,658 45,298 42,775 (2,523)

CAPITAL

Item 137 Capital Contribution 1,372 1,372 0 1,372 2,156 (784)

GRAND TOTAL OF 
APPROPRIATIONS 44,012 46,670 2,658 46,670 44,931 (1,739)

Details of Expenses by Outputs

Community Information 
& Assistance 13,931 14,750 819 14,750 0
Regulatory Framework 9,210 9,480 270 9,480 0
Regulation Enforcement 36,548 38,856 2,308 38,856 0
Consumer Protection and 
Business Regulation 0 0 0 0 30,598
Occupational Safety and 
Health Services 0 0 0 0 15,467
Energy Safety and Quality Services 0 0 0 0 4,987
Labour Relations Services 0 0 0 0 8,497
Total Cost of Outputs 59,689 63,086 3,397 63,086 59,549 3,537
Less total revenues from 
ordinary activities 17,055 17,819 764 17,819 14,983 2,836
Net Cost of Outputs 42,634 5,267 633 45,267 44,565 702
Adjustments (1) 6 31 37 31 (1,790) 1,821

Total appropriations provided 
to deliver outputs 42,640 45,298 2,658 45,298 42,775 2,523

Capital Expenditure

Purchase of non-current 
physical assets 1,335 1,372 37 1,372 2,156 (784)

Adjustments for other 
funding sources 37 0 (37) 0 0 0
Capital Contribution 
(appropriation) 1,372 1,372 0 1,372 2,156 (784)

DETAILS OF REVENUE ESTIMATES

Revenues disclosed as 
Administered Revenues 6,704 5,311 (1,393) 5,311 3,928 1,383

(1) Adjustments are related to movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables,
payables and superannuation.
The Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations and Revenue Estimates has been prepared on an accrual basis.
The Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations, Variance to Budget and Actual should be read in conjunction
with the accompanying notes.
This Summary provides the basis for the Explanatory Statement information requirements of TI 945, set out in
Note 30
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1. Departmental mission and funding

The Department of Consumer and Employment Protection (DOCEP) is an agency of the Government of
Western Australia and seeks to create a trading and employment environment that protects consumers
and workers.
The Department is predominantly funded by Parliamentary appropriations and supplemented by external
fees and charges.
In the process of reporting on the Department as a single entity, all intra-entity transactions and balances
have been eliminated.

2. Significant accounting policies

The following accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation of the financial statements.
Unless otherwise stated these policies are consistent with those adopted in the previous year.

General statement
The financial statements constitute a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in
accordance with Accounting Standards, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, and Urgent Issues Group (UIG)
Consensus Views as applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions.  Several of these are modified by the
Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.  The Financial Administration
and Audit Act and the Treasurer’s Instructions are legislative provisions governing the preparation of
financial statements and take precedence over accounting Standards, Statements of Accounting
Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, and
UIG Consensus Views.  The modifications are intended to fulfil the requirements of general application
to the public sector, together with the need for greater disclosure and also to satisfy accountability
requirements.
If any such modification has a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of
that modification and where practicable, the resulting financial effect, are disclosed in individual notes to
these financial statements.

Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting Standard AAS29.
The statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost
convention.
Administered assets, liabilities, expenses and revenues are not integral to the Department in carrying out
its functions and are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, forming part of the general
purpose financial report of the Department.  The administered items are disclosed on the same basis as
is described above for the financial statements of the Department.  The administered assets, liabilities,
expenses and revenues are those which the Government requires the Department to administer on its
behalf.  The assets do not render any service potential or future economic benefits to the Department,
the liabilities do not require the future sacrifice of service potential or future economic benefits of the
Department, and the expenses and revenues are not attributable to the Department.
As the administered assets, liabilities, expenses and revenues are not recognised in the principal
financial statements of the Department, the disclosure requirements of Accounting Standards AAS 33,
Presentation and Disclosure of Financial Instruments, are not applied to administered transactions.

(a)Output appropriations
Output Appropriations are recognised as revenues in the period in which the Department gains control of
the appropriated funds.  The Department gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are
deposited into the Department’s bank account or credited to the holding account held at the Department
of Treasury and Finance.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2004
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(b)Contributed equity
Under UIG 38 “Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities” transfers in the
nature of equity contributions must be designated by the Government (owners) as contributions by
owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity
contributions in the financial statements.  Capital contributions (appropriations) have been designated as
contributions by owners and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity in the Statement of
Financial Position.

(c) Net appropriation determination
Pursuant to section 23A of the Financial Administration and Audit Act, the net appropriation
determination by the Treasurer provides for retention of the following moneys received by the Department:
• proceeds from fees and charges;
• Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions;
• revenues derived from the sale of real property;
• one-off revenues with a value of less than $10,000 derived from the sale of property other than real

property; and
• other departmental revenue.
In accordance with the determination, the Department retained $17,819m in 2004 ($14,983m in 2003).
Retained revenues may only be applied to the outputs specified in the 2003-2004 Budget Statements.

(d)Grants and other contributions
Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions are recognised as revenue when the
Department obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions.  Control is normally obtained
upon their receipt.
Contributions are recognised at their fair value.  Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair
value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.

(e)Revenue recognition
Revenue from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets and the rendering of services is recognised
when the Department has passed control of the goods or other assets or delivery of the service to the
customer.

(f) Acquisitions of assets
The cost method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets. Cost is measured as the fair value
of the assets given up or liabilities undertaken at the date of acquisition plus incidental costs directly
attributable to the acquisition.
Assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, are initially recognised at their fair value at the
date of acquisition.

(g)Depreciation of non-current assets
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated
useful lives in a manner which reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis, using rates which are reviewed annually.  Expected
useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are:
Computer Hardware 3 years
Computer Software 3 years
Furniture and Fittings 10 years
Office equipment 5 years
Vehicles 5 years

(h) Leases
The Department has entered into a number of operating lease arrangements for the rent of the office
building where the lesser effectively retains all of the risks and benefits incident to ownership of the
items held under the operating leases.  Equal instalments of the lease payments are charged to the
Statement of Financial Performance over the lease term, as this is representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the leased property.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2004
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(i) Cash
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash assets and restricted cash assets.

(j) Accrued salaries
The accrued salaries suspense account (refer note 17) consists of amounts paid annually into a suspense
account over a period of 10 financial years to largely meet the additional cash outflow in each eleventh
year when 27 paydays occur in that year instead of the normal 26.  No interest is received on this account.
Accrued salaries (refer note 24) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial
year, as the end of the last pay period for that financial year does not coincide with the end of the
financial year.  Accrued salaries are settled within a few days of the financial year end.  The Department
considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to the net fair value.

(k) Receivables
Receivables are recognised at the amounts receivable, as they are due for settlement no more than 30
days from the date of recognition.
Collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Debts, which are known to be uncollectable,
are written off.  A provision for doubtful debts is raised where some doubt as to collection exists.

(l) Licences
(i) Software
Significant costs associated with the acquisition or development of computer software are capitalised
and amortised on a straight-line basis over the periods of the expected benefit.
(ii) Web site costs
The department considers that it is not possible that any economic benefit of its web sites can be
reliably determined or measured.  Therefore costs in relation to web sites controlled by the
Department are charged as expenses.

(m)Payables
Payables, including accruals not yet billed, are recognised when the Department becomes obliged to
make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. Payables are generally settled
within 30 days.

(n) Employee benefits

Annual leave
This benefit is recognised at the reporting date in respect to employees’ services up to that date and is
measured at the nominal amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Long service leave
The liability for long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date is
recognised in the provisions for employee benefits and is measured at the nominal amounts expected to
be paid when the liability is settled.   The liability for long service leave expected to be settled more than
12 months from the reporting date is recognised in the provisions for employee benefits and is
measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided
by employees up to the reporting date.  Consideration is given, when assessing expected future
payments, to expected future wage and salary levels including relevant on costs, experience of
employee departures and periods of service.  
Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national
government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated
future cash outflows. 

Superannuation
Staff may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefits pension scheme now closed to new
members, or to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme, a defined benefit lump sum scheme now also
closed to new members.  All staff who do not contribute to either of these schemes become non-
contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme, an accumulation fund complying with
the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.  All of these
schemes are administered by the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).
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The superannuation expense comprises the following elements:
(i) change in the unfunded employer’s liability in respect of current employees who are members of

the Pension Scheme and current employees who accrued a benefit on transfer from that Scheme
to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme; and

(ii) employer contributions paid to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme and the West State
Superannuation Scheme.

The superannuation expense does not include payment of pensions to retirees, as this does not
constitute part of the cost of services provided by the Department in the current year.
A revenue “Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer” equivalent to (i) is recognised under Revenues from
State Government in the Statement of Financial Performance as the unfunded liability is assumed by the
Treasurer.  The GESB makes the benefit payments and is recouped by the Treasurer.
The Department is funded for employer contributions in respect of the Gold State Superannuation
Scheme and the West State Superannuation Scheme. These contributions were paid to the GESB during
the year. The GESB subsequently paid the employer contributions in respect of the Gold State
Superannuation Scheme to the Consolidated Fund.

Employee benefit on-costs
Employee benefit on-costs are recognised and included in employee benefit liabilities and costs when the
employee benefits to which they relate are recognised as liabilities and expenses.  (See notes 4 and 23).

(o)Resources received free of charge or for nominal value
Resources received free of charge or for nominal value, which can be reliably measured, are recognised
as revenues and as assets or expenses as appropriate at fair value.

(p)Comparative figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified so as to be comparable with the figures
presented in the current financial year.

(q)Rounding of amounts
Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain
cases, to the nearest dollar.

3. Outputs of the Department 

Information about the Department’s outputs and the expenses and revenues, which are reliably
attributable to those outputs, is set out in the Output Schedule.  Information about expenses, revenues,
assets and liabilities administered by the Department are given in notes 35, 37 and 38.
The three key outputs of the Department:

Output 1: Community Information and Assistance 

Access to knowledge, information and support so that members of the community can exercise their
rights and meet their obligations in the various areas of DOCEP’s responsibility.

Output 2: Regulatory Framework

Development and maintenance of policy and legislation which reflect community expectations in relation
to the various areas of DOCEP’s responsibility.

Output 3: Regulation Enforcement

Enforcement of regulation governing the various areas of DOCEP’s responsibility.
As indicated in the Output Schedule of Expenses and Revenues, the Department outputs have been
revised for 2003-04.
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2004 2003
$’000 $’000

4. Employee expenses

Wages and salaries 36,087 32,500
Superannuation 3,936 3,862
Long service leave 468 548
Annual leave 464 775
Other related expenses 1,849 2,084

42,804 39,769

The employee expenses include superannuation, workers compensation premiums and other employment
on-costs associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability.  The related on-costs
liability is included in employee benefits liabilities at Note 23.

5. Supplies and Services

Consultants and contractors 4,966 4,494
Materials 776 881
Insurance 203 233
Motor vehicles 1,223 1,213
Other 659 638

7,827 7,459

6. Depreciation expense

Computer Hardware 970 1,369
Computer Software 253 254
Furniture and Fittings 365 252
Vehicles 17 17
Office Equipment 149 162

1,754 2,054

7. Administration expenses

Communications 1,524 1,615
Consumables 1,730 1,612
Maintenance 572 518
Other 777 886

4,603 4,631

8. Accommodation expenses

Lease rentals 4,605 4,537
Repairs and maintenance 191 35
Cleaning 132 131

4,928 4,703

9. Grants and subsidies

Consumer Credit Legal Services 82 81
Farmsafe WA 70 70
Asbestos Diseases Society 83 83
Chamber of Commerce & Industry WA 60 50
Unions WA 60 50
Small Business Development 0 20
Unions & Associations - award updating 108 106
Other Miscellaneous 59 0

522 460
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$’000 $’000

10. Capital User Charge

Capital User Charge 625 405

A capital user charge rate of 8 per cent has been set by Government and represents the opportunity cost of
capital invested in the net assets of the Department used in the provision of outputs.  The charge is
calculated on the net assets adjusted to take account of exempt assets.  Payments are made to the
Department of Treasury and Finance on a quarterly basis.

11. Other expenses from ordinary activities

Adjustments from prior year 23 66

12. User charges and fees

User charges and fees 15,852 13,971

User charges and fees breakdown
Real Estate & Settlement Agents Board - recoup of costs 8,361 7,219
Business names 1,114 1,068
REVS 1,893 1,808
Trading Standards 340 253
Worksafe 1,172 904
Energy Safety 2,453 2,221
Plumbers 503 480
Other 16 18

Total User Charges and Fees 15,852 13,971

13. Commonwealth grants and contributions

Indian Ocean Territories 204 165
Compliance and Information Services (1) 180 200

384 365
(1) Federal funding for the delivery of compliance and information services.

14. Other revenues from ordinary activities

Other revenue 1,570 639

1,570 639

15. Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets

Gain on Disposal of Non-Current Assets
Computers - Hardware 13 8

Loss on Disposal of Non-Current Assets
Office equipment 0 (1)

Net gain/(loss) 13 7
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2004 2003
$’000 $’000

16. Revenues from State Government

Appropriation revenue received during the year:
Output appropriations (1) 45,298 42,775

45,298 42,775

The following liabilities have been assumed by the Treasurer during the financial year:
Superannuation (2) 551 794

Total liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 551 794

Resources received free of charge (3)
Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies:
Office of the Auditor General 0 111
Crown Solicitor’s Office 444 542
Commercial Property Office 72 68

Total resources received free of charge 516 721

Total revenues from State Government 46,365 44,290

(1) Output appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the full cost of outputs delivered.  The
appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset).  The receivable (holding
account) comprises the depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increases in leave liability
during the year.

(2) The assumption of the superannuation liability by the Treasurer is only a notional revenue to offset the
notional superannuation expense reported in respect of current employees who are members of the
pension scheme and current employees who have a transfer benefit entitlement under the Gold State
Superannuation Scheme.

(3) Where assets or services have been received free of charge for nominal consideration, the Department
recognises revenues (except where the contributions of assets or services are in the nature of
contributions by owners in which case the Department shall make a direct adjustment to equity)
equivalent to the fair value of the assets and/or the fair value of those and those fair values shall be
recognised as assets or expenses, as applicable.
Commencing with the 2003-04 audit, the Office of the Auditor General will be charging a fee for
auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators.  The fee for the 2003-04 audit
($120,000 excluding GST) will be due and payable in the 2004-05 financial year.

17. Restricted cash assets

Current
Consumer Credit Trust Account 664 544
Departmental Receipts in Suspense 127 140
Commonwealth Government - Indian Ocean Territories 18 8
Safetyline Institute 87 76
Accrued salaries suspense account (1) 1,681 0
Capital contributions not spent 0 2,170

2,577 2,938

Non-Current

Accrued salaries suspense account (1) 0 1,263

(1) Amount held in the suspense account is only to be used for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a
financial year that occurs every 11 years.  The 11th year is 2004-05.
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18. Receivables

Current
Trade debtors 2,294 4,050
Provision for doubtful debts (11) (11)
GST receivables 357 188

2,640 4,227

19. Amounts receivable for outputs

Current 2,799 1,944

This asset represents the non-cash component of output appropriations.  
It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment 
of leave liability.

20. Other assets

Current
Other including prepayments 690 651

690 651
Non-current
Prepayments 8 8

8 8

21. Property, plant, equipment and vehicles

Computer hardware
At cost 3,967 3,153
Accumulated depreciation (2,854) (1,923)

1,113 1,230

Computer software
At cost 1,093 588
Accumulated depreciation (588) (339)

505 249

Furniture and fittings
At cost 3,861 3,607
Accumulated depreciation (1,042) (677)

2,819 2,930

Vehicles
At cost 80 80
Accumulated depreciation (50) (33)

30 47

Office equipment
At cost 869 668
Accumulated depreciation (398) (249)

471 419

Total
At cost 9,870 8,096
Accumulated depreciation (4,932) (3,221)

Total Property, Plant, Equipment and Vehicles 4,938 4,875
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Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment and vehicles 
at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out below.
Computer hardware
Carrying amount at start of year 1,230 1,634
Reclassifications 0 149
Write-offs - opening balance variance 0 1
Transfer from Office of Energy 0 123
Additions 853 692
Depreciation (970) (1,369)
Carrying amount at end of year 1,113 1,230

Computer software
Carrying amount at start of year 249 278
Reclassifications 0 9
Additions 505 216
Depreciation (249) (254)
Carrying amount at end of year 505 249

Furniture and fittings
Carrying amount at start of year 2,930 1,130
Reclassifications 0 (1)
Transfer from Office of Energy 0 1
Additions 254 2,052
Depreciation (365) (252)
Carrying amount at end of year 2,819 2,930

Telecommunications
Carrying amount at start of year 0 14
Reclassifications 0 (14)
Carrying amount at end of year 0 0

Vehicles
Carrying amount at start of year 47 64
Depreciation (17) (17)
Carrying amount at end of year 30 47

Office equipment
Carrying amount at start of year 419 481
Reclassifications 0 (143)
Write-offs - opening balance variance 0 (1)
Transfer from Office of Energy 0 36
Additions 201 209
Disposals 0 (1)
Depreciation (149) (162)
Carrying amount at end of year 471 419

Total - Property, Plant, Equipment and Vehicles
Carrying amount at start of year 4,875 3,601
Transfer from Office of Energy 0 160
Additions 1,813 3,169
Disposals 0 (1)
Depreciation (1,750) (2,054)

Carrying amount at end of year 4,938 4,875
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22. Payables

Current
Trade payables 1,507 1,108

1,507 1,108
Non-current
Trade payables
Other 791 684

791 684

23. Provisions

Current
Annual leave 3,658 3,191
Long service leave 2,509 2,241

6,167 5,432
Non-current
Long service leave 3,798 3,595

3,798 3,595

The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs
including superannuation and workers compensation premiums.  The liability for such on-costs is included in
the figures.  The associated expense is included under the Employee Expenses at Note 4.
The department considers the carrying amount of employee benefits to approximate the net fair value.

Employee Benefit Liabilities
The aggregate employee benefit liability recognised and included in the financial statements is as follows:
Provision for employee benefits:
Current 6,167 5,432
Non-current 3,798 3,595

9,965 9,027

24. Other liabilities

Current
Accrued salaries (1) 1,785 929
Remunerator 16 16
Unearned revenue - Plumbers licensing Board 350 247
Other 105 59

2,256 1,251

(1) Amount owing for 9 working days 17/6/04 to 30/6/04 (2003 - 20/6/03 to 30/6/03, 7 working days).
Accrued salaries are settled within a few working days of the financial year end.  The carrying amount
of accrued salaries is equivalent to the net fair value.
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25. Equity

Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Department.  The 
Government holds the equity interest in the Department on behalf of the community.

Contributed equity

Opening balance 4,420 2,613
Capital contribution (1) 1,372 2,156
Contributions/(Withdrawals) by owners (2) 0 (349)

Closing balance 5,792 4,420

(1) Capital contributions have been designated as contributions by owners and are credited directly to
equity in the Statement of Financial Position.

(2) The withdrawal in 2002/03 arose from the transfer of the Technical Services Division of Office of
Energy to the Department of Consumer and Employment Protection from 1 July 2002.  Liabilities
assumed exceeded assets by $348,944.

Accumulated surplus/(deficiency)

Opening balance 2,135 2,410
Change in net assets 1,098 (275)

Closing balance 3,233 2,135

26. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

(a) Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is 
reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:
Cash assets 9,892 2,719
Restricted cash assets (refer to Note 17) 2,577 4,201

12,469 6,920

(b) Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/
(used in) operating activities

Net cost of services (45,267) (44,565)
Non-cash items:
Depreciation expense 1,754 2,054
Superannuation expense 551 794
Resources received free of charge 516 721
Net (gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (13) (7)
(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Current receivables (2) 1,944 (740)
Other current assets (39) (110)
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Current payables (2) 399 (1,961)
Current provisions 735 525
Unearned revenue 103 42
Non-current payables 107 645
Other liabilities 902 226
Non current provisions 203 799
Net GST receipts/payments (1) (357) 364
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (38,462) (41,213)

(1) This is the net GST paid/received i.e. Cash transactions.
(2) Note that ATO receivable/payable in respect of GST and receivable/payable in respect of the

sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they are not reconciling items.
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27. Commitments for expenditure

(a) Lease commitments
Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at reporting date but not 
recognised as liabilities are payable:
Within 1 year 6,600 6,100
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 23,100 22,800
Later than 5 years 10,500 9,700

40,200 38,600
Representing:
Non-cancellable operating leases 40,200 38,600

28. Contingent Liabilities

In addition to the liabilities incorporated in the financial statements, the Department has the following
contingent liabilities:
(a) The State of Western Australia has granted a deed of indemnity dated 7 February 2001 to the liquidators

of specified finance companies in respect to actions pursuant to their duties as appointed liquidators.  It
is not practicable to estimate the amount of the potential liability.  There are several other claims that
have been lodged to the Finance Brokers Supervisory Board by investors.  The potential liability is
difficult to calculate at present and it is also not clear which agencies, if any, may be liable.

29. Events occurring after reporting date

The Department is not aware of any events occurring after the reporting date.

30. Explanatory statement

The Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations and Revenue Estimates discloses appropriations and
other statutes expenditure estimates, the actual expenditures made and revenue estimates and payments
into the Consolidated Fund Appropriations are now on an accrual basis.
The following explanations are provided in accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 945.
Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 10 per cent.

(i) Significant variances between estimate and actual - Total appropriation to purchase outputs:

Although there was no significant variance in the total appropriation, there were significant offsetting
variances in the following output expenditures:

2004 2004

Estimate Actual

$000 $000

Total appropriation provided to deliver outputs for the year 42,640 45,298
Total revenues from ordinary activities 17,055 17,819

Total appropriation provided to deliver outputs for the year - variance $2,658,000

The variance is mainly due to the funding required to meet the costs in relation to the proposed industry
funding for Energy Safety Division which did not eventuate in 2003-04.

Total revenues from ordinary activities - variance $764,000

The variance is mainly due to the additional funds received in relation to Plumbers licence fees on transfer
of the responsibility for administration of the plumbing industry to DOCEP.

(ii) Significant variances between actual and prior year actual - Total appropriation to purchase
outputs.

DOCEP implemented a new Output Based Management (OBM) performance framework for 2003-04.  The
new OBM framework has been devised to reflect DOCEP’s Corporate Plan: Future Directions 2002-05. As
this is a move away from previous DOCEP performance structure that reflected the former individual
agencies it embodies the aims of the 2001 Machinery Of Government review which resulted in the
formation of DOCEP.  The 2003-04 outputs are completely new and therefore comparable figures for 
2002-03 are not available.
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2004 2003

Actual Actual

$000 $000

Total appropriation provided to deliver outputs for the year 45,298 42,775
Total revenues from ordinary activities 17,819 14,983

Total appropriation provided to deliver outputs for the year - variance $2,523,000

The variance is mainly due to the funding required to meet the costs in relation to the proposed industry
funding for Energy Safety Division which did not eventuate in 2003-04.
Total revenues from ordinary activities - variance $2,836,000
The variance is mainly due to the increased revenue received for inspection and licensing activities than
was anticipated.

(iii) Significant variances between actual and prior year actual 

- Capital Contribution: 2004 2003

Actual Actual

$000 $000

Capital contribution 1,372 2,156

The variance is mainly due to funding being partly provided for capital expenditure with funds from the
Holding account.

(iv) Significant variances between estimate and actual, and actual and prior year actual

- Administered Revenues

The variance between the estimate and actual for 2004 is mainly due to less revenue being received than
anticipated from the reinstigation of the Business Names Renewal Fee.
The variance between the actual figures for 2004 and 2003 is mainly due to the additional revenue received
from the reinstigation of the Business Names Renewal Fee.

31. Financial Instruments 

(a) Interest Rate Risk Exposure
Currently the department has no exposure to interest rate risk or repricing maturities as its operating
bank account is a non-interest bearing account and its financial instruments are therefore stated at their
net fair value.

(b) Credit Risk Exposure
All financial assets are unsecured.
Amounts owing by other government agencies are guaranteed and therefore no credit risk exists in
respect of these amounts.  In respect of other financial assets the carrying amount represent the
department’s maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of those amounts.

32. Remuneration of Senior Officers

Remuneration
The number of senior officers, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation and other benefits for
the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

$ 2004 2003

80,001 -  90,000  2 1
90,001 - 100,000 8 13

100,001 - 110,000 5 4
110,001 - 120,000 5 5
120,001 - 130,000 1 0
130,001 - 140,000 1 0
140,001 - 150,000 0 0
150,001 - 160,000 0 1
160,001 - 170,000 1 0
170,001 - 180,000 0 1
180,001 - 190,000 1 0

The total remuneration of senior officers is: 2,641 2,660

The superannuation included here represents the superannuation expense incurred by the Department in
respect of senior officers.
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33. Related bodies

The Department has no related bodies.

34. Affiliated bodies

The Department has no affiliated bodies.

2004 2003
$’000 $’000

35. Trust and Restricted Cash Accounts

Summary Details
Trust Accounts (Controlled)

Consumer Credit Act (WA) 664 544

Departmental Receipts in Suspense 127 140

791 684

Trust Accounts (Administered)

Rental Accommodation Fund 51,743 43,904

Restricted Cash Accounts

Safetyline Institute 87 76
Indian Ocean Territories 18 (11)

105 65

Detailed Breakdown

Trust Accounts

Consumer Credit Act (WA) (1)
Opening balance 544 39
Receipts: 320 505
Payments: (200) 0

Closing balance 664 544

Departmental Receipts in Suspense (2)
Opening balance 140 113
Receipts: 127 45
Payments: (140) (18)

Closing balance 127 140

Administered
Rental Accommodation Fund (3)
Opening balance 43,904 37,604
Receipts: 37,366 34,461
Payments: (29,527) (28,161)

Closing balance 51,743 43,904

(1) Holds funds pending distribution in accordance with the Consumer Credit (WA) Act 1986 or court
direction.

(2) Holds funds pending identification of the purpose for which the monies were received.
(3) Holds rental security bonds and the income there from in accordance with clause 3(1) of schedule 1 of

the Residential Tenancies Act.
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Restricted Cash Accounts

Safetyline Institute (4)
Opening balance 76 63
Receipts: 11 13
Payments: 0 0

Closing balance 87 76

Indian Ocean Territories (5)
Opening balance (11) 2
Receipts: 204 165
Payments: (175) (178)

Closing balance 18 (11)

(4) The fund was created under the State Trading Concerns Act 1916 and controls income received in
respect of the provisions of copyright materials and a relevant trade mark advertising opportunities or
similar arrangements.

(5) DOCEP has a service delivery agreement with the Commonwealth Government to undertake to provide
its normal service to the Christmas and Cocos Islands.

36. Supplementary financial information

Write-Offs
During the financial year $58,867.69 was written off under the authority of:
The Accountable Officer 12 6
The Minister 47 0

59 6
Losses through Theft, Defaults and Other Causes
Losses of public monies and public and other property through
theft or default 10 39
Amount recovered 10 39

Gifts of Public Property
The Department received no gifts of public property.

37. Administered Expenses and Revenues

Expenses
Receipts paid into Consolidated Fund 5,311 3,928

Total administered expenses 5,311 3,928
Revenues
Regulatory fees and charges 5,311 3,928

Total administered revenues 5,311 3,928

Payments of Fees and Fines to the Consolidated Fund.  DOCEP is responsible for the collection of certain
fees and fines.  These are not classified as operating revenue and expenses and are credited to the
Consolidated Fund.
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Collections made during the year:
Business Names Registrations 3,615 2,493
Other Registration Fees 108 96
Credit Providers 590 388
Employment Agents 73 60
Finance Brokers 146 253
Land Valuers 12 23
Motor Vehicle Dealers 608 521
Travel Agents 93 61
Plumbers 2 5
Petroleum Pricing 64 2
Other 0 26

Total 5,311 3,928

38. Administered Assets and Liabilities

Current Assets

Cash Assets 0 0
Receivables 136 22
Total administered current assets 136 22

Total Administered Assets 136 22

Current Liabilities

Payables 136 22
Total administered current liabilities 136 22

Total Administered Liabilities 136 22

The administered assets, liabilities, expenses and revenues are those which the Government requires the
department to administer on its behalf.

39. The Impact of Adopting International Accounting Standards

DOCEP is adopting international accounting standards in compliance with AASB 1 First-time Adoption of
Australian Equivalents to International Financial reporting Standards (IFRS).
AASB 1 requires an opening balance sheet as at 1 July 20004 and the restatement of the financial
statements for the reporting period to 30 June 2005 on the IFRS basis.  These financial statements will be
presented as comparatives in the first annual financial report prepared on an IFRS basis for the period
ending 30 June 2006.
AASB 1047 Disclosing the Impacts of Adopting Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting
Standards requires financial reports for periods ending on or after 30 June 2004 to disclose:
1. How the transition to Australian equivalents to IFRSs is being managed 

The Department of Consumer and Employment Protection transition process is progressing
concurrently with the preparation of an opening IFRS balance sheet in accordance with AASB 1 as at 
1 July 2004 (the date of transition to IFRS). DOCEP Finance staff are keeping abreast of changes
through the review of available information, such as publications on the CPA Australia and Department
of Treasury and Finance websites and by attending relevant workshops. Staff within the Department
will be briefed on any IFRS issue that affects the Department.

2. Key differences in accounting policies that are expected to arise from adopting Australian equivalents to
IFRS
The Department of Consumer and Employment Protection does not anticipate any potential significant
differences.  The areas where potential differences of a minor nature are anticipated are the Property,
Plant and Equipment and Employee Benefits.
Quantitative information relating to the above changes was not known or reliably estimable at the time
these financial statements were prepared.
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Metropolitan offices Regional offices

Consumer Protection
219 St Georges Terrace Viskovich House
Perth, Western Australia 6000 377 Hannan St
Locked Bag 14 Kalgoorlie, Western Australia 6430
Cloisters Square, Western Australia 6850 Phone: +61 8 9021 5966
Consumer Protection Advice Line Fax: +61 8 9021 5977
1300 30 40 54 (cost of a local call)

For new enquiries and general advice Unit 2 / 129 Aberdeen St
Phone: +61 8 9282 0777 Albany, Western Australia 6330
Fax: +61 8 9282 0850 Phone: +61 8 9842 8366
TTY: +61 8 9282 0800 Fax: +61 8 9842 8377
Email: consumer@docep.wa.gov.au

Energy Safety 50 - 52 Durlacher St 
20 Southport Street Geraldton, Western Australia 6530 
West Leederville, Western Australia 6007 Phone: +61 8 9964 5644
Phone: +618 9422 5200 Fax: +61 8 9964 5678
Fax: +618 9422 5244
Email: energysafety@docep.wa.gov.au

Labour Relations
Dumas House Unit 9, 
2 Havelock Street Karratha Village Shopping Centre 
West Perth, Western Australia 6005 Sharpe Avenue Karratha, 

Western Australia 6714

Wageline 1300 655 266 Phone: +61 8 9185 0900
For information on employment Fax: +61 8 9185 1234
conditions and wages in the 
private sector in Western Australia.

Phone: +61 8 9222 7700 
Fax: +61 8 9222 7777 
Email: labourrelations@docep.wa.gov.au

WorkSafe
5th Floor Westcentre, 8th Floor Bunbury Tower
1260 Hay Street West Perth, 61 Victoria Street
Western Australia 6005 Bunbury, Western Australia 6230
PO Box 294 West Perth, Phone: +61 8 9722 2888
Western Australia 6872 Fax: +61 8 9791 8047
Phone: +61 8 9327 8777
Fax: +61 8 9321 8973 
TTY: +61 8 9327 8838
Email: safety@docep.wa.gov.au

ANNUAL REPORT FEEDBACK
If you would like to provide feedback on any aspect of DOCEP’s 2003-04
Annual Report please email your comments to:
arfeedback@docep.wa.gov.au

CONTACT DETAILS
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ACTU Australian Council of Trade Unions
AUSFTA Australia - USA Free Trade Agreement
BCIIB Building and Construction Industry Improvement Bill 
CALS Compliance and Licensing System
CFMEU Construction, Forestry, Mining and Energy Union
CSO Customer Service Officer
CSS Customer Service Strategy
Cwth Commonwealth
DIMIA Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs
DOCEP Department of Consumer and Employment Protection
DSP Disability Service Plan
EEO Equal Employment Opportunity
EO Equal Opportunity 
ERAC Electricity Regulatory Authorities Council
FAQs Frequently Asked Questions
FESA Fire and Emergency Services Authority of WA 
FOI Freedom of Information
FRIT Functional Review Implementation Team
FTE Full time equivalent
GST Goods and Services Tax
GTRC Gas Technical Regulators Committee
HRAC Human Resources Advisory Committee
IDMS Integrated Document Management System
IFAP Industrial Foundation for Accident Prevention
ILO International Labour Organisation
JSCOT Joint Standing Committee on Treaties 
KPI Key Performance Indicator
LRRA Labour Relations Reform Act
MOU Memorandum of Understanding
NAIDOC National Aboriginal Islander Day Observance Committee
NOHSC National Occupational Health and Safety Commission
NOSEC National Oil Supplies Emergency Committee
OBM Output Based Management
ODCO Contracts that involve workers having a tripartite working

arrangement between themselves, a business they provide labour
for and a third party that hires their labour exclusively to the other
business

ODG Office of the Director General
OSH Occupational Safety and Health
PDS Performance Development System
PI Performance Indicator
PID Public Interest Disclosure
PINs Provisional Improvement Notices
PSM Public Sector Medal
RAMS Recruitment Advertising Management System
RCDs Residual Current Devices
REBA Real Estate Board Australia
REVS Register of Encumbered Vehicles
RKP Record Keeping Plan
SASB Settlement Agent’s Board 
SAT State Administrative Tribunal
SSC Senate Select Committee 
ULP Unleaded Petroleum
WA Western Australia
WACOSS Western Australian Council of Social Services
WAIRC Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission
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LEGISLATION ADMINISTERED BY DOCEP

DOCEP assists the Minister with the administration of the following Acts of
Parliament:

Acts Amendment and Repeal Industrial Relations Act (No.2) 1984 - this Act
consolidated, amended and replaced the Industrial Arbitration Act 1912, and
amended the Industrial Relations Act 1979. This Act has transitional provisions
which still apply. 

Associations Incorporation Act 1987 - provides a means by which
associations (such as clubs and societies) can become incorporated bodies
(limited to securities over crops, livestock and wool). 

Auction Sales Act 1973 - provides for the licensing of auctioneers.

Bills of Sale Act 1899 - provides for the creation of personal property
securities and originally provided a registration scheme covering most personal
property. The Chattels Securities Act 1987 has amended the operation of this
Act and limited its scope.

Bread Act 1982 - provides for a system of licensing bake-houses and limits
trading and baking hours.  

Builders’ Registration Act 1939 - provides for a system of registration and
discipline of builders and for the establishment of the Building Disputes Tribunal.

Business Names Act 1962 - establishes a system of registration of business
names.

Charitable Collections Act 1946 - establishes a system for licensing of
charitable organisations and inspection of their financial records.

Chattel Securities Act 1987 - provides for a system of creation and
registration of personal property securities. At present operation of the Act is
limited to registering securities over motor vehicles and recreational boats. 

Commercial Tenancy (Retail Shops) Agreements Act 1985 - regulates some
aspects of the relationship between commercial landlords and tenants in
relation to retail shops and provides for a dispute resolution process.

Companies (Co-operative) Act 1943 - regulates the formation of cooperative
Companies and their management.

Competition Policy Reform (Western Australia) Act 1996 - applies certain
parts of the Trade Practices Act 1974 of the Commonwealth as the law of
Western Australia, to prohibit all persons carrying on business in from engaging
in anti-competitive conduct.

Competition Policy Reform (Taxing) Act 1996 - provides the power to collect
certain fees imposed by the Competition Policy Reform (W.A.) Act 1996 as
taxes, as required by the Constitution Acts Amendment Act 1899.

Conspiracy and Protection of Property Act 1900 - protects persons who
combine together to take industrial action, from being liable to be convicted of
the crime of conspiracy. 

Construction Industry Portable Paid Long Service Leave Act 1985 -
provides portable long service leave entitlements to employees in the
construction industry.

Consumer Affairs Act 1971 - establishes the Ministry of Fair Trading (originally
Consumer Affairs) and the office of Commissioner for Fair Trading. Describes
the functions of the Ministry and empowers the Commissioner to undertake
those functions and do other things in relation to them.
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Consumer Credit (Western Australia) Act 1996 - regulates all forms of
consumer credit including home loans and applies to all credit providers
including banks, building societies and credit unions. From 1 June 2002 also
regulates short term credit providers (pay-day lenders).

Cooperative and Provident Societies Act 1903 - An Act to provide for the
registration and regulation of the general activities of societies.

Credit Act 1984 - regulates the provision of credit for private purposes in
amounts less than $20,000. Largely superseded by the Consumer Credit
(Western Australia) Act 1966.

Credit (Administration) Act 1984 - establishes a licensing system for credit
providers who provide credit under the Credit Act 1984.

Debt Collectors Licensing Act 1964 - establishes a licensing and disciplinary
system for debt collectors.

Disposal of Uncollected Goods Act 1970 - provides a statutory system to
provide for the orderly sale and disposal of uncollected goods and goods the
owners of which cannot be traced.

Distress for Rent Abolition Act 1936 - abolished, subject to the operation of
the Property Law Act 1969, the remedy of distress (seizure of personal
property) for arrears of rent.

Door to Door Trading Act 1987 - regulates the conduct of businesses
engaged in door to door trading and provides consumer remedies for goods or
services purchased.

Employment Agents Act 1976 - establishes a licensing and disciplinary
system for employment agents.

Fair Trading Act 1987 - deals with misleading or deceptive conduct and related
issues, pyramid sales schemes and related issues, consumer warranties, and
provides for creation of codes of conduct for businesses.

Finance Brokers Control Act 1975 - establishes the Finance Brokers
Supervisory Board and provides for a system of licensing and disciplining of
finance brokers.

Hairdressers Registration Act 1946 - establishes the Hairdressers Registration
Board and provides for a system of registering and disciplining hairdressers. 

Hire Purchase Act 1959 - regulates the provisions of hire purchase finance.
Operation of the Act is affected by the Credit Act 1984.

Home Building Contracts Act 1991 - regulates contracts between consumers
and builders for performing home building work and makes provision for home
indemnity insurance.

Industrial Relations Act 1979 - establishes the Western Australian Industrial
Relations Commission, and provides the framework for award and agreement
making and the resolution of industrial disputes.

Industrial Relations Amendment Act 1993 - amended the Industrial Relations
Act 1979.

Industrial Legislation Amendment Act 1995 - provided further amendments
to the Industrial Relations Act 1979.

Industrial Relations Legislation Amendment and Repeal Act 1995 - amended
the Industrial Relations Act 1979 and repealed various redundant statutes.

Labour Relations Legislation Reform Act 1997 - amended the Industrial
Relations Act 1979 and the Workplace Agreements Act 1993.

Labour Relations Reform Act 2002 - amended the Industrial Relations Act
1979, the Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993 and provided for the
repeal of the Workplace Agreements Act 1993.
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Labour Relations Legislation Amendment Act 1997 - provided further
amendments to the Industrial Relations Act 1979. 

Land Valuers Licensing Act 1978 - establishes Land Valuers Licensing Board
and provides for a system of licensing and disciplining of land valuers. 

Law Reform (Common Employment) Act 1951 - places vicarious liability on
employers for injury to an employee caused by negligence of a fellow
employee. 

Limited Partnership Act 1909 - regulates the creation of limited partnerships
and the rights and obligations of members of limited partnerships.

Long Service Leave Act 1958 - provides a long service leave entitlement for
employees whose employment is not subject to an award or other industrial
instrument.

Metric Conversion Act 1972 - provides for the use of the metric system of
measurement to replace previous references to physical quantities in other
legislation.

Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993 - provides a safety net of
minimum conditions of employment for all employees in the state labour
relations system.

Motor Vehicle Dealers Act 1973 - establishes the Motor Vehicle Dealers
Licensing Board and provides for a licensing and discipline system for motor
vehicle dealers, yard managers and salespersons.

New Tax System Price Exploitation Code (Western Australia) Act 1999 -
applies the provisions of the Commonwealth’s New Tax System Price
Exploitation Code to individuals and partnerships.

New Tax System Price Exploitation Code (Taxing) Act 1999 - supports the
introduction of the New Tax System Price Exploitation Code by imposing any
necessary fees.

Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984  - An Act to promote and improve
standards for occupational safety and health, to establish the Commission for
Occupational Safety and Health, to facilitate the co-ordination of the
administration of the laws relating to occupational safety and health and for
incidental and other purposes.

Painters Registration Act 1961 - establishes the Painters’ Registration Board
and provides for a system of registration and disciplining of painters.

Petroleum Products Pricing Act 1983 - provides for control of petroleum
product prices in circumstances specified in the Act.

Petroleum Retailers Rights and Liabilities Act 1982 - deals with the rights
and liabilities of persons in businesses occupying land for the purpose of selling
petroleum products.

Public and Bank Holidays Act 1972 - prescribes the public holidays and bank
holidays which are to be observed within Western Australia.

Real Estate and Business Agents Act 1978 - establishes the Real Estate and
Business Agents Supervisory Board and provides for a system of licensing and
discipline for real estate and business agents.

Residential Tenancies Act 1987 - regulates the formation of residential
tenancy agreements and the conduct of the parties bound by those
agreements.

Retail Trading Hours Act 1987 - provides for the regulation of trading hours to
be observed by businesses operating in Western Australia.

Retirement Villages Act 1992 - regulates the establishment of retirement
villages and the rights of residents of retirement villages.
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Sale of Goods Act 1895 - to be read in conjunction with the Fair Trading Act
1987. Implies into contracts, in circumstances described in the Act, terms and
conditions relating to the sale of goods.

Sale of Goods (Vienna Convention) Act 1986 - incorporates into Western
Australian law the provisions of the United Nations Convention on Contracts for
the international sale of goods.

Settlement Agents Act 1981 - establishes Settlement Agents Supervisory
Board and provides for a licensing and disciplinary system for settlement agents. 

Shearers’ Accommodation Act 1912 - An Act to provide for the proper and
sufficient accommodation of shearers and shed-hands, and for incidental and
other purposes.

Street Collections (Regulation) Act 1940 - establishes a system for regulating
the conduct of street collections.

Sunday Entertainment Act 1979 - regulates the ability of businesses to open
on Sundays.

Trading Stamp Act 1981 - prohibits the redemption of “third party trading stamps”.

Travel Agents Act 1985 - provides for a system of licensing of travel agents.

Water Services Co-ordination Act (Part 5 only) 1995 - establishes the
Plumbers Licensing Board and provides for a system of registering and
disciplining plumbers.

Weights and Measures Act 1915 - provides for uniform standards of weighing
and measurement in Western Australia and for the maintenance of standard
weights and measures.

Wheat Products (Prices Fixation) Act 1938 - provides for the establishment
of the Wheat Products Prices Committee and for the committee to have the
power to fix minimum and maximum prices for the sale of wheat and wheat
products (not operating).

Workmen’s Wages Act 1898 - provides for wages of people employed in
manual labour be paid weekly unless the employee otherwise agrees in writing,
and for employees to secure payment of their wages against money due to
their employer.

Additionally, the Director of Energy Safety and Energy Safety assist the Minister
for Energy to administer the following Acts of Parliament:

Electricity Act 1945 - covers the powers and obligations of supply authorities,
certain powers of inspection, the safety and energy efficiency of electrical
appliances and extensive regulation-making powers.

Energy Co-ordination Act 1994 - provides for the statutory office of the
Director of Energy Safety and determines the powers of Inspectors.

Fuel, Energy and Power Resources Act 1972 - provides for the conservation
and utilisation of the present and future sources and supplies of fuel, energy
and power in and to Western Australia.

Gas Standards Act 1972 - deals with the standards of purity, pressure and
safety of gas supplied, the inspection of gas installations, the regulation of the
practice of gasfitting (including licensing), the approval of gas appliances and
extensive regulation-making powers.

APPENDICES



Department of Consumer and Employment Protection  •  Annual Report 2003-04        PAGE 133

Appendices Appendix Two

APPENDIX TWO

CHANGES IN WRITTEN LAW

Consumer Protection 

Amendments that DOCEP initiated during the year are outlined in Table 29 below.

TABLE 29:  CONSUMER PROTECTION AMENDMENTS TO WRITTEN LAW
2003-04

Written law Number Gazettal date Pages

Settlement Agents  2004 6 Apr 2004 1131
Amendment Regulations (No. 2) 2004 15 June 2004 2024

Real Estate and Business 
Agents (General) 
Amendment Regulations 2004 13 Jan 2004 145

Travel Agents (Exemption) Order 2003 12 Dec 2003 5033

Travel Agents 
Amendment Regulations (No.2) 2003 9 Mar 2004 733

Weights and Measures 
(Exemptions) Amendment 
Regulations 2003 7 Oct 2003 4379

Employment Agents 
Amendment Regulations 2004 29 Jun 2004 2512

Finance Brokers (General) 
Amendment Regulations 2004 29 Jun 2004 2507

Hairdressers Registration 
Regulations 2004 29 Jun 2004 2510

Motor Vehicle Dealers (Licensing)
Amendment Regulations  2004 29 Jun 2004 2508

Weights and Measures 
Amendment Regulations 2004 29 Jun 2004 2513

Fair Trading 
(Product Safety Standard) 
Amendment Regulations (No 2) 2003 10 Oct 2003 4399

Fair Trading 
(Retirement Villages Code) 
Regulations 2003 9 Sep 2003 3971

Builders’ Registration 2003 12 Sep 2003 4071
Amendment Regulations (No 2) 2003 9 Jan 2004 86

Business Names 
Amendment Regulations 2004 9 Jan 2004 87

Home Building Contracts 
Amendment Regulations 2003 2 Sep 2003 3923

Retail Trading Hours 2004 13 Feb 2004 537
Amendment Regulations (No 2) 2004 20 Apr 2004 1297

Retirement Villages 
Amendment Regulations 2003 9 Sep 2003 4047
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Written law Number Gazettal date Pages

Settlement Agents’ Code of 
Conduct Amendment Rules 2003 4 Jul 2003 2689

Water Service Co-ordination 
(Plumbers Licensing) 
Amendment Regulations 2003 12 Sep 2003 4047

Water Service Co-ordination 
(Plumbers Licensing) 2004 28 Jun 2004 2397
Amendment Regulations (No. 2) 2004 1 June2004 1909

Consumer Credit Code 
Amendment Bill 43/2003 9 July 2003 2735

Motor Vehicle Repairers Bill 68/2003 Assent Not yet
9 Dec 2003 proclaimed

Motor Vehicle Dealers 73/2003 Assent Not yet
Amendment Bill 15 Dec 2003 proclaimed

Business Names Amendment 63/2003 Assent Commenced
26 Nov 2003 at assent

Energy Safety

Amendments that DOCEP initiated during the year are outlined in Table 30 below.

TABLE 30:  ENERGY SAFETY AMENDMENTS TO WRITTEN LAW 2003-04

Written law Number Gazettal date Pages

Electricity (Licensing) 
Amendment Regulations (No. 1) 2003 24 Oct 2003 4495-4499

Labour Relations

Amendments that DOCEP initiated during the year are outlined in Table 31 below.

TABLE 31: LABOUR RELATIONS AMENDMENTS TO WRITTEN LAW 2003-04

Written law Number Gazettal date Pages

Industrial Relations (General) 
Amendment Regulations (No. 112) 2004 29 June 2004 2516-2520

Occupational Safety and Health

Amendments initiated during the year are outlined in Table 32 below.

TABLE 32:  OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH AMENDMENTS TO
WRITTEN LAW 2003-04

Written law Number Gazettal date Pages

Occupational Safety and 2003 30 Oct 2003 4356-4358

Health Amendment Regulations (No. 2) 2003 30 Oct 2003 4358-4363

(No. 6) 2003 30 Dec 2003 5737-5743

2004 25 June 2004 2291-2293

(No. 4) 2004 25 June 2004 2294-2295
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MEMORANDA OF UNDERSTANDING, CO-AGENCY AGREEMENTS, 
AND INSTRUMENTS OF DECLARATION

Memoranda of understanding 

DOCEP recognises the benefits derived from working collaboratively with external
parties and as such has negotiated a number of Memoranda of Understandings
(MOUs) between a variety of bodies within the public and private sector.  These
MOUs provide a structured and formal arrangement for information sharing, and
are designed to improve the flow of information between parties where the two
have a common interest or legislative responsibility. 

In most cases the scope of MOUs is limited to selected areas of mutual interest,
so we have limited powers of request and exchange. At all times the information
exchanged is in accordance with a legislative power to do so, and always with
regard to other governing legislation such as the Privacy Act 1988 (Cwth). 

Examples of agencies/bodies with which DOCEP has an MOU include:

• Australian Competition and Consumer Commission
• Australian Securities and Investments Commission
• Australian Taxation Office
• Comcare
• Consumers’ Association of WA 
• CrimTrac Agency (Commonwealth)
• Department of the Environment and Heritage
• Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs
• Department of Industry Tourism and Resources
• Office of the Employment Advocate
• Water Corporation 

Co-agency agreements 

Co-agency Agreements in place during 2003-04 were with:

• Western Australian Police Service;
• Fire and Emergency Services Authority;
• Department of Industry and Resources (Explosives and Dangerous Goods);
• Australian Marine Safety Authority; and
• Department for Planning and Infrastructure:
• monitoring of fatigue management in the omnibus industry;
• marine safety; and
• rail safety.

Instruments of declaration

The Minister for Consumer and Employment Protection enters into Instruments
of Declaration with the Minister for State Development under Section 4(3) of
the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984, and during 2003-04 the following
instruments were in operation.  

• BHP Iron Ore’s dry-docking operations at Nelson Point;
• part of Griffin Coal Mining Company Ltd operations in Collie; and
• any railway or rolling stock operated, managed or controlled by the Pilbara

Rail Company Pty Ltd.  

Memoranda of Understanding exist with the Commonwealth Government for
the provision of inspection services to Commonwealth Government workplaces
and to workplaces on Cocos and Christmas Islands.
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CORPORATE PUBLICATIONS

About DOCEP
Annual report (available from website only)
Consumer justice strategy 2003-04 implementation plan
Contact details bookmarks
Customer service charter 2002
Future Directions 2002-2005 (strategic plan)

CONSUMER PROTECTION PUBLICATIONS

Associations and charitable collections

A guide to licensing charitable collections
Altering the rules of your incorporated association
Applying for the incorporation of an association 
Charitable organisations and commercial fundraisers
Complaints about incorporated associations 
Homebuyers survival guide
House to house collections & telephone marketing
Introduction to incorporated associations 
Street collections in the Perth metropolitan area
Voluntarily winding up an association

Building

Building your new home - a checklist  
Home building: Complaints and disputes
Home building: Contracts Act 1991
Home building: Disputes and appeals  
Home building: Duty of care and skill  
Home building: Hiring someone 
Home indemnity insurance
Roof coating  
Termites and your home
Understanding the ‘Preparation of Plans Agreement’ and ‘Preliminary Work
Contract’

FuelWatch

FuelWatch: giving you more power at the pump

Information for businesses

Complaints - a guide for businesses 
Damaged goods - information for business
Disposal of uncollected goods 
Fair Trading Act - a guide for the fair trader 
Land valuers
Our refund policy - counter stickers - two sizes
Our refund policy (shop signs) 
Quoting for repairs
Retail trading hours
Retailer’s advertising guide
To the business owner - Making the right decisions
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Information for consumers

Buying a computer  
Charitable organisations and commercial fundraisers
Complaints - a guide for consumers
Consumer Protection - what we do (also available in Arabic, Bahasa Malay, Bosnian,
Chinese, Croatian, Persian (Farsi), Polish, Serbian, Spanish, and Vietnamese)
Contracts - information you need to know 
Explanatory guide - Credit provider licensing
Finance brokers and mortgage investments - a guide for investors  
House to house collections and telephone marketing  
If they don’t pay - what happens if court or tribunal orders are not paid
Interest rates - comparison rates decoded
Interest rates - comparison rates - FAQs
Little black book of scams
Mini guide to shopping - your rights  
Pyramid schemes
Short term lending is now regulated
Wise choice - a consumer guide for seniors 
Your rights when shopping 

Issue or discussion papers

Builders’ Registration Act 1939 Review of threshold for unregistered building in
regional areas issues paper
Builders’ registration issues paper
Compulsory professional development for licensed real estate and business
agents and registered sales representatives in Western Australia discussion
paper
Extended working hours discussion paper
Fitness industry code of practice discussion paper
Real estate seller disclosure statements improving information disclosure to
buyers of residential properties in Western Australia discussion paper
Regulation of holiday accommodation managers

Motor vehicles

Buying a car - a buyer’s checklist
Do I have to fix it? (a publication for dealers only)  
Have I got a deal for you! (an advertising guide for motor vehicle dealers)  
Inquiry service for motor vehicle traders 
Repairs to your motor vehicle  
REVS and buying vehicles or boats  
Used vehicle warranty - how to waive it  

Product safety

Baby walkers - safety for kids in the home
Beware of skimmer boxes - safety for kids in the home
Bunk beds - safety for kids in the home
Cots - safety for kids in the home
Curtain & blind cords - safety for kids in the home
Furniture - safety for kids in the home
Trampolines - safety for kids in the home
Unsafe products - complaints guide
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Promotional material

NAIDOC bookmarks 
NAIDOC shopping bags
NAIDOC water bottles

Property rental

Boarders & lodgers
Bond administration - a guide - fact sheet
Renting a home in Western Australia - the essential guide   
The Landlord’s Handbook - fourth edition 

Real estate and settlement 

These titles are published by the Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory
Board or the Settlement Agents Supervisory Board, with administrative support
from the Department of Consumer and Employment Protection.
A guide to investigations & disciplinary inquiries under the Real Estate and
Business Agents Act 1978
Auditing real estate and business agents trust accounts
Buying a home through an agent
Buying vacant land 
Choosing a settlement agent 
Complaint handling guidelines for the settlement and real estate industries
Fidelity Guarantee Fund
Home Buyers Assistance Fund 
Licensing of real estate and business agents
Licensing of settlement agents
Property settlement 
Real estate auctions 
Real estate fees - negotiating with an agent
Real estate trust accounting - a reference manual
Sale by offer and acceptance 
Settlement Agents Supervisory Board Trust Account Handbook
Timber pest inspections and reports - a guide for homebuyers 
You and your property manager 

Retirement villages

Changes to the Code of Fair Practice for Retirement villages
So you’re thinking of moving into a retirement village?  

Trade measurement

Trade measurement - pre-packed articles
Trade measurement - the consumer guide
Trade measurement - the retailer guide

Travel

The travel agent’s handbook (a guide for agents)  
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ENERGY SAFETY PUBLICATIONS

Guidelines for the electrical and gas industry

Approval of industrial gas appliances (type B) in WA  
Electricity transmission & distribution work in WA  
Safe working with gas in consumers’ installations  

Electricity

Care and safety of cords and plugs  
Care and safety of electrical appliances  
Electric arc welders  
Electric shock survival  
Safety switches  
Statutory standards for electricity quality, reliability and metering accuracy
Using electricity safely in caravans and tents  
Using electricity safely near water  
Watch out for power lines above when you’re working below  
Worker safety when cutting trees near power lines  

Gas

Auto LP gas safety  
Using gas safely in caravans and tents
Using gas safely in marine craft 
Using LP gas safely  

Codes of practice for the electrical and gas industry

Inspectors (electricity) in WA  
Inspectors (gas) in WA  
Personnel electricity safety for vegetation control work  
Safe electrical work on low voltage electrical installations  
Sale of electrical installation products to the public  

Other publications for the electrical and gas industry

Apprentice safety assessment guidelines  
Checking and testing electrical installing work    
Do you have LP autogas in your vehicle?
Energy bulletin (issued quarterly) 
Safety guidelines for electrical workers  
Safety of electrical appliances in WA  
WA electrical requirements 

LABOUR RELATIONS PUBLICATIONS

Fact sheets

Buying or selling a business  
Casual or part time employment
Checklist for new employers
Employee or sub-contractor
Long service leave  
Types of employment   
Working in WA - Wageline and WorkSafe contacts
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Information for employers and employees

Complaints about wages - an employee’s guide
Complaints about wages - an employer’s guide
Creating carer-friendly workplaces 
Dismissing employees - obligations of employers 
Employing someone - a guide for small business
Fair Go - collective bargaining 
Fair Go - employer-employee agreements 
Fair Go - records and rights of entry  
Fair Go - your guide to the new labour relations laws 
Information about Labour Relations
Mature employment in the WA public sector
Superannuation choice of fund   
Unfair dismissal - an employee’s guide
Wageline fridge magnets

Information for young people

About trial work and work experience 
Apprenticeships and traineeships 
Employment arrangements
Types of employment  
Wageline postcards    

WORKSAFE PUBLICATIONS

Aged care

A look at hazards in accommodation for the aged and nursing homes
Safety and health is everyone’s business
Safety and health tips for catering staff
Safety and health tips for laundry staff
Safety and health tips for supervisors
Working safely with challenging behaviours

Bricklayers - manual handling fact sheets

Manual handling for bricklayers and labourers
Manual handling for designers and manufacturers
Manual handling for main contractors

Farm safety fact sheets

Agricultural bike safety
Electricity safety
Farm chemical safety
Farm noise safety
Fire fighting
Grain movement and storage safety
Machinery guarding safety
Manual handling
The 15 minute farm safety checklist
Tractor safety
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General WorkSafe information

A look at hazards in the agriculture, forestry & fishing industry
A look at hazards in the construction industry
A look at hazards in the retail industry
A look at hazards in the transport & storage industry
Asbestos register fact sheet
Asbestos removal - building products
Commercial vehicle driver fatigue
Guidelines for work in the vicinity of overhead powerlines
Improvements and prohibition notices 
Information about WorkSafe
Prosecution policy
Reporting of work injuries and diseases to WorkSafe
Residual current devices (RCDs)
SafetyLine magazine
The first step: managing safety & health hazards in your workplace
The next step: systematically managing safety & health hazards using
WorkSafe Plan
WorkSafe inspectors 
WorkSafe plan workbook

Plumbers - manual handling fact sheets

Information for designers and manufacturers
Information for main contractors 
Information for plumbers

Promotional material

Elevated work platforms operational & maintenance instructions
Fatigue thermal mugs
Operational & maintenance instructions 

COMMISSION FOR OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH PUBLICATIONS

These titles are published by the Commission for Occupational Safety and
Health, with the administrative support of the Department of Consumer and
Employment Protection.
Making the workplace safe 
Safety and health in the workplace depends on you
Watch out for flour dust fact sheet
What makes your workplace safe? You do
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Codes of practice  

Abrasive blasting  
Concrete and masonry cutting and drilling
Control of noise in the music entertainment industry  
First aid facilities & services, workplace amenities & facilities & personal
protective clothing & equipment  
Management of HIV / AIDS and hepatitis at workplaces
Managing noise at workplaces 
Manual handling  
Prevention and control of Legionnaires disease
Prevention of falls at workplaces
Spray painting  
Styrene
The safety and health of children and young people in workplaces
Workplace violence

Guidance notes 

Alcohol and other drugs at the workplace  
Asbestos materials in the automotive maintenance and repair industry
Controlling hazards in the electroplating industry
Controlling isocynate hazards at work 
Controlling wood dust hazards at work
Dealing with workplace bullying - guide for employees
Dealing with workplace bullying - guide for employers
Election of safety and health representatives, representatives and committees
and resolution of issues
Electricity: residual current devices
General duty of care in Western Australian workplaces
Gas welding safety - flashback arresters
Isolation of plant
Mobile phones
Plant design
Plant in the workplace 
Powered mobile plant
Prevention of carbon monoxide poisoning from petrol and gas powered
equipment 
Reducing the risk of fatigue at workplaces
Reducing the risk of infectious diseases in childcare workplaces
Safe movement of vehicles at workplaces
Safe use of chemicals in the woodworking industry
Safe use of woodworking machinery (guarding)
Soldering in the workplace: rosin fluxes
Working alone 
Working safely with forklifts
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TABLE 33: CONSUMER PROTECTION PROSECUTIONS 2003-04 

Defendant (Parties) Legislation (Issue) Outcome

Result Fine Costs Reason

NICHOLAS RIACHI Motor Vehicle FINE $2,000.00 $0.00 Failure to disclose 
Dealers Act 1973 conviction.
Section s20(A)

LINDSAY ROBESON Real Estate and Business CAUTION $0.00 $500.00
Agents Act 1978 
Section s132(a)(i)

GARRY COLLINS Real Estate and Business PERMANENTLY $0.00 $2,200.00
Agents Act  1978 Section DISQUALIFIED
s103(4)d & Article 5(1) AS SALES

REPRESENTATIVE

GLENN FRANKLIN Land Valuers Licensing PENALTY $300.00 $5,000.00 Costs to be paid by
Act 1978 Section 28(2)(b); 13 Sep 2004 with
29(2)(d);Article 3(a) valuers licence to be

suspended from that 
date should costs not 
be paid.

TUAN NGUYEN t/as Door to Door Trading FINE & $4,500.00 $413.00 Restitution of $2600
ACC SOUND Act 1987 Section s7 s8 RESTITUTION to Mr Paul Chin

RONALD KRIKKE  Motor Vehicle Dealers REPRIMAND $2,000.00 $0.00
(KRIKKE PTY LTD) Act 1973 Section 20(A)

NICHOLAS RIACHI Motor Vehicle Dealers REPRIMAND $250.00 $0.00
Act 1973 Section 20A

BAKERS DELIGHT Retail Trading Hours Act FINE $4,000.00 $250.00 fined $4000 with
BEAUMARIS 1987 Section 25(1)(a) $250 costs

& 12(1)(d)

BAKERS DELIGHT Retail Trading Hours Act FINE $4,000.00 $250.00 fined $4000 wit
MULLALOO 1987 Section 25(1)(a) with $250 costs

& 12(1)(d)

GARY HILL Water Services Coordination FINE $600.00 $310.45 Unlicensed 
Act 1995 Regulation 9(1) plumbing work

RAYMOND HUTCHINS Water Services Coordination FINE $600.00 $310.45 Unlicensed 
Act 1995 Regulation 9(1) plumbing work

BRADLEY MACK Water Services Coordination FINE $500.00 $310.45 Unlicensed
Act 1995 Regulation 9(1) plumbing work

DAMIEN MORRISON Water Services Coordination PENALTY $1,000.00 $0.00 Work to be monitored
Act 1995 Regulation 27(e) for the next 6 months

MARIANNE Residential Tenancies PENALTY $1,250.00 $0.00 $1000 s33(1) & $250
GIORGIANTE Act 1987 Section s33(1) split penalty s54(1)(b)
(GIORGIANTE 
NOMINEES PTY LTD)

GUISEPPE GIORGIANTE Residential Tenancies PENALTY $1,750.00 $0.00 Rent Receipts, 
(GIORGIANTE Act Section 1987 s33(1) bond money,
NOMINEES PTY LTD) failure to provide copy 

of agreement to tenant.
$1500 penalty s29(4) 
$250 split penalty 
s54(1)(b)

APPENDIX FIVE

CONSUMER PROTECTION PROSECUTIONS

The following table provides details and results of prosecution action finalised
during 2003-04 by the Legal Unit of the Consumer Protection. The table also
includes prosecution actions undertaken on behalf of the Real Estate and Business
Agents Supervisory Board and the Settlement Agents Supervisory Board.
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Defendant (Parties) Legislation (Issue) Outcome

Result Fine Costs Reason

GREGORY MOLGA Real Estate and Business FINE $500.00 $0.00 Respondent to 
Agents Act Code of complete real estate
Conduct Article 5(1) ethics module & offer 

& acceptance module 
of sales rep course 
conducted by TAFE by 
31/12/2004 or else 
liable to pay further fine
of $1000 by 31/1/2005 
failing which registration
will be suspended until 
payment is made.

DOMENIC Water Services Coordination FINE $500.00 $0.00 Breach of plumbing
LOMBARDO Act 1995 Regulation 27(e) standards. Work to

be monitored for the 
next 6 months

LESLIE PATTON t/as Real Estate and Business PERMANENTLY $5,000.00 $0.00 Mr Patton
DRE PROPERTY Agents Act Code of DISQUALIFIED incurred fine.
MANAGEMENT Conduct Article 6(2)
ROSEWELL 
CORPORATION 
PTY LTD

D’ORSOGNA LIMITED Fair Trading Act FINE $1,300.00 $1,484.70 26 breaches of the FTA 
& 26 breaches of WMA
($5200 fine)

MIDLAND Settlement Agents FINE $1,000.00 $2,500.00 Inquiry 9 o 2003
SETTLEMENT Act Section Rules 6A
SERVICES PTY LTD 10B 16 & S46(3)

D’ORSOGNA LIMITED Weights and Measures Act FINE $13,000.00 $1,484.70 Additional 26 breaches
Section 27G of Weights & Measures

Act s27G - addtl fine of 
$5200

BRADLEY THOMASON Weights and Measures FINE $2,600.00 $0.00
D’ORSOGNA Act Section 27G

CHRISTOPHER PUGH Motor Vehicle Dealers Act FINE $1,600.00 $300.00 Mr Pugh and his 
t/as BACKPACKERS Section ss22A(2) 32B(1)(b) company received four
INTERNATIONAL 32C 32G fines of $200 each
AUTO TRADERS 
-(MT LAWLEY AUTO 
WHOLESALE PTY LTD)

JOHN DURANT Water Services Coordination FINE $1,000.00 $332.50 Unlicensed 
Act 1995 Regulation 9(1) plumbing work.

DAVID WEST Water Services Coordination FINE $500.00 $398.45 Unlicensed
Act 1995 Regulation 9(1) plumbing work

BARRY MICHALCZYK Water Services Coordination FINE $500.00 $55.00 Unlicensed
Act 1995 Regulation 9(1) plumbing work.

PETER DAY Water Services Coordination FINE $500.00 $0.00 Unlicensed
Act 1995 Regulation 9(1) plumbing work.

BARRY MICHALCZYK Water Services Coordination FINE $300.00 $200.00 Unlicensed
Act 1995 Regulation 9(1) plumbing work.

BARRY MICHALCZYK Water Services Coordination FINE $300.00 $200.00 Unlicensed
Act 1995 Regulation 9(1) plumbing work

BRUCE MULDER Water Services Coordination FINE $500.00 $277.70 Carried out plumbing
Act 1995 Regulation 9(1) work not under the 

general direction and 
control of a licensed 
plumber.

GEOFF HUME Water Services Coordination FINE $4,000.00 $277.70 Unlicensed
Act 1995 Regulation 9(1) plumbing work
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DOMENIC Water Services Coordination PENALTY $500.00 $0.00 Breach of plumbing 
LOMBARDO Act 1995 Regulation 27(e) standards. Work to be

monitored for the next 
6 months.

NATHANIEL JAMES Water Services Coordination FINE $500.00 $277.70 Unlicensed
Act 1995 Regulation 9(1) plumbing work.

LARRY BLIGHT Water Services Coordination FINE $500.00 $277.70 Unlicensed
Act 1995 Regulation 9(1) plumbing work

ERIC PERRIMAN Water Services Coordination FINE $200.00 $277.70 Unlicensed
Act 1995 Regulation 9(1) plumbing work

BRUCE MULDER Water Services Coordination FINE $500.00 $277.70 Carried out plumbing
Act 1995 Regulation 9(1) work not under the

general direction and 
control of a licensed 
plumber.

ERNEST Water Services Coordination FINE $200.00 $277.70 Unlicensed
BERRINGTON Act 1995 Regulation 9(1) plumbing work.

GEOFF HUME Water Services Coordination FINE $4,000.00 $277.70 Unlicensed
Act 1995 Regulation 9(1) plumbing work

CUSMA CORPORATION Real Estate and Business FINE $1,500.00 $0.00 Failed to act in 
Agents Act Code of Conduct accordance with the
Article 4(2)  1978 68(4) reasonable and proper 

instructions of the 
principal. Withdrew 
trust money for a 
purpose other than the 
transaction and without 
authority

LINDSAY ROBESON Real Estate and Business CAUTION $0.00 $500.00 Failed to ensure that
t/as RAY WHITE Agents Act 1978 Code of the manager gave
MORRA DISTRICTS/ Conduct Article 132(a) sufficient attention
RAY WHILE to the business.
JURIEN BAY

GLEN O’BRIEN Real Estate and Business FINE $500.00 $4,000.00 Payment to be made
Agents Act 1978 Code of within 28 days failing
Conduct Article 7 which licence & 

triennial certificate will 
be suspended until 
payment is made.

ROBERT CASOTTI Real Estate and Business DISQUALIFICATION $0.00 $0.00 Respondent’s sales
Agents Act Code of 12 MTHS representative’s 
Conduct Article 5(2) certificate cancelled and

respondent is disqualified
from applying for a 
certificate or licence for
12mths from the date 
of this order.

KRYSTYNA TULLY t/as Real Estate and Business REPRIMAND $0.00 $250.00
TULLY FIRST Agents Act 1978 Code of 
NATIONAL Conduct Article 6(2)

HORTIK PTY LTD Real Estate and Business FINE $500.00 $250.00
Agents Act Section s68(4)

JULIAN KAPLAN Real Estate and Business FINE $3,000.00 $392.45 fined $600.
Agents Act 1978  
Section s16 s81

WESTBAY Real Estate and Business FINE $600.00 $0.00 fined $3000 plus
CORPORATION Agents Act 1978 $392.45 costs 

Section s16 81

AVCO FINANCIAL Credit Act 1984 Section CIVIL PENALTY $319,250.00 $10,000.00 Credit Charges .
SERVICES s85 s86 re-instated

DEANNE KOPPMAN Fair Trading Act 1987 FINE $1,000.00 $170.20
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Result Fine Costs Reason

JR & A HERSHEY Weights and Measures FINE $400.00 $0.00 2 charges S34 & 
Act 1915 Section s34 2 charges Reg 13.
& Reg 13

JAMES HERSHEY Weights and Measures Act FINE $400.00 $237.20 2 charges against 
(JR & A HERSHEY 1915 Section s34 S34 and 2 chargest 
PTY LTD) & Reg 13 against Reg 13.

Company fined $400 &
Hershey fined $400

ROSVIN PTY LTD Settlement Agents Act FINE $750.00 $1,200.00 Failed to ascertain and
t/as CHAMPION BAY 1981 Code of Conduct communicate pertinent 
SETTLEMENTS Rule 16 facts when necessary

or prudent to do so.
Fine and costs payable
within 28 days from the
date of finding.

KINGSLEY QUINLIVAN Fair Trading Act 1987 FINE $600.00 $604.15 Failure to comply with a
product safety order -
skimmer boxes.

BUNBURY Settlement Agents Act FINE $500.00 $0.00 Payment by 9/2/2004.
SETTLEMENT Code of Conduct 16 & 17
SERVICES PTY LTD

PA SAMUELS (1966)  Settlement Agents Act 1981 TRIENNIAL $5,000.00 $1,800.00 Inquiry 5 of 2003. 
t/as NORTH Section s43(1),(2)&(8). CERTIFICATE Licence & triennial
SUBURBAN CC Rules 5,6,8,15. CANCELLED certificate cancelled with
SETTLEMENTS effect from 1/11/2003.
PTY LTD Respondent to pay fine

and costs by
28/10/2003.

HERITAGE REALTY  Settlement Agents Act 1981 FINE $3,000.00 $2,000.00 Inquiry 3 of 2003. 
PTY LTD t/as  Section s46(3)CC Fine and costs to be
KEY SETTLEMENT Rules 11,15,16,19. paid by 7/1/2004.

PANAGIOTHS MANIOS Real Estate and Business FINE $750.00 $0.00 Inquiry No 17 of 2003.
t/as CENTREPOINT Agents Act 1978 To pay fine within 28 
REALTY RIVERSTAR  Section s64(2) days rom the date of 
INVESTMENTS PTY LTD this order failing which

the certificate will be
suspended until
payment is received.

GEORGE MANIOS of Real Estate and Business FINE $750.00 $0.00 Inquiry No 17 of 2003.
RIVERSTAR Agents Act 1978 Section Fine to be paid within 28
INVESTMENTS PTY LTD s64(1)&(4) days from the date of 
t/as CENTREPOINT this order failing which 
REALTY the licence will be

suspended until
payment is received.

RIVERSTAR REALTY Real Estate and Business REPAY $0.00 $0.00 Inquiry 17 of 2003.
INVESTMENTS PTY LTD Agents Act 1978 Section COMMISSION Repay the
t/as CENTREPOINT s64(1)&(4) commission 

received of $9000.

ROBERT MILOSESKI  Real Estate and Business SUSPENSION $2,000.00 $450.00 Licence & triennial
of CHARTER REAL Agents Act 1978 Code of certificate suspended
ESTATE PTY LTD  Conduct Article 6(2)&(5) 2yrs. Respondent must 
t/as CENTURY 21 undertake trust 
WESTWIDE REALTY accounting mgt course

before suspension is
lifted. Respondent to
be issues with Sales
Rep Certificate
forthwith. Respondent
to pay fines & costs
within 60 days.

APPENDICES
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WESTWIDE REALTY Real Estate and Business PERMANENT $0.00 $0.00
CHARTER REAL Agents Act 1978 Section DISQUALIFICATION
ESTATE PTY LTD s68(6)(d)&(c)s68(4)s68(6)
t/as CENTURY 21

NEIL WANT Real Estate and Business SEE NOTES $0.00 $0.00 Defendant is to 
Act 1978 Section s44(3); undertake not to run his
CC Article 5(1) & (2) own real estate agency

or be a director of a
corporation that
operates a real estate
agency without prior
approval from the
Board. The undertaking
was unconditionally
given to the Board.
Inquiry 5 of 2003

HERBERT LEE STEERE Land Valuers Licensing REPRIMAND $400.00 $4,000.00 Inquiry 2 of 2003.
Act 1978 Section Fine to be paid no
s28(2)(b)s28(2)(c)s28(2)(d) later than 24/12/2003.
CC cl 3(a)4(a) Costs $4000 ($2500

counsel, $1500 expert
witness) to be paid no
later than 5/3/2004

LYLE BAILEY t/as Settlement Agents Act FINE $2,000.00 $2,000.00 All allegations proven.
CROSSLAND 1981 Code of Conduct 5,
SETTLEMENTS 11, & 16

MARGARET DE CAMPI Settlement Agents Act FINE $2,500.00 $2,500.00 All allegations proven.
1981 Section 49(6)(c), Licence and triennial 
49(6)(d), 51(8)(b) & 58(1) certificate cancelled;

disqualification from
holding a licence and
triennial certificate for a
period of 5 years.

MICHAEL CASSANET Settlement Agents Act FINE $2,000.00 $0.00 Allegation proven
1981 Section 26

P A SAMUELS (1966) Settlement Agents Act FINE. $5,500.00 $1,800.00 Licence and 
PTY LTD  1981 Section 43(1) (2) triennial certificate
SETTLEMENTS t/as & (8) Rules 5, 6, cancelled
NORTH SUBURBAN 6A, 8 & 15

SARACENI Real Estate and Business FINE $500.00 $1,375.00 Jointly liable with
CORPORATION Agents Act 1978 Section 60(3); Respondent 1
PTY LTD Article 2; 8(2) Carmel Marie Saraceni

to refund the
complainant $2500
within 28 days of
6/11/2003.

CARMEL SARACENI Real Estate and Business FINE $500.00 $1,375.00 Jointly liaible with 
(SARACENI Agents Act 1978 Code of Second Respondent
CORPORATION Conduct Article 2 Saraceni Corp Pty Ltd 
PTY LTD) to refund the

complainant $2500
within 28 days from
6/11/2003.

CYNTHIA LEFROY Fair Trading Act 1987 CONVICTION $1,600.00 $750.00 Mr & Mrs Emery,
(AVNED HOLDINGS Section 12(1)(e); 12(1)(l); Mr & Mrs lefroy & 
PTY LTD) 17; 69(1) Avned Holdings Pty Ltd

convicted 32 charges in
total. Mr Emery & mr
Lefroy 8 charges each;
Mrs Emery & Mrs
Lefroy 4 charges each.
$3000 costs shared.

APPENDICES
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LANGLOIS LEFROY Fair Trading Act 1987 CONVICTION $6,000.00 $750.00 Mr & Mrs Emery,
(AVNED HOLDINGS Section 12(1)(e); 12(1)(l); Mr & Mrs Lefroy 
PTY LTD) 17; 69(1) & Avned Holdings P/L

convicted 32 charges in
total. Mr Emery & Mr
Lefroy & Avned 8
charges each; Mrs
Emery & Mrs Lefroy 4
charges each. $3000
costs shared.

MALCOLM EMERY Fair Trading Act 1987 CONVICTION $6,000.00 $750.00 Mr & Mrs Emery, 
(AVNED HOLDINGS Section 12(1)(e); 12(1)(l); Mr & Mrs Lefroy & 
PTY LTD) 17; 69(1) Avned Holdings P/L

convicted 232 charges
in total. Mr Emery & Mr
Lefroy & Avned 8
charges each; Mrs
Emery & Mrs Lefroy 4
charges each.

PAMELA EMERY Fair Trading Act 1987 CONVICTION $1,600.00 $750.00 Mr & Mrs Emery, 
(AVNED HOLDINGS Section 12(1)(e); 12(1)(l); Mr & Mrs Lefroy & 
PTY LTD) 17; 69(1) Avned Holdings P/L

convicted 32 charges in
total. Mr Emery & Mr
Lefroy 8 charges each;
Mrs Emery & Mrs
Lefroy 4 charges each.
$3000 in costs shared
amongst defendants.

ADRIAN FELTHAM Real Estate and Business FINE $1,000.00 $0.00 Inquiry 4 of 2003 - 
Agents Act 1978 Engaged in harsh or 
Code of Conduct Article 5(3) unconscionable conduct.

Payment to be made
within 28 days from the
date of Mr Clifton’s
letter or disqualified
from applying for a
certificate of registration
until fee paid.

CAPRICE BAY PTY LTD Real Estate and CAUTION $0.00 $0.00 Inquiry 4 of 2003
t/as THE LANDMARK Business Agents Act 1978 - Demanded and 
GALLERY CAPRICE Section 61(3)(c) received a commission,

which was unjust.

STEPHEN RAISIN Motor Vehicle Dealers FINE $2,220.00 $250.00 Unlicensed dealing.
t/as PERTH AUTO Act 1973 Section 30(1)
WRECKERS

BP PTY LTD Petroleum Products FINE $6,000.00 $23,000.00 Pleaded guilty on 
Pricing Act 1983 2 charges. Costs 2
Section 19(1) charges. Costs of

$23,000 payable by BP
to DOCEP & CSO.

STUART IRVING of Real Estate and FINE $1,750.00 $1,037.50 Payment within 28 days 
IRVING & KEENAN Business Agents Act 1978 or licence suspended 
REAL ESTATE PTY LTD Code of Conduct until payment of the 
t/as IRVING & KEENAN Article 8(2);2 ;7;6(2) fine and costs in full.
REAL ESTATE 

RICHARD MOODY of Real Estate and FINE $750.00 $1,650.00 Payment within 28 days
IRVING & KEENAN Business Agents Act 1978 or licence suspended 
REAL ESTATE PTY LTD Code of Conduct until payment of the
t/as IRVING & KEENAN Article 8(2);s2& 7 fine and costs in full.
REAL ESTATE 
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IRVING & KEENAN Real Estate and FINE $750.00 $1,037.50 Payment within 28 days 
REAL ESTATE PTY LTD Business Agents Act 1978 or licence suspended 
t/as IRVING & KEENAN Code of Conduct until payment of the 
REAL ESTATE Article 8(2); 2; 7 fine and costs in full

DONALD YOUNG Water Services 
Coordination Act 1995 
Regulation 9(1) PROSECUTION $500.00 $387.70 Performing plumbing

work without a licence

FRANCESCO COMITO Real Estate and Business DISQUALIFICATION $3,000.00 $5,300.00 Sales Representative 
Agents Act 1978 Code of registration suspended
Conduct Articles 5(1)5(2)14(b) 2yrs effective immediately.

Disqualification from
holding a RE Licence
for 2yrs effective from
date of paying fine/
costs. 28 days to pay.

STEPHEN ELLIS Water Services Coordination PENALTY $1,250.00 $0.00 Breach of plumbing 
Act 1995 Regulation 27(e) standards. Work to be

monitored for the next
6 months.

MICHAEL JELLY Water Services Coordination PROSECUTION $500.00 $387.70 Performing plumbing 
Act 1995 Regulation 9(1) work without a licence.

RICHARD THOMMESEN Water Services Coordination PROSECUTION $300.00 $277.50 Performing plumbing 
Act 1995 Regulation 9(1) work without a licence.

LILLIAN RUSSO Business Names Act 1962 FINE $200.00 $143.70 Carrying on business
t/as LOU LOU Section 5(1)(b) using an unregistered

business name.

MARIELLA HANRAHAN Business Names Act 1962 FINE $200.00 $143.70 Carrying on business
t/as LOU LOU Section 5(1)(b) using an unregistered

business name

WENDY CROSS Fair Trading Act 1987 FINE $3,000.00 $150.00 Pyramid Scheme
t/as ABUNDANCE

ALLAN CROSS Fair Trading Act 1987 FINE $3,000.00 $150.00 Pyramid Scheme
t/as ABUNDANCE

GLENN LOW of Real Estate and PERMANETLY $5,000.00 $1,000.00 Payment to be  made
GLENN LOW Business Agents Act DISQUALIFIED within 28 days of 
PROPERTY PTY LTD  Section 68(1); 68(6)(4); 7/8/2003
t/as FIRST NATIONAL 68(6)(a) Inquiry 61 of 2002. 
REAL ESTATE Previously trading as

Tangibar Pty Ltd

ROBERT PARKINSON Motor Vehicle Dealers FINE $57,700.00 $300.00 Unlicensed motor 
t/as CAR BODY Act 1973 Section 30(1) vehicle dealing.
REMOVALS $10,000 fine plus daily

penalties.

ANNE HERSEY Weights and Measures FINE $250.00 $300.00 Also fined under s12
(JR & A HERSEY Act 1915 Section 34 of the FTA.
PTY LTD)

JOHN JAMES Water Services Coordination FINE $400.00 $287.70 Unlicensed plumbing 
Act 1995 Regulation 9(1) work

KAYE BLACKBURNE Employment Agents Act PERMANENTLY $0.00 $0.00
t/as BLACKBURNE & 1976 Code of Conduct DISQUALIFIED
DIXON Articles 4,7,15,17

JEREMY WALSH of  Weights and Measures FINE $1,120.00 $290.00 Short weight pre-
ADMOTONE PTY LTD Act 1915 Section 27G(1) packed articles. $40 on
t/as NORMANDIE each of 28 counts.
FOODS
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BERNARD Land Valuers Licensing Act DISCIPLINARY $1,500.00 $13,700.00 Land Valuer’s Licence
WORTHINGTON 1978 Section 28(2)(b) ORDER (SUBJECT to be suspended for

& Article 3(a) TO APPEAL) 3 months from
11/7/2003 to 10/10/2003;
land valuations to be
co-signed by a licensed
valuer from 11/10/2003
to 10/1/2004.

MACLANE JOHNSON Finance Brokers Control CAUTION $0.00 $0.00 Encouraged to apply
t/as THE MONEY Act Section 26(1) for a licence.
TREE & WISE 
MORTGAGE 
REDUCTION SERVICE

GUISEPPE FANCHI Land Valuers Licensing FINE $1,300.00 $1,500.00 $500 DOCEP legal
Act 1978 Section 28(2)(b &d) costs plus $1000 for 
Code of Conduct cl3(a) & 4(a) expert witness costs.

Disciplinary enquiry
relating to valuation
prepared in relation to
Lot 505 Wellington
Heights Collie

I&D NOMINEES Real Estate and Business FINE $2,000.00 $0.00 Not acting in the 
Agents Act Section 64(2)&(4); best interest of their 
Art 2,7,8(2),16(1),16(2) client. Fined $2,000.

DAVIES MARK t/as Real Estate and Business FINE $1,000.00 $0.00 Not acting in the best 
I&D NOMINEES Agents Act Section 64(2)&(4); interests of his client.

Art 2,7,8(2), 16(1),16(2) I&D Nominees fined
$2000, Mark Davies
fined $1000. No Costs

DENISE WELLSTEAD Real Estate and Business FINED $1,000.00 $0.00 Not acting in the best
t/as I&D NOMINEES Agents Act Section 64(2)(4) interest of their client.

& Art 2,7,8(2),16(1),16(2) Denise Wellstead fined
$1000. No costs.
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ENERGY SAFETY PROSECUTIONS
Table 34 following provides details of prosecution action for breaches of the Electricity Act 1945 and Electricity (Licensing)
Regulations 1991.

TABLE 34: ENERGY SAFETY ELECTRICITY PROSECUTIONS 2003-04

Name Offence Fine Court 
Licence No. $ Costs 
(Suburb of residence $
at time of offence)

Challenge Home Furniture Sold electrical apparatus without an approval from the Director 300.00 * 277.70 *
NLH Section 33B(2) EA
(Malaga & Whitford City 
Shopping Centres)

T & E Wang Pty Ltd T/A Sold electrical apparatus without an approval from the Director 6,000.00 * 387.50 *
New Idea Furniture Section 33B(2) EA
NLH
(Malaga)

Geraldton Technology Centre Exposed for sale/hire and/or advertised electrical apparatus or 4,000.00 * 557.70 *
P/L T/A Geraldton Retravision installation without being labelled (ie energy efficiency labelled)
NLH Section 33F EA
(Geraldton)

Gerel Pty Ltd T/A Harvey Exposed for sale/hire and/or advertised electrical apparatus or 8,000.00 1,000.00
Norman Electrical installation without being labelled (ie energy efficiency labelled)
NLH Section 33F EA
(Geraldton)

Hi-Fi Corporation (WA) Exposed for sale/hire and/or advertised electrical apparatus or  3,000.00 * 457.70 *
Pty Ltd T/A Rick Hart Discounts installation without being labelled (ie energy efficiency labelled)
NLH Section 33F EA
(Osborne Park)

William Alexander Carried out electrical work without holding an electrical 500.00 277.70 **
EW 107248 workers licence
(Greenwood) Regulation 19(1) E(L)R

Ronald Archer Carried out electrical work without holding an electrical 250.00 277.70
EW 125537 workers licence
(Mt Nasura) Regulation 19(1) E(L)R

Steven Coyne Carried out electrical work without holding an electrical 400.00 687.70
EW 140635 workers licence
(Katanning) Regulation 19(1) E(L)R

Leslie Malcolm Thistleton Carried out electrical work without holding an electrical 450.00 153.85
NLH workers licence
(Scarborough) Regulation 19(1) E(L)R

Malcolm Wilson Carried out electrical work without holding an electrical 750.00 277.70
EW 111412 workers licence
(Mindarie) Regulation 19(1) E(L)R

Peter Gee Carried out electrical work without holding an electrical 1,400.00 547.50
EW 115048 workers licence
(Northampton) Regulation 19(1) E(L)R

Jacob Paternostro Carried out electrical work without holding an electrical 2,000.00 277.50
EW 129760 workers licence
(Clarkson) Regulation 19(1) E(L)R

Anthony Celesti Carried out electrical work without holding an electrical 400.00 124.20
EW 122455 workers licence
(Northlake) Regulation 19(1) E(L)R

Brett Corr Carried out electrical work without holding an electrical 750.00 310.45
(EW 141997 workers licence
(Wanneroo) Regulation 19(1) E(L)R

Leslie Malcolm Thistleton Carried on business as an electrical contractor without a licence 450.00 153.85
NLH
(Scarborough) Regulation 33(1) E(L)R

William Alexander Carried on business as an electrical contractor without a licence 250.00 **
EW 107248 Regulation 33(1) E(L)R
(Greenwood)
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Peter Magal Carried on business as an electrical contractor without a licence 750.00 277.70
EW 102625 Regulation 33(1) E(L)R
(Craigie)

Ryan Wood Carried on business as an electrical contractor without a licence 1,000.00 277.70
NLH Regulation 33(1) E(L)R
(Hocking)

Anthony Celesti Carried on business as an electrical contractor without a licence 400.00 124.20
EW 122455 Regulation 33(1) E(L)R
(Northlake)

Phillip Jamieson Carried out substandard electrical work 500.00 357.70
EW 102986 Regulation 49(1) E(L)R
(Kingsley)

Laurence Zani Carried out substandard electrical work 750.00 277.70
EW 101438 Regulation 49(1) E(L)R
(Ashfield)

Steven Baker Carried out substandard electrical work 1,500.00 337.30
EW 140821 Regulation 49(1) E(L)R
(Innaloo)

Carl Blowers Carried out substandard electrical work 500.00 288.45
EW 121793 Regulation 49(1) E(L)R
(Mindarie)

Alfred Cono Pinzone Carried out substandard electrical work 500.00 155.23
EW 123450 Regulation 49(1) E(L)R
(Bicton)

Adam Volkerts Permitted unsafe wiring or equipment to be connected to an 750.00 357.70
EW 133950 electrical installation
(Geraldton) Regulation 50A E(L)R

William Alexander As an employer, failed to ensure effective supervision 750.00 **
EW 107248 Regulation 50(1) E(L)R
(Greenwood)

Stephen Bettles As an employer, failed to ensure effective supervision 500.00 1,000.00
EW 115693 Regulation 50(1) E(L)R
(Alexander Heights)

Stephen Bettles Permitted unsafe wiring or equipment to be connected 500.00 1,000.00
EW 115693 to an electrical installation
(Alexander Heights) Regulation 50A E(L)R

Anthony Huckerby Permitted unsafe wiring or equipment to be connected 200.00 575.64
EW 104899 to an electrical installation
(Wedgefield) Regulation 50A E(L)R

Brambledon Nominees Failed to submit a Notice of Completion for electrical work 500.00 657.70
Pty Ltd T/A RL Services carried out
EC 004043 Regulation 52(1) E(L)R
(O’Connor)

Anthony Huckerby T/A Failed to submit a Notice of Completion for electrical work 300.00 143.91
Port Hedland Electrical Service carried out
EC 005134 Regulation 52 (1) E(L)R
(Wedgefield)

Exmouth Electrical Services Failed to submit a Notice of Completion for electrical 1,500.00 332.70
Pty Ltd carried out
EC 004861 Regulation 52(1) E(L)R
(Exmouth)

FFE Building Services Failed to submit a Notice of Completion for electrical work 750.00 227.00
T/A JSE Group carried out
EC 004183 Regulation 52(1) E(L)R
(Canning Vale)
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Name Offence Fine Court 
Licence No. $ Costs 
(Suburb of residence $
at time of offence)

D’Adamo Nominees Pty Ltd Sent in a Notice of Completion to the relevant supply authority in 1,200.00 757.70
T/A L&A Electrics respect of the electrical installing work not being completed
EC 003836 Regulation 52(3) E(L)R
(Landsdale)

Statewide Electrical Sent in a Notice of Completion to the relevant supply authority in 1,000.00 357.70
Contractors WA respect of the electrical installing work not being completed
EC 001710 Regulation 52(3) E(L)R
(Kingsley)

North Shore Electrical Pty Ltd Submitted a Notice of Completion in respect of electrical installing 500.00 277.70
EC 000339 work that was not completed
(Wangara) Regulation 52(3) E(L)R

D’Adamo Nominees Pty Ltd Sent in a Notice of Completion to the relevant supply authority in 1,000.00 1,067.70
T/A L&A Electrics relevant supply authority in respect of the electrical installing
EC 003836 work not being completed
(Osborne Park) Regulation 52(3) E(L)R

A Hermans Electrical Submitted a Notice of Completion in respect of electrical installing 1,000.00 310.45
EC 005536 work that was not completed
(Wangara) Regulation 52(3) E(L)R

Alfred Cono Pinzone Submitted a Notice of Completion in respect of electrical installing 400.00 155.22
EC 005536 work that was not completed
(Bicton) Regulation 52(3) E(L)R

Garland & Johnson Employed/instructed an unlicensed person to carry out electrical work 2,500.00 357.70
EC 000949 Regulation 53(2) E(L)R
(Geraldton)

Kenneth Rawlings Employed/instructed an unlicensed person to carry out electrical work 700.00 357.70
NLH Regulation 53(2) E(L)R
(Balingup)

Garland & Johnson Employed/instructed an unlicensed person to carry out electrical work 400.00 2,100.00
EC 00949 Regulation 53(2) E(L)R
(Geraldton)

P&B Marshall Electrical Employed/instructed an unlicensed person to carry out electrical work 1,500.00 288.45
EC 000693 Regulation 53(2) E(L)R
(Bicton)

Brian Russ Failed to immediately report a defect or unsafe electrical equipment 375.00 700.00
EW 103198 at an electrical installation, to the owner/operator of the installation, 
(Geraldton) elevant supply authority and to the Director

Regulation 62(1) E(L)R

D’Adamo Nominees Failed to report an electrical accident 700.00 757.70
Pty Ltd T/A L&A Electrics Regulation 63 E(L)R
EC 003836
(Landsdale)

Brian Russ Failed to report an electrical accident 375.00 400.00
EW 103198 Regulation 63 E(L)R
(Geraldton)

Anthony Huckerby Failed to report an electrical accident 50.00 143.95
EW 104899 Regulation 63 E(L)R
(Wedgefield)

Legend
EA Electricity Act 1945
E(L)R Electricity (Licensing) Regulations 1991
NLH No licence held
* Global fine and costs - more than one offence
** Global costs for multiple offences
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Table 35 following provides details of prosecutions for breaches of the Gas Standards Act 1972 and Gas Standards (Gasfitting
and Consumer Gas Installations) Regulations 1999.

TABLE 35: ENERGY SAFETY GAS PROSECUTIONS 2003-04

Name Offence Fine Court 
Licence No. $ Costs 
(Suburb of residence $
at time of offence)

Laviano Pasquale Carried out gasfitting work without holding the appropriate 300.00 387.70
GF 002510 licence classification
(Canning Vale) Section 13A(2) GSA

Geoffrey Burgess Carried out gasfitting work without holding the appropriate 300.00 497.70
GF 002671 licence classification
(York) Section 13(A) GSA

Dean Beaumont Carried out gasfitting work without holding the appropriate 2,500.00 227.70
GF 007940 licence classification
(Trigg) Section 13(A) GSA

Regulations 28(2), 28(3)(B),28(3)(C) & 26 GSR

Ric Randall Carried out unauthorised gasfitting work 732.00 50.00
NLH Section 13(A)2
Geraldton

Roger Carraher Carried out gasfitting work without holding the 277.70 200.00
GF 007023 appropriate licence classification
(Belmont) Section 13A(2) GSA

Michael Jelly Carried out gasfitting work without holding the 500.00 387.70
NLH appropriate licence classification
(Waikiki) Section 13A(2) GSA

Troy Elari Used incorrect gas to pressure test and did 6,000.00 607.70
GF 001692 not purge the system
(Lancelin) Regulations 8, 20(1)(B), 26(2) & (3) GSR

Robert Harvey Carried out gasfitting work without holding the appropriate 400.00 287.70
NLH licence classification
(Coogee) Regulation 13A(2) GSR

Brendon Kaehler Carried out gasfitting work without holding the appropriate 500.00 575.00
NLH licence classification
(Belmont) Regulation 13A(2) GSR

Nathaniel James Did not attach a badge or label to an installation 500.00 * 257.70 *
GF 008970 Regulation 28(2) GSR
(Albany) Failed to submit a Notice of Completion as required

Regulation 28(1) GSR
Failed to carry out a pressure test 
Regulation 30(1) GSR

Peter Bacon Did not attach a badge or label to an installation 700.00 277.70
GF 001512 Regulation 28(2) GSR
(Caversham) Failed to submit Preliminary and Completion Notices

Regulations 27, 28(3) GSR

Anthony Lumley Failed to provide Notice of Rectification 2,150.00 555.40
GF 000406 Regulation 30 GSR
(Alexander Heights)

Legend
GSA Gas Standards Act 1972
GSR Gas Standards (Gasfitting and Consumer Gas Installations) Regulations 1999
NLH No licence held
* Global fine and costs - more than one offence
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LABOUR RELATIONS PROSECUTIONS
Table 36 following provides details and results of prosecution action finalised during 2003-04 by Labour Relations.

TABLE 36: LABOUR RELATIONS PROSECUTIONS 2003-04 

Parties Issue Outcome

CFMEU Breach of Freedom of Association - section 96G of the IR Act Convicted
Fine $1,000 
Costs $1,000

Anthony Kelly Breach of Freedom of Association - section 96E(1) of IR Act Convicted
Fine $1,500
Costs $400

Hanssen Pty Ltd Refused Authorised Representative Entry - section 49M(1) of IR Act Convicted
Fine $800
No costs

Bunbury Freight Services Failure to pay award entitlements Convicted
Fine $500
Payment $4,528

Brumbies Winthrop Failure to pay award entitlements Convicted
Fine $1,000
Payment $1,134

WORKSAFE PROSECUTIONS
Table 37 following provides details of successful prosecutions during 2003-04 by WorkSafe.

Please note that “the Act” refers to the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 and “the Regulations” refers to the
Occupational Safety and Health Regulations 1996.

TABLE 37:  WORKSAFE PROSECUTIONS 2003-04

Parties Issue Outcome

Viticulture Technologies The defendant was prosecuted as a supplier under section 23(1)(a) Convicted
(Aust) Pty Ltd of the Act for failing to ensure, so far as was practicable, that the Fine $20,000

design and construction of plant was such that persons who properly Costs $9,900
used the plant were not, in doing so, exposed to a hazard and by the 
failure caused serious harm to a person.  An employee was on a grape 
harvester, in an area where there were no handrails, attempting to clear 
a blockage when he lost his balance and fell to the ground. The employee 
landed on his head and suffered severe spinal injuries, resulting in him 
becoming a quadraplegic.

Jaxon Constructions The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 3.55(1)(b) of the Convicted
Pty Ltd Regulations for failing to ensure that edge protection was provided Fine $3,000

and kept in place when there was a risk that a person could fall 2 or Costs $217.70
more metres from the edge of formwork at the workplace.  

Tenix Defence Pty Ltd The defendant was prosecuted under sections 19(1) and 19(7) of the Convicted
Act for failing to provide and maintain, so far as was practicable, a Fine $30,000
working environment in which its employees were not exposed to Costs $9,900
hazards and by that contravention caused the death of an employee.  
The hazard was the risk of death or injury from electrocution whilst 
using welding equipment.

Darren Boucher The defendant was prosecuted as an employee under section 20(1)(b)  Convicted
of the Act for failing to take reasonable care to avoid adversely affecting  Fine $800
the safetyor health of another person, by elevating that person on the  Costs $197.70
tynes of a forklift truck. 

Lakebound Pty Ltd T/AS The defendant was prosecuted under section 19(3) of the Act for failing Convicted
Supa Value Carine Glades to report an injury of the kind prescribed in the Occupational Safety Fine $2,500

and Health Regulations 1996, namely an injury which, in the opinion Costs $197.70
of a medical practitioner, was likely to prevent the employee from 
being able to work within 10 days of the day on which the injury occurred.  
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Leigh Skehan The defendant was prosecuted as an employee under section 20(1)(a) Convicted
of the Act for failing to take reasonable care to ensure his own health Fine $800
and safety at work by being elevated on the tynes of a forklift truck.  Costs $197.70

Lenard Daniel Butler The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 4.37(1)(f) of the Convicted
Regulations for failing to ensure that every dangerous part of plant, Fine $1,000
namely an angle grinder was, so far as practicable, securely guarded Costs $197.70
in accordance with regulation 4.29.

Gregory Ross Jackson The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 4.44(1)(a) of the Convicted
Regulations for failing to limit the risk by the provision of an appropriate Fine $400
combination of operator protective devices, namely a roll over protective Costs $197.70
structure and a seat belt.

The Roof and Wall Doctor The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 3.55(2) of the Convicted
Pty Ltd regulations for failing to ensure that edge protection was provided and Fine $2,000

kept in place or a fall injury prevention system was provided when there Costs $177.70
was a risk that a person could fall three metres or more from an edge at 
the workplace.  

Biddle Pty Ltd The defendant was prosecuted under section 48(4) of the Act for Convicted
failing to comply with the improvement notice within the time Fine $5,000
specified therein. Costs $257.70

Nomel Holdings Pty Ltd The defendant was prosecuted under section 23(1)(a) of the Act Convicted
for supplying plant for use at a workplace whilst failing to ensure, Fine $10,000
so far as was practicable, that the design and construction of the Costs $857.70
plant was such that a person who properly used the plant was not 
in doing so exposed to hazards and by that failure caused serious 
harm to a person.   The purchaser’s hand became caught in an unguarded 
auger that takes the grain from the chute up into the machine, resulting 
in partial amputation of four digits.  

John MacGillvray T/AS The defendant was prosecuted under section 21(1)(b) of the Act for Convicted
Jag Tree Services failing, so far as was practicable, to ensure that the safety or health Fine $2,500

of persons not being his employees was not adversely affected as a Costs $207.70
result of the work in which he or any of his employees was engaged. 
The defendant and employees were lopping a tree when an unsecured 
limb was cut and fell onto and disconnected the electricity supply cable 
to the house. An employee reconnected the cable.  The cable although 
insulated, was live. An occupier of the house later received a shock. 

Shire of Nungarin The defendant was prosecuted under section 19(1)(d) and 19(3) of the Convicted
Act for failing to, where it was not practicable to avoid the presence of Fine - Section 19(1)(d)
hazards at the workplace, provide its employees with such adequate $10,000
personal protective clothing and equipment as was practicable to  Fine - Section 19(1)(d)
protectthose employees against those hazards; and failing to forthwith Section 19(3) $5,000
notify the Commissioner of an injury which in the opinion of a medical Costs $367.70
practitioner was likely to prevent the employee from being able to work 
within 10 days of the injury occurring.

Kevin Blohberger The defendant was prosecuted as an employee under section 20(1)(b) Convicted
of the Act for failing to take reasonable care to avoid adversely affecting Fine $500
the safety or health of another person by suspending and lowering that Costs $207.70
person on the tynes of a forklift truck.  

Bluestar Logistics Australia The defendant was prosecuted under section 4.53(2) of the Regulations Convicted
Pty Ltd for failing to ensure that persons were not lifted or suspended by plant Fine $4,500

at a workplace, namely a forklift truck, or its attachment, which was not Costs $257.70
plant specifically designed for the lifting or suspending of persons.  

James Turner Roofing The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 3.117(3) of the Convicted
Pty Ltd Regulations for doing class 3 demolition work, namely the removal of Fine $2,500

asbestos cement roofing from a building, without being issued with a Costs $257.70
licence under the Occupational Safety and Health Regulations 1996 
to do such work.  

Finwood Holdings Pty Ltd The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 19(3)(b) of the Act for Convicted
failing to forthwith notify the Commissioner of an injury which in the Fine $1,000
opinion of a medical practitioner was likely to prevent the employee Costs $197.70
from being able to work within 10 days of the injury occurring.
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Keith Norman Moore The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 5.21(2) of the Convicted
Regulations for failing to ensure that records were kept of all induction Global Fine $1,500
and training required to be provided to each person at the workplace Costs $197.70
likely to be exposed to a hazardous substance, namely Isocyanates 
contained in Mirothane 878/890; and section 48(4) of the Act failing to 
comply with an improvement notice within the time specified.  

Elders Hycube Pty Ltd The defendant was prosecuted under section 19(1) and 19(7) of the Convicted
Act for failing, so far as was practicable, to provide and maintain a Fine $75,000
working environment in which its employees were not exposed to Costs $1257.70
hazards, and by that failure caused the death of its employee.  
An employee was operating a hay-baling machine and became 
caught in the moving parts of the machine, resulting in fatal crush 
injuries to her head and shoulders.  

Felt and Fibre Products The defendant was prosecuted under section 19(1)(a) and 19(6) of the Convicted
Pty Ltd Act for failing, so far as was practicable, to provide and maintain a Fine $4,000

working environment in which its employees were not exposed 
to hazards. An employee was operating a machine which was used 
to process material into a fine sheet of felt when he reached in to 
remove excess material that he believed would have caused a blockage. 
The employee’s jumper sleeve became caught by the teeth of a 
feeder roller. The employee’s left hand was pulled into the roller 
resulting in the loss of his left hand.

Nile Holdings Pty Ltd The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 4.37(1)(f) of the Convicted
Regulations for failing to ensure that every dangerous part of plant, Fine $2,500
namely a cement mixer, was, so far as practicable, securely guarded in Costs $267.70
accordance with regulation 4.29. A pre-apprentice on hire to the 
defendant had the tip of his right middle finger dragged into the mixer 
bowl. The pre-apprentice lost the tip of his middle finger.

World Steel Pty Ltd The defendant was prosecuted for breaches of sections 49(4) for failing Convicted
to cause a prohibition notice or copy of it to be displayed in a prominent Fine Section 49(4)
$1,000
position at or near the workplace affected by the notice, 49(5) for failing Fine Section 49(5)
$7,000
to comply with a prohibition notice within the time specified and 48(3) Section 48(3) $1,000
for failing to cause an improvement notice or copy of it to be displayed Costs $387.70
in a prominent position at or near the workplace affected by the notice, 
of the Act. 

Fero Industries Pty Ltd The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 3.55(1)(a) of the Convicted
T/AS Feron Construction Regulations for failing to ensure that edge protection was provided and Fine $1,000

kept in place when there was a risk that a person could fall two or more Costs $277.70
metres from a fixed stair, landing or suspended slab at the workplace. 

Phoenix Steel Sales Pty Ltd The defendant was prosecuted under sections 19(1) and 19(6) of the Convicted
Act for failing to provide and maintain, so far as was practicable, a Fine $5,000
working environment in which its employees were not exposed to Costs $387.70
hazards.  An employee was operating a crank press that had had a 
guard removed when his left index and middle fingers were crushed. 
The index finger was partially amputated.

Stirling Brown T/AS The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 3.118(c) of the Convicted
Geraldton Roofing Company Regulations for failing to ensure that class 3 demolition work at the Fine $1,000

workplace was done by a person who has been issued with a licence Costs $2.00
to such demolition work.

Hexan Holdings Pty Ltd The defendant was prosecuted under section 19(1) and 19(7) of the Act Convicted
T/AS Whiteland Milling for failing to provide and maintain, so far as was practicable, a working Fine $12,500

environment in which its employees were not exposed to hazards and Costs $257.70
by that failure caused serious harm to an employee. An employee was 
operating a docking saw that had a guard in place that extended 300mm 
to the left of the saw blade, which was less than required by the 
Australian Standard for Safeguarding of Machinery. The saw blade made 
contact with the employee’s left hand resulting in an amputation injury 
to part of his thumb and index finger.
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Cossack Pearls Pty Ltd The defendant was prosecuted under sections 19(1) and 19(6) of the Convicted
Act for failing to provide and maintain a working environment in which Fine $10,000
its employees were not exposed to hazards. An employee died while Costs No order
pearl diving. The defendant failed to ascertain and verify the deceased’s 
diving experience, permitted him to engage in diving tasks without 
adequate supervision and failed to instruct workers as to their
responsibilities and as to appropriate response in an emergency.

PB Foods Ltd The defendant was prosecuted under regulations 4.37(1)(f) and 4.29 of Convicted
the Regulations for failing to ensure that every dangerous part of a fixed Fine $3,000
or mobile powered plant was as far as practicable, securely fenced or Costs $332.70
guarded. An employee had her fingers on her left hand crushed when 
they were drawn into a nip point of a conveyor belt between a slat belt 
and the roller system.

Morton Seed and The defendant was prosecuted under section 48(4) of the Act for failing Convicted
Grain Pty Ltd to comply with an improvement notice within the time specified. The Fine $5,000

notice required the defendant to provide further guarding on V belts, Costs $387.70
chain drives and rotating shafts in the sizing and grading sheds at the 
workplace. 

Matthew Stephen Fuller The defendant was prosecuted as an employee under section 20(1) of Convicted
the Act for failing to take reasonable care to avoid adversely affecting Fine $2,000
the safety of other persons through an omission at work in that he failed Costs $1557.70
to direct that a concrete tilt-up panel was moved from a position where 
it was leaning against another concrete tilt-up panel. Later that day, the 
leaning panel was involved in a collapse of several tilt up panels together 
with the collapse of the structural roofing. A contractor on site was 
fatally injured.

Aquatic Leisure The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 4.55(1)(a) of the Convicted
Technologies Pty Ltd Regulations for failing to ensure that a person operating an industrial lift Fine $750

truck was a person who had documentary evidence that he satisfied the Costs $497.70
competency requirements of the National Guidelines for Occupational 
Health and Safety Competency Standards for the Operation of 
Loadshifting Equipment and Other Types of Specified Equipment for
loadshifting equipment. 

Nat Constructions Pty Ltd The defendant was prosecuted under section 19(1) and 19(6) of the Act Convicted
for failing to provide and maintain, so far as was practicable, a working Fine $12,000
environment in which its employees were not exposed to hazards. Costs $387.70
An employee died when he was crushed between the agitator and the 
rail of the chassis of a concrete mixing truck.

Drummond Alexander The defendant was prosecuted under section 19(3)(b) of the Act for Convicted
Rogers failing to notify the Commissioner forthwith of an injury to an employee Fine Section

which in the opinion of a medical practitioner was likely to prevent the 19(3)(b) $1,000
employee being able to work within 10 days of the day on which the Costs $193.85
injury occurred. The defendant was also prosecuted under regulation Fine Regulation
6.3(1) of the Regulations for performing prescribed work (rigging) when 6.3(1) $1,500
he did not hold a certificate of competency that he was required by the Costs $193.85
National Occupational Health and Safety Certification Standard for Users 
and Operators of Industrial Equipment {NOHSC:1006(1995)}.

Transfield Pty Ltd The defendant was prosecuted under section 19(1) and 19(7) of the Act Convicted
for failing to provide and maintain, so far as was practicable, a working Fine $50,000
environment in which its employees were not exposed to hazards and Costs $15,125
by that failure caused the death of an employee. An employee was 
asked to cut a concrete pipe with a quick-cut saw and was later found 
dead with an injury to his neck a short distance from where the pipe 
was situated.

Tony Fazzalari T/AS The defendant was prosecuted for two breaches of regulation 3.123(1) Convicted
Stonehaven Demolition of the Regulations for being the main contractor at a workplace where Fine $3,000 on each 
Contractors demolition work other than class 1, class 2 or class 3 demolition work breach

was being done, failed to ensure that the work was done in accordance Costs $1047.70
with AS 2601 in that it failed to ensure that the gas service, which was 
no longer required, was disconnected and sealed off before stripping or 
demolition work commenced.
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Kailis Bros Pty Ltd The defendant was prosecuted under sections 22(1) and 22(4) of the Convicted
Act for being a person who has control of a workplace, where persons Fine $5,000
who are not employees of that person work, failed to take such Costs $457.70
measures as were practicable to ensure that the workplace was such 
that persons who were at the workplace were not exposed to hazards. 
Another company’s employee suffered a burst fracture of the L1 
vertebrae when the false baffle ceiling on which he was standing 
gave way and collapsed to the floor below.

S.Sarich and Sons Pty Ltd The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 3.88(1)(b) of the Convicted
Regulations for failing to ensure that the casting of concrete tilt-up panels Fine $15,000
was done in accordance with Shop Drawings as required by AS3851. Costs $457.70

Timothy Raymond The defendant was prosecuted under section 48(4) of the Act for failing Convicted
Stewart T/AS to comply with an improvement notice within the time specified. Fine Section 48(4) $750
T Stewarts Engineering The notice required the employer to provide guarding for a brake press. Costs $483

The defendant was also prosecuted under regulation 4.37(1)(f) of the Regulation 4.37(1)(f) $500
Regulations for failing to ensure that every dangerous part of a fixed Costs $483
powered plant was as far as practicable securely fenced or guarded. 

Jodie Marjory Stewart T/AS The defendant was prosecuted separately under regulation 4.37(1)(f) Convicted
T Stewarts Engineering of the Regulations for failing to ensure that every dangerous part of a Fine $500

fixed powered plant was as far as practicable securely fenced or guarded.

Auswest Timbers Pty Ltd The defendant was prosecuted under sections 19(1) and 19(6) of the Convicted
Act for failing, so far as was practicable, to provide and maintain a Fine $15,000
working environment in which its employees were not exposed to Costs $1337.70
hazards. An employee was operating a rising blade docking saw, which 
had been modified by the defendant. The employee was cutting 
lengths of wood using the saw when the clamp descended onto his 
right hand and the blade ascended, severing his right hand completely
through the metacarpals.

Carmel Charles Saliba The defendant was prosecuted under sections 22(1)(a) and 22(5) of Convicted
the Act for being a person who had control of a workplace where Fine Section 22(1)(a)
persons who were not his employees worked, failed to take such $40,000
measures as were practicable to ensure that the workplace was such Regulation 3.17(1)(a)
that persons who were at the workplace were not exposed to hazards $3,000
and, by that failure, caused serious harm to a person. The defendant 
was also prosecuted under regulation 3.17(1)(a) of the Regulations for 
failing to ensure that the workplace and other areas ancillary to it were 
maintained in such a clean condition as was necessary to avoid hazards 
to persons at the workplace. Another company’s employee was 
dragging an A frame by walking backwards. The employee stepped 
over an unprotected open edge and fell 3-4 metres. The employee 
suffered injuries resulting in paraplegia.

Adam Thomas Kleeman  The defendant was prosecuted under sections 19(1) and 19(7) of the Convicted
T/AS Thommo’s Roofing Act for failing, so far as was practicable, to provide and maintain a Global Fine with the

working environment in which his employees were not exposed to prosecution below
hazards and, by that failure, caused serious harm to an employee. $12,000
An employee fell approximately eight metres from a roof sustaining 
serious injuries. The defendants had not provided any training on safe Costs $398.45
systems of work at heights to the employee.

Donna Marie Kleeman This defendant was separately prosecuted under sections 19(1) and Convicted
T/AS Thommo’s Roofing 19(7) of the Act for the same circumstances as the above. Fine Included in

Global Fine of 
prosecution above

A Summary of each successful WorkSafe prosecution since 1997 is available at: www.safetyline.wa.gov.au/sub7.htm
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WORKSAFE INVESTIGATIONS
Responsibility for enforcing the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 rests with
WorkSafe, through its inspectors.  WorkSafe’s inspectors are trained occupational safety and
health practitioners appointed under the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 to enforce
the provisions of the Act, assist with the resolution of issues in workplaces, and to provide
information to employers and employees on how best to improve work safety and health
performance.

In accordance with evidence based resource allocation, WorkSafe strategically allocates
inspectors and other WorkSafe resources to areas where they will have the greatest impact,
as well as to ensure the regions are appropriately serviced.  

Occupational safety and health enforcement activity continued to focus on agreed priority
areas and industries along with targeted enforcement and awareness raising activities in all
industry groups regarding injury/disease reporting, access/egress (emergency evacuation),
guarding of plant and ventilation/dust.   The six national priority industries are health and
community services, manufacturing, construction, transport and storage,
agriculture/forestry/fishing and wholesale/retail. 

During their investigations, WorkSafe inspectors complete Priority Investigation Reports,
which contain a checklist of elements that constitute the minimum requirements for
inspectors to assess when the workplace being visited falls within one of WorkSafe’s priority
areas.  Fact sheets and checklists of critical elements for each priority are made available to
workplaces when inspectors visit.  The checklist is not a full compliance check, but
represents the key elements established for the relevant priority area.  

Where WorkSafe inspectors become aware of non-compliance with provisions of the Act
and/or Regulations they may issue verbal directions, improvement or prohibition notices, or
commence prosecution action. 

The following table shows the level of enforcement over the past three years:

TABLE 38: LEVELS OF ENFORCEMENT 2001-2004*

Year Improvement Notices Prohibition Notices Prosecutions

2001-02 9,818 886 29

2002-03 10,263 895 43

2003-04 11,848 870 65

*In 2003-04 the WorkSafe Division changed the point at which a prosecution is counted for statistical
purposes, from the date an “authority to prosecute” is signed to the date the “complaint” is signed.
Because these events occur at different times, sometimes up to some months apart, the new
prosecutions data published in this annual report is not comparable with that published in previous
annual reports. To enable comparisons to occur, the figures for 2001-02 and 2002-03 have been
recalculated using date of signing of the complaint, and published above.

Review of notices

WorkSafe Reviews and Legal Services coordinates functions relating to support for the
Commissioner’s functions in reviewing notices under the Occupational Safety and Health Act
1984, and considering applications for exemptions under the Regulations.

A request for a review of an Improvement Notice can be lodged with the WorkSafe Western
Australia Commissioner before the deadline for compliance specified in the Notice.  A request
for a review of a Prohibition Notice can be lodged with the Commissioner within seven days
of the issue of the notice (or such further time as may be allowed by the Commissioner).

Improvement Notices are suspended while they are being reviewed by the Commissioner,
but Prohibition Notices remain in force.  After considering a request for a review of a notice,
the Commissioner can affirm, modify or cancel the notice.  An applicant who is not satisfied
with the decision of the Commissioner may refer the matter to a safety and health
magistrate for further review.

During 2003-04, 1031 requests for the WorkSafe Western Australia Commissioner to review
a notice in accordance with section 51 of the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 were
processed.  Review outcomes were as follows:
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TABLE 39:  REVIEW OF IMPROVEMENT NOTICES 2003-04

Review of improvement notices Number

Affirmed 12

Affirmed with time extended 796

Affirmed, modified and time extended 5

Cancelled by Commissioner 35

Review request withdrawn 12

Compliance effected on time and while under review 35

Received too late for review 116

Total reviewed from 1 July 2003 to 30 June 2004 1011

TABLE 40:  REVIEW OF PROHIBITION NOTICES 2003-04

Outcome Number

Affirmed 14

Affirmed with modification to wording 2

Cancelled by Commissioner 3

Received too late for review 1

Total reviewed from 1 July 2003 to 30 June 2004 20

The tables below show the percentage of notices reviewed in comparison with the total
number of notices issued over the past three years.

TABLE 41:  REVIEW OF IMPROVEMENT NOTICES 2001-2004

Year Improvement Improvement %
notices issued notices reviewed

2001-02 9,818 669 6.8

2002-03 10,263 882 8.6

2003-04 11,848 1011 8.5

TABLE 42:  REVIEW OF PROHIBITION NOTICES 2001-2004

Year Prohibition Prohibition %
notices issued notices reviewed

2001-02 886 15 1.7

2002-03 895 13 1.5

2003-04 870 20 2.3

Exemption from regulations

The Commissioner granted 37 exemptions from the Occupational Safety and Health
Regulations 1996.  Exemptions were generally granted on a conditional basis, following
consultation with relevant parties, and published in the Government Gazette.
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ENERGY SAFETY INVESTIGATIONS

Electricity related serious accidents and fatalities

The following were reported to Energy Safety during the year:

• Electric shocks: 1004

• Serious electrical accidents: 29

• Fatalities: 3

TABLE 43: SERIOUS ELECTRICITY RELATED ACCIDENTS NOTIFIED PER 1,000,000
(MILLION) POPULATION (NOT INCLUDING WILFUL INCIDENTS)

Year Number Five year
average

1993-94 28 24

1994-95 27 24

1995-96 21 24

1996-97 15 23

1997-98 11 20

1998-99 22 19

1999-00 15 17

2000-01 12 15

2001-02 11 14

2002-03 19 16

2003-04 15 14

The electrical accident rate for the reporting period was 15 accidents per one million
population, a decrease from 19 per million in the previous year, but still unacceptably high.

The electrical accidents included three fatalities in which electricity was found to be the
cause. Briefly:

• an electrician was electrocuted while attempting to reconnect sub mains cables to the
bottom of a circuit breaker and made contact with LIVE terminals;

• a refrigeration mechanic was electrocuted while replacing an evaporative air conditioner
on a roof. He was using stainless steel multigrips which came into contact with LIVE
conductors; and

• an electrician was electrocuted while attempting to rectify a fault in the damper controls
of an air conditioner damper in a roof space. He made contact with LIVE terminals.

Gas related incidents and fatalities

The following were reported to Energy Safety during the year:

• Incidents: 107

• Accidents (persons injured): 15

• Fatalities: 1
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TABLE 44: GAS RELATED ACCIDENTS NOTIFIED PER 1,000,000 (MILLION)
POPULATION (NOT INCLUDING WILFUL INCIDENTS)

Year Number Five ye
average

1993-94 9 12

1994-95 5 10

1995-96 20 8

1996-97 4 8

1997-98 6 7

1998-99 5 6

1999-00 3 6

2000-01 7 5

2001-02 8 6

2002-03 9 6

2003-04 8 7

The gas accident rate for the reporting period was eight accidents per one million population,
a decrease from nine per million in the previous year.

The gas related accidents included one fatality, an elderly resident who died when a gas fired
space heater was accidentally knocked over and set fire to her residence.

TABLE 45: ELECTRICAL DISCIPLINARY ACTIVITIES

Interview and enquiry outcomes - electrical disciplinary activities

Electrical contractor licences cancelled 1

Electrical worker licences cancelled 2

Electrical contractor licences suspended 6

Electrical worker licences suspended 8

Operatives required to undertake a competency assessment 10

Operatives censured 2

Operatives required to undertake further training 7

TABLE 46: GAS DISCIPLINARY ACTIVITIES

Interview and enquiry outcomes - gas disciplinary activities

Permits suspended 1

Gas fitters required to undertake further training 1

Operatives censured 1

Licences with conditions placed upon them 1
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